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“A GOOD COMPANY DELIVERS

EXCELLENT PRODUCTS AND SERVICES,
AND A GREAT COMPANY DOES ALL
THAT AND STRIVES TO MAKE
THE WORLD A BETTER PLACE.”

RIVERS
OF LEBANON
Following the launch of its “Clean the Lebanese Rivers” Program in 2011, BankMed
is pleased to dedicate the 2011 Annual Report to Lebanon’s rivers. This program is
an important milestone in BankMed’s ongoing mission of raising awareness about
the various challenges affecting Lebanon’s natural resources and to contribute
to preserving our environment. The program aims to clean twelve rivers across
Lebanon. The program is in collaboration with Cedars for Care’s Operation Big
Blue Association.
The general information reported on Lebanon’s rivers is mainly obtained from
the following publications: State and Trends of the Lebanese Environment 2010-Lebanese
Ministry of Environment; Miyah Lubnan-Naft Lubnan or Lebanon’s Water- Lebanon’s OilLebanese University Publication 1982; Hiyam Mallat; Lebanon’s Geography Textbook.
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Facts
Length:
48 km
Basin:
301 km²
Average flow:
8.05 m³/s
Average Annual Volume:
252.88 mm³

EL-AWALI
Nahr el-Awali is a river originating from the Chouf mountain at an altitude of
1,492 m. Its two main tributaries are the Barouk and the Aaray rivers which join
into one stream at Bisri Lake forming el-Awali river. The river eventually flows
westwards merging with the Mediterranean Sea north of the southern city of
Saida. It mainly provides Saida with its irrigation and potable water needs. In
Ancient Times it used to be known as Asclepius river.
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MOHAMMED HARIRI

NAZEK HARIRI

Chairman of the
Board of Directors
and General Manager

Member

Mr. Mohammed Hariri is the Chairman of
GroupMed S.A.L. (Holding), BankMed S.A.L. and
its subsidiaries Saudi Lebanese Bank S.A.L., MedInvestment Bank S.A.L. and Al Mal Investment S.A.L.
(Holding) in Beirut,BankMed Suisse in Geneva,
and SaudiMed Investment Company. Mr. Hariri is
the Chairman of Oger Telecom Limited. He also
serves as the Chairman of TürkTelekomünikasyon
A.S. and AveaIletisim Hizmeltleri A.S. in Turkey. Mr.
Hariri is Vice Chairman Finance & Investment of
Saudi Oger Limited. He is a Board Member of
Arab Bank plc-Jordan and serves on the Boards of
Directors of various companies of the Saudi Oger
Group, including 3C Telecommunications (PTY)
Ltd. in South Africa, OjerTelekomünikasyon A.S. in
Turkey, and Oger International S.A. and Entreprise
de Travaux Internationaux (ETI) in France. Mr. Hariri
is a member of the Board of Directors of Association des Banques du Liban. He is a member of the
Advisory Board of Deutsche Bank PWM Middle
East and Africa.
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Mrs. Hariri, the wife of H.E. late Prime Minister Rafic Hariri, is a Board Member of GroupMed S.A.L.
and Arab Bank plc. She is also the President of the
Rafic Hariri Foundation and several other humanitarian, cultural and educational institutions
in the Lebanese Republic and in the Gulf region.
She is the First Ambassador of the International
Osteoporosis Foundation, as well as President of
this Foundation’s 206-A Bone Fund, President of
Nazek Hariri Welfare Center for Special Education. In addition she is the President of the Beirut
Festivals Association, Vice-President of the Chronic Care Center, Lebanon, Member of the Board
of Trustees of the Children’s Cancer Center, Lebanon, Member of the “Nahda Philanthropic Society
for Women”, Saudi Arabia, Member of the Board
of Trustees of the “Welfare Association”, Member
of the Board of Trustees of Jordan Education Association as well as the Co-Chair person of the Rafik
Hariri UN-Habitat Memorial Award.

BASILE YARED, ESQ.
Member

Mr. Yared is the Chairman of the Bank’s Audit Committee. He is an attorney at law, with law offices in Beirut. He
is a Board Member of GroupMed S.A.L. (Holding), MedInvestment Bank S.A.L. and Board Member of Interaudi
Bank in New York, the Lebanese Company for the Development and Reconstruction of the Beirut Central
District S.A.L. (Solidere) and Solidere International and Saudi Oger Ltd. and affiliates.

MAROUN ASMAR
Member

Mr. Asmar is a member of BankMed’s Audit and Risk Committees. He is also the Chairman General Manager
of MIB S.A.L. (Holding). He is the former Dean of the Faculty of Engineering at Saint Joseph University. Mr. Asmar
had previously served as the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Electricité du Liban.

NEMEH SABBAGH
Member

Mr. Sabbagh is the Chief Executive Officer of Arab Bank plc. since January 2010. Prior to that, he was
BankMed’s Executive General Manager. Previously, Mr. Sabbagh held the position of Managing Director and
Chief Executive Officer of Arab National Bank in Saudi Arabia. He also served earlier as General Manager for
the International Banking Group at NBK. Mr. Sabbagh is also the Chairman of Turkland Bank’s Board of Directors.

STANISLAS DE HAUSS BONCZA
Member

Mr. De Hauss Boncza is the CEO - General Manager of BankMed (Suisse) S.A. since March 2009. He has spent
the last 25 years with Indosuez, Credit Agricole and Calyon assuming various senior management positions,
most of them directly related to the Middle East region.

HANI FADAYEL
Member

Mr. Fadayel is the Chairman of the Risk Committee. He is also a Board Member of the Group GMIM (Holding).
Mr. Fadayel is former Assistant CEO of Arab Bank plc. in Jordan, and prior to that he was Gulf Regional Manager
of Arab Bank plc. He had also worked at Citibank/SAMBA. Mr. Fadayel has held senior responsibilities in the
areas of Corporate and Project Finance, Credit Risk Management, Retail, Treasury, Operations and General
Management. He has also served as board member in various business entities as well as non-profit organizations.

RAYA HAFFAR EL-HASSAN
Member

Mrs. El-Hassan is a member of the Audit Committee. She holds a Master’s degree in Business Administration
from George Washington University and a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from the American
University of Beirut. From November 2009 until June 2011, Mrs. El-Hassan served as the Minister of Finance in
Lebanon. Earlier in her career, Mrs. El-Hassan was an Advisor to the Minister of Economy and Trade. In the
mid 90’s, she was responsible for overseeing the implementation of expenditure management reforms and in
setting up and operating a UN debt management system at the Ministry of Finance. As Project Director within
the Office of the Prime Minister, she oversaw several public reform projects and worked on the elaboration of
the Government’s Economic and Social Reform Agenda.

GHAZI YOUSSEF
Member

Dr. Youssef is a member of BankMed’s Risk Committee. He holds a Ph.D. in Economics from Wayne State
University in Michigan and taught Economics at the American University of Beirut for eleven years. Dr. Youssef
served as an Economic Advisor to the late Prime Minister H.E. Rafic Hariri and acted as the Secretary General
for the Higher Council for Privatization. Dr. Youssef is currently CEO of Middle East Airport Services, and Board
Member and Chairman of the Audit Committee at Cedrus Invest Bank S.A.L. Dr. Youssef has been a member
of the Lebanese parliament since 2005.

GROUPMED S.A.L. (HOLDING)
Member

GroupMed S.A.L. is the principal shareholder of BankMed and is one of the largest banking and financial
groups in Lebanon, with a growing regional and international presence.
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Facts
Length:
58 km
Basin:
310 km²
Average flow:
9.13 m³/s
Average Annual Volume:
283.86 mm³

NAHR EL-KABIR
EL-JANOUBI
Nahr el-Kabir el-Janoubi is a river originating from the Akkar mountains north of
Lebanon. Its main sources are Qobayyat, Jaouz and Ali el-Arous springs. It flows
into the Mediterranean Sea at the Gulf of Akkar at about 15 km north of Tripoli.
It mainly provides the Akkar plain with its irrigation needs. The river forms the
northern borders between Lebanon and Syria. It was historically known as
Eleutherus river.
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A shift in the global,
regional and local
conditions caused
the year 2011 to be
a challenging one
for the Lebanese
banking sector. Both
the resilience and the
growth that the sector
showed were important
achievements.
Meanwhile, BankMed
recorded another
remarkable year of
success.

The economic growth of Lebanon slowed down in 2011 after a strong
run over the previous four years. Several factors contributed to this: the
heightened tension in the domestic political situation which paralyzed
public spending on needed infrastructure projects; the changing conditions
across the Arab world in response to the sweeping transformations that
the region was witnessing; and the negative repercussions of the Greek
sovereign debt crisis that was felt throughout Europe and the world. As
a result, domestic and foreign investments, together with tourism activity
and remittances, declined in 2011. This placed the balance of payments
into negative territory for the first time in a decade.

Operating in such unusual circumstances posted its challenges for the Lebanese
banking sector. Spread out across the Arab world, Lebanese banks had to navigate
through the turbulent water of 2011. Against this backdrop, it is truly remarkable that
the sector recorded satisfactory results overall, with consolidated assets growing at
9% to reach approximately USD 141 billion, over three times of GDP. This was in fact
amongst the highest ratio in the world. Private sector deposits, the majority of which
originated from a loyal local depositor base, grew by 8% to reach USD 116 billion,
while credit to the resident private sector increased by 13% to reach around USD
34 billion. However, the overall profitability of the sector proved to be slightly lower
than expected due to the challenges outlined above, coupled with the increase in
loan provisions specifically to cover regional exposure.
Given this business climate, BankMed was truly an outlier with a remarkable
double-digit growth in its bottom line with an increase in net profits of 11% to reach
approximately USD 118 million. Total loan portfolio increased by 18% as we continued
to grow our strong corporate portfolio, an area in which we have always been a
market leader in Lebanon. We enhanced our Small and Medium Enterprise (SME)
financing capabilities because we believe it is a very promising sector in Lebanon.
Microfinance is another field that has witnessed growth through Emkan Finance, a
fully owned subsidiary, which is now present in six regions of Lebanon. Meanwhile,
we maintained the steady build-up of our retail-banking network and significantly
increased our geographical reach. Furthermore, our strong growth in investment
services also contributed to our performance.
Our strong belief in the human element goes beyond the quality investment that
we place in our staff through recruitment, retention, education and training. It is
reflected through a very ambitious Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) program
that invests in the broader society while stressing sustainability. Within this framework,
we have extended our successful “Happy Planet” environmental initiative for a
third year, thereby confirming the status of BankMed as a market leader in Lebanon
in terms of Green Banking. Our broader CSR program extends to cultural, sports,
and educational events; and the emphasis we place on it has led us to detail our
activities in a separate publication along the Annual Report.
BankMed took another big step in 2011 by adding Iraq to the list of countries in
which we will have an overseas presence. Iraq will become a welcomed addition
to this list that currently includes Saudi Arabia, Turkey, Switzerland, and Cyprus. Our
carefully planned regional expansion has served us well in light of the developments
that have swept the Arab world in 2011. We hope that, as the future of our Arab
world brightens, we will seek additional opportunities in promising markets in which
we can be successful. Looking forward, we will continue to place growth, especially
in the local market, as our main objective. In doing so, we will seek to diversify our
customer base, to increase the number of small depositors, and to push ahead with
our SME and Retail banking.
BankMed was a strong performer in 2011 with profitability and results that exceeded
the industry’s averages. This is a validation of the growth strategy that we have
developed and that we continue to meticulously execute. My most sincere
gratitude goes to our clients whose trust and confidence allow the continuity of our
business. My appreciation also goes to the hard work and dedication of our staff
and their tireless efforts to provide an outstanding service in a sustainable manner.

Mohammed Hariri
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Facts
Length:
30 km
Basin:
321 km²
Average flow:
10.49 m³/s
Average Annual Volume:
329.16 mm³

NAHR IBRAHIM
Nahr Ibrahim is a river originating from the Afqa spring at an altitude of 1,366 m
and Rouaiss spring at an altitude of 1,390 m in Akoura. The river flows into the
Mediterranean Sea at about 6 km south of the northern city of Byblos. It mainly
provides Byblos with its irrigation and potable water needs. It was historically known
as Adonis river in reference to the God of Love and Beauty.
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In a year with difficult
external conditions,
BankMed outperformed
the sector which in turn
showed strong resilience
and growth. This
confirmed the soundness
of our business model
and the validity of our
strategy.

BankMed recorded an improvement in all key financial ratios in 2011.
The profitability indicators of Return on Average Assets and Return
on Average Equity both increased to 1.02% and 11.23% respectively.
In terms of asset quality, the gross non-performing loans to total loans
ratio favorably declined to 1.6%, while the provisions coverage ratio
increased to 260%. BankMed’s liquidity and capital adequacy positions
are more than adequate with a capital adequacy ratio of 10.0%,
loans to deposits ratio of 43.9%, and foreign currency liquidity ratio of
18.1%, far surpassed the local regulator’s requirements. Furthermore,
Standard & Poor’s has re-affirmed the Bank’s long-term and shortterm counterparty credit ratings with a stable outlook.
The double-digit growth in the bottom line was in fact one of the highest
among the top financial institutions, and was undoubtedly delivered by
the strong performance of mainly our Retail and Institutional Banking
services. Our branches continued to successfully reduce deposit
concentration while simultaneously growing the overall deposit base.

Our Retail loans grew by 20% in 2011, with greater diversification mostly into the lower
risk housing loans category. In Corporate Finance, a field in which we have been
recognized as a market leader in Lebanon, we successfully acquired new prime clients
across various sectors, and we enhanced and expanded our relationships with existing
clients. Consequently, our efforts were justly recognized when BankMed was
awarded the Best Investment Bank award by Global Finance for third consecutive years.
Our continued growth in investment services also earned us the Best Broker for a
Financial Institution in Lebanon for 2011 by Global Investor.
Our Treasury investment portfolio also contributed to the bottom line of the Bank, as
we continued to grow our active customer base and introduced additional value-added
services and products. We also diversified and actively managed our fixed income
portfolio and we invested into new products that are in line with the Bank’s prudent
risk guidelines.
Our international operations also recorded good results despite the regional turmoil
and the global conditions that were in place in 2011. T-Bank, our subsidiary in Turkey,
ended the year with almost 500 employees spread over 27 branches in the most
important financial hubs of Turkey. T-Bank grew its assets by more than 46% and benefited from a capital injection of approximately USD 80 million in 2011. Our branch in
Limassol, Cyprus continued to provide our clients with direct access to the European
Union. Our private banking subsidiary in Switzerland, BankMed Suisse, remained
focused on its traditional markets in the Middle East with additional emphasis on the
GCC and the potential expansion of client relationships in South America and
Africa. Our investment banking arm, the SaudiMed Investment Company, finalized
the structure of the Med Real Estate fund and has brought in the appropriate expertise
to provide our corporate clients with structured finance services. Also internationally,
BankMed received the preliminary approval of the Central Bank of Iraq and from the
Central Bank of Lebanon to open two branches in Iraq, Baghdad and Erbil. We
expect to be operational by the beginning of the second quarter of 2012.
One of the underpinnings to our successful model is the quality of our human resources,
enhanced by a rigorous program of recruitment and training. In 2011, we placed
significant emphasis on hiring the most qualified new recruits, identified through various
internship programs that aimed to identify high caliber university students. Other training
initiatives focused on identifying and developing the high potential achievers
within the Bank and developing proper career planning for them. Extensive training
was also allocated on enhancing customer relations and sales across all levels within
the Bank.
Another reason for our success has been the extensive investment in Information Technology,
one of the key drivers behind our banking operations. In 2011, the numerous IT projects
undertaken at the Bank covered a broad range of activities, ranging from the
implementation and enhancement of new and existing business applications, to the
replacement and upgrading of our complex hardware platforms and communication
networks. Technology was also effectively used for risk management purposes, as
BankMed installed new tools to better measure and assess various banking risks.
As always, our success relied heavily on a culture that puts customer service first. 2011
witnessed even greater efforts to reach our end-users wherever they may be and
to provide them with the best possible services. Close to 15% of our branch network
underwent renovations and relocations, with new branch openings and extensive
additions to our ATM network. By the end of 2011, I am proud to say that BankMed
had a full range of state-of-the-art remote delivery channels. All these efforts were
accompanied by highly successful media campaigns to support our wider reach.
I am thus pleased to report that we have come a long way in consolidating, streamlining
and growing our banking operations. We have succeeded in strengthening
BankMed’s position as one of the leading banking groups in Lebanon.
I would like to express my gratitude to our shareholders and to our Board Members for
their continued trust and support. Every year brings new challenges, and surely 2012
will not be any different. With the support of our clients, the trust of our service providers,
and the dedication of our colleagues, I am confident that we will have more
successes in facing any challenges that may lie ahead, and that BankMed will
continue to grow and prosper in the years to come.
Mohamed Ali Beyhum
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Facts
Length:
38 km
Basin:
260 km²
Average flow:
6.07 m³/s
Average Annual Volume:
189.32 mm³

NAHR EL-KALB
Nahr el-Kalb is a river originating mainly from el-Aasal and el-Laban springs in
Kfardebian in Rouaiss and Sannine mountains where the Sannine spring contributes
significantly to its tributaries. Nahr el-Kalb flows through the splendid Jeita Grotto
prior to discharging into the Mediterranean Sea in Jounieh, north of Beirut. It serves
as a primary source of irrigation along its flowing path and provides Beirut with its
main potable water reservoir. It was historically known as Lycus river.
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ECONOMIC UPDATE
The Lebanese economy witnessed a significant slowdown in 2011, given the instabilities in the region, and coinciding with
the ongoing Greek sovereign debt crisis and the paralysis of the US economy in an election year. The increase in oil and
food prices during the year also added tension to the political situation, putting further strain on consumer confidence. The
economy in 2011 was characterized by a weak economic growth, a decline in capital inflows, and a balance of payments
deficit for the first time since 2001. Nonetheless, despite the slowdown, the Central Bank of Lebanon (BDL) recorded a
substantial accumulation of foreign reserves, maintained the stability of the exchange rate, and took several steps to
induce borrowing by the private sector.

Real Sector
Real GDP growth rate is estimated to have dropped down to 1.5% from an average of 8.5% over the period 2007-2010.
Still, major real sector indicators recorded positive growth in 2011, albeit at lower rates than those in 2010; primarily the
BDL coincident indicator increased by 2.5%, the amount of cement delivery increased by 6.2%, the total value of cleared
checks increased by 6.9%, and the total flow of passengers at Beirut Rafic Hariri International Airport increased by 1.8%. The
Central Bank was also able to maintain a modest level of inflation; the inflation rate registered 3.1% in December 2011 over
the same period in 2010, while the average inflation rate throughout 2011 was around 4.9%.

Foreign Sector
Lebanon’s foreign trade deficit increased by 15.9% during 2011 to reach LBP 23,975 billion (USD 15.9 billion) at the end of the
year; given that the value of imports increased significantly by around 12%, especially fuel imports which increased by 19%
due to soaring oil prices, while that of exports remained relatively stagnant and increased by only 0.15%.
In line with the regional turmoil and its financial consequences, capital inflows decreased by 22.5% in 2011 to reach LBP
20,966 billion (USD 13.9 billion); rendering them insufficient to create a cumulative positive balance. This resulted in a balance
of payments deficit, of LBP 3,009 billion (USD 2 billion), for the first time since 2001.

Public Finance
The year 2011 was characterized by a substantial decrease in total fiscal deficit of around 20%, compared to 2010, to reach
LBP 3,529 billion (USD 2.34 billion). Total deficit registered a level of 20.1% of total expenditures, while it was 25.6% in 2010. The
main factor behind this significant decrease in the deficit is the rise in total revenues in 2011, supported by the transfer of
telecom revenues; knowing that they were withheld from the government for most of 2010. In 2011, the Ministry of Finance
shifted its calculations and included the effective amount of telecom revenues within non-tax revenues, accounting for
even the sum that hadn’t yet been transferred to the Treasury account at BDL. Excluding the telecom revenues which
accounted in 2011 to LBP 2,261 billion (USD 1.5 billion), the fiscal deficit in 2011 would be 8.8% larger than in 2010.
The primary surplus increased by 35% to reach LBP 2,505 billion (USD 1.6 billion) in 2011, recording a level of 14.2% of total
expenditures. Concurrently, the amount of expenditures dedicated to the debt service reached LBP 6,034 billion (USD 4 billion),
which has fallen by 2.9% from its 2010 figure.
Net public debt rose by 3% to reach LBP 69,885 billion (USD 46.35 billion), largely due to the rise in domestic debt. As for gross
public debt, it grew by 2% in 2011 to reach LBP 80,869 billion (USD 53.64 billion). Lebanon’s significant economic growth
over the past five years, despite the recent slowdown, has helped the country’s debt to fall substantially as a percentage
of GDP, to reach 137% in 2011; compared to its peak of 182% in 2006.

Monetary Conditions
Lebanon benefited during 2011 from a relatively favorable monetary situation at all levels. The Central Bank accumulated
ample foreign currency reserves to support confidence in the local currency; foreign reserves reached LBP 46,453 billion
(USD 30.8 billion) by the end of 2011, an increase of 7.8% over 2010 level. These reserves covered 18.3 months of imports
at end of 2011, which underlines BDL’s strong ability to meet demand for foreign currencies. When coupled with the gold
stock, the foreign assets at the BDL cover more than 115% of the local currency money supply (M2), which suggests a solid
footing of the exchange rate peg.
Money supply in its broad sense (M3) experienced a 5.5% annual growth to reach LBP 146,576 billion (USD 97.23 billion) in
December 2011. This increase in M3 resulted from the increase in each of claims on the private sector (LBP 6,335 billion
or USD 4.20 billion), net claims on the public sector (LBP 2,031 billion or USD 1.35 billion) and net other items (LBP 2,486 billion or USD 1.65 billion); partly offset by a drop in net foreign assets (LBP -1,072 billion or USD -0.71 billion) and in valuation
adjustment (LBP -2,115 billion or USD -1.4 billion).
While some currency conversions in favor of the Lebanese Pound did occur in the second half of the year, 2011 saw net
conversions in favor of foreign currencies. In fact, LBP money supply saw a slight contraction by LBP 759 billion (USD 0.5
billion) in 2011.
Interest rates on LBP Treasury Bills remained stable in 2011 relative to 2010 rates. Interest rates on deposits in LBP continued
to decline, albeit slightly, from 5.68% in December 2010 to 5.63% in December 2011-suggesting growing confidence in
the local currency- while interest rates on deposits in FCY gained few basis points from 2.80% in December 2010 to 2.83%
in December 2011. Also the year 2011 witnessed a decline in lending rates in local currency to 7.38% from 7.91% in 2010,
while that on USD saw an increase from 6.74% in December 2010 to 7.02% in December 2011.

Banking Sector Conditions
In 2011, the Lebanese banking sector reported a moderate activity growth as a result of the slowdown in the local
economy and the political and security developments that affected the region, as well as slowing down capital flows
into Lebanon. However, the country’s financial sector remains solid with total assets reaching around 360% of GDP as of
December 2011.
The sector’s total assets grew by LBP 17,563 billion (USD 11.65 billion), a 9% growth to reach LBP 211,918 billion (USD 141
billion) at end-2011. This growth was funded primarily by the increase in deposits, and by the increase in the capital
accounts by LBP 2,261 billion (USD 1.5 billion), representing a 16.3% year-on-year growth.
Placements with the Central Bank increased by LBP 10,365 billion (USD 6.87 billion), to reach LBP 71,143 billion (USD 47.19
billion) at year-end 2011; representing an annual growth of 17.1%.
Foreign liquid assets, excluding the loans to non-residents, slightly deteriorated on account of a slowdown in the banks’
regional operations. It reached LBP 30,672 billion (USD 20.34 billion) at year-end 2011, down by 3.6% from year-end 2010.
Total loans to customers (residents and non-residents) recorded a 12.7% annual growth and reached LBP 59,358 billion
(USD 39.37 billion) in December 2011. This is still a healthy growth, considering the relatively difficult operating environment
caused by domestic uncertainties and regional turmoil. The total customer loans portfolio represented 28% of total assets
and 33.5% of total deposits as of December 31, 2011. Although FCY loans continued to lead lending activity, the loan
dollarization ratio declined from 80.3% at year-end 2010 to 78.4% at year-end 2011.
The banking sector activity remains mainly driven by customer deposits, which constitute the major source of funding.
Bank deposits grew by LBP 13,721 billion (USD 9.10 billion) in 2011, an 8.4% annual growth. The LBP deposits grew by LBP 927
billion (USD 0.614 billion), a 1.5% growth when compared with the same period in 2010 and the FCY deposits increased
by LBP 12,795 billion (USD 8.48 billion) recording a 13% growth on a year-on-year basis. The deposit dollarization rate
increased to 64.8% at year-end 2011, from 62.4% at year-end 2010.
Resident private sector deposits represented around 80% of total deposits, recording LBP 142,385 billion (USD 94.45 billion)
in December 2011. Non-resident private sector deposits represented 18% of total deposits in 2011, having grown by LBP
4,188 billion (USD 2.77 billion), which represent a 15% year-on-year growth, to reach LBP 32,054 billion (USD 21.26 billion).
Public sector deposits accounted for the remaining 2% of total deposits, recording LBP 2,999 billion (USD 1.98 billion) at
year-end 2011.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Basis of presentation
The following discussion has been prepared by the management of the Bank based on the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Bank as at December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, which have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with
the audited consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2011. The consolidated financial statements of the
Bank include the financial statements of the Bank and companies in which the Bank has a controlling financial interest
(subsidiaries and associates, as applicable).

BANKMED PERFORMANCE IN 2011
Overview
BankMed demonstrated a solid performance in 2011; having registered a strong track record as one of the fastest growing
banks throughout the years since 2007. The year 2011 was another record year and it marked BankMed’s sixth year in a row
of consistent steady growth.
The performance was characterized by remarkable growth in all main financial indicators. Capitalizing on the large branch
network and the diversified product range, the Bank has achieved gains in market shares in both corporate and retail
banking businesses.

BankMed Financial Analysis And Highlights

BankMed’s continuous ability to attract depositors which is demonstrated by the increase in customer deposits that
reached USD 9.47 billion in 2011 contributing to the bulk (80%) of the Bank’s balance sheet.

Balance Sheet Review
ASSETS
The Bank’s Total Assets as at December 31, 2011 reached LBP 17.78 trillion (USD 11.79 billion), recording a 5% growth over
the prior year’s level.
The Cash and Central Banks have increased throughout the years and stood at LBP 2.8 trillion (USD 1.88 billion) as at
December 31, 2011 compared to LBP 2.2 trillion (USD 1.43 billion) as at December 31, 2010 that translates to an increase
of 32%.
The Bank prudently grew its total loan portfolio in diversified high quality loans. The Bank also reduced its bad and doubtful
loans and further increased the collective provisions to LBP 162 billion (USD 107 million). The loan portfolio represents 35%
of the Bank’s total asset base as at December 31, 2011.

Total Loans
in US$ millions

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Bank’s total loans, as at December 31, 2011 and 2010:

* Net of unrealized interest and provisions
The breakdown of loans in 2011 shows an increase, with loans to corporate customers reaching LBP 4.6 trillion (USD 3.02
billion) compared to LBP 3.7 trillion (USD 2.48 billion) as at December 31, 2010. Loans to corporate customers reflect a
share of 73% of total loans as at December 31, 2011 as compared to 70% at year-end 2010.
The Loans-to-Deposits ratio and the Loans-to-Assets ratio stood at 44% and 35% respectively as at December 31, 2011,
compared to 40% and 31% as at year-end 2010.
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Retail Loans By Product

Retail loan portfolio increased by LBP 138,355 million (USD 91.8 million) as at December 31, 2011 and stood at LBP 828,988
million (USD 549.9 million) compared to LBP 690,633 million (USD 458.1 million); a 20% year-on-year growth. The growth is
mainly reflected in the mortgage loans which stood at LBP 301,576 million (USD 200.1 million) as at December 31, 2011
compared to LBP 113,258 million (USD 75.1 million) as at December 31, 2010; representing a 166% year-on-year growth.

Loans By Sector
The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Bank’s loans by sector, as at December 31, 2011 and 2010:

In comparison to 2010, the sector distribution remained approximately the same due to the diversification strategy of the
Bank.

Loans By Tenor 2011
The following chart sets forth a breakdown of the Bank’s loans by tenor, as at December 31, 2011:

Substandard, Bad And Doubtful Loans
The net substandard, bad and doubtful loans portfolio has further been reduced in the year 2011 to LBP 41 billion (USD 26.9
million) compared to LBP 51 billion (USD 33.9 million) in 2010. In parallel, the Bank followed through its conservative loan
loss provisioning policy as the ratio of Total Loan Loss Provision to Non-Performing Loans reached 260% as at December
31, 2011, compared to 182% as at December 31, 2010.

Financial Assets At Fair Value Through Profit And Loss (FVTPL)
The Bank’s FVTPL securities portfolio as at December 31, 2011 stood at LBP 364.6 billion (USD 241.9 million) compared to LBP
37.0 billion (USD 24.5 million) as at December 31, 2010; a significant increase of LBP 327.7 billion (USD 217.4 million). Due to
the implementation of IFRS 9, the Bank strategy was to create a trading book since Available-For-Sale (AFS) investment
securities are no longer acceptable.
The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL), as at
December 31, 2011 and 2010:

Investment Securities
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income were reclassified from AFS investment securities
upon the early adoption of IFRS 9, effective January 1st 2011. Below is a summary of the transitional classification and
measurement adjustments to the Bank’s investments securities on the date of initial application of IFRS 9.
All other financial assets that were classified as loans and receivables under IAS39 have been classified at amortized cost
under IFRS 9.
The effect of IFRS 9 adoption had the following impact:
•
•

A decrease in the cumulative change in fair value of AFS securities by an amount of LBP 271 billion (USD 180 million)
An increase in the opening balance of retained earnings in the amount of LBP 5 billion (USD 3 million)
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The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Bank’s investment securities portfolio as at December 31, 2011 and 2010:

The size of the Bank’s investment securities portfolio decreased from LBP 6.52 trillion (USD 4.32 billion) to LBP 5.42 trillion (USD
3.59 billion), which represents 30% of the total assets as at December 31, 2011 compared to 38% as at December 31, 2010.
The decrease is mainly due to classification upon the early adoption of IFRS.

LIABILITIES
During the year 2011, the Bank’s deposit base continued its growth to reach a record of around LBP 16.0 trillion (USD 10.6
billion) as at December 31, 2011, up from LBP 14.8 trillion (USD 9.8 billion) as at December 31, 2010. This reflects depositors’
confidence in the Lebanese banking sector in general and in BankMed in particular.
Total customer deposits recorded LBP 14.3 trillion (USD 9.5 billion) as at December 31, 2011, 8% higher than that of December
31, 2010 and contributing to 89% of the Bank’s deposit base. The continuous increase in deposit base over the years firmly
reflects the strong market positioning of the Bank in Lebanon as the country’s fifth largest Bank.

Total Deposits
in US$ millions

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the Bank’s deposit base, by type, as at December 31, 2011 and 2010:

Distribution By Type
The breakdown of deposits has been relatively stable in 2011 with customer deposits continuing to reflect a share of 76%
of total deposits as at December 31st, 2011 as compared to 80% at year-end 2010. This confirms the solid strategy in providing
a growth for core depositors on a strong long-term relationship.
Deposits from banks and FIs stood at LBP 729 billion (USD 0.48 billion) compared to LBP 627 billion (USD 0.42 billion).
The ratio of borrowing from banks and FIs to total deposits stands at a low 4.6%. This shows that the Bank has little reliance
on hot money and mostly relies on a core loyal customer depositor base.

Deposits By Tenor And By Currency
The following table sets forth a breakdown of the deposits by tenor and by currency, as at December 31, 2011 and 2010:

Capitalization
BankMed’s total equity slightly decreased to LBP 1,489 billion (USD 988 million) by the end of 2011, compared to LBP 1,664
billion (USD 1,104 million) in the prior year. The main reason for the decline is attributed to the early adoption of IFRS 9.

Total Equity
in US$ millions

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Equity, as at December 31, 2011 and 2010:
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Capital Adequacy
The Bank is subject to capital adequacy requirements of the Central Bank of Lebanon, which require Lebanese banks to
maintain a Capital Adequacy Ratio as per Basel II of at least 8.0%. The Bank’s consolidated capital adequacy ratio as
at December 31, 2011 was 10%, as compared to 11.06% as at December 31, 2010 mainly due to the reduction of equity
by LBP 271 billion (USD 180 million) due to the early adoption of IFRS 9.
The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Bank’s capital as at December 31, 2011 and 2010:

Capital Adequancy Ratio Tier I and Tier II

10.00%

11.06%

Liquidity
The following table sets forth certain liquidity ratios as at December 31, 2011 and 2010:

The Asset Liability Committee monitors and regulates the liquidity position of the Bank and ascertains that a high level of
liquid assets and a stable funding base are maintained. The ratio of average net loans to average net deposits was 42.01%
as at December 31, 2011, as compared to 39.17% as at December 31, 2010.
The conservation of adequate liquidity has invariably been the Bank’s policy to retain a high level of liquid assets and
a diversified and stable funding base. Monitored and controlled by the Asset Liability Committee (ALCO), the liquidity
position of the Bank is daily managed by the Treasury Division and liquidity risks are consistently measured, monitored, and
scrutinized by the Risk Management Division. Ensuring low liquidity risk is evidenced by the following factors:
- Sufficient high-quality liquid assets, including high level placements with well reputed and highly rated global banks.
- Diversification in the securities portfolio.
- Stability in customers’ deposits.

Profitability
Continuing with the momentum of consistent steady growth of income which started in 2007, the Bank achieved a net
income of LBP 177.1 billion (USD 117.5 million) for the year ended December 31, 2011, as compared to LBP 159.2 billion (USD
105.6 million) for the year ended December 31, 2010, reflecting an increase of LBP 17.9 billion (USD 11.9 million) or 11.23%.
For the year ending December 31, 2011, the Bank achieved a Return On Average Assets (ROAA) of 1.02% and a Return On
Average Equity (ROAE) of 11.23% as compared to ROAA of 0.97% and ROAE of 9.40% as at year-end December 31, 2010.

Net Interest Income

Net Income

in US$ millions

in US$ millions
4

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Bank’s major net income accounts for the year ended December 31,
2011 and 2010:

The growth in net income was 11% and reached LBP 177 billion (USD 117.5 million) as at December 31, 2011. This is mainly
due to an 11% increase in net interest income to LBP 327 billion (USD 217 million), coupled with a 7% increase in net
operating revenues after loan loss provisions to LBP 524 billion (USD 347 million) and only a 1% increase in operating
expenses to LBP 314 billion (USD 208 million).
This increase in profitability was prompted by the growth in the business activities, coupled with efficient management of
interest rate margins, high commission base and effective cost containment policy, with a focus on consistently increasing
the non-interest base revenues.
The positive growth in the net earnings was due to the increase in the net operating revenues after impairment charge for
credit losses by LBP 33.6 billion (USD 22 million) or increased by 7%, coupled with the increase of the income tax expense
by LBP 10.9 billion (USD 7 million) or increased by 50%.
The Bank’s strategy to increase the high quality loan portfolio contributed in increasing interest income from loans which
generated 53% of the interest income. In addition, the Bank’s strategy to reduce the interest expense in line with global
interest rates succeeded to decrease the interest expenses by LBP 4.2 billion (USD 3 million). Both strategies contributed
to the bottom line.
The Bank’s strategy in maintaining tight controls over operating expenses managed to keep the operating expenses
stable.

Peer Group Comparison

BankMed demonstrated an outstanding performance in 2011. The Bank registered a sound track record and continued
its sustainable growth in 2011. This progress has been growing at a significant pace as shown in its results.
BankMed’s achieved growth is in line with the long-term strategy set by the Bank to diversify its income and its business
activities, along with its continuous regional and international expansion plans while reducing risk.
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Facts
Length:
42 km
Basin:
231 km²
Average flow:
2.64 m³/s
Average Annual Volume:
91.80 mm³

NAHR BEIRUT
Nahr Beirut is a river originating from el-Shaghour spring in Hammana at the foot
of el-Kneisseh mountain. The river is called Nahr el-Metn before reaching the
coastal plains where it is known as Nahr Beirut delimitating the borders between
the capital and the Metn District in the Governorate of Mount Lebanon. The
river discharges into the Mediterranean Sea at the north of Beirut. According to
popular legend, St. Georges slew the dragon in a spot near the mouth of the river
(close to today’s el-Khodor Mosque).
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HISTORY
Since its establishment in 1944, BankMed has marked its existence as one of
Lebanon’s top banking institutions. The Bank has a wide range of banking
products and financial services catered to both individuals and corporations
with a clientele base of over 130,000 names.
Headquartered in Beirut, BankMed is one of the oldest banking and financial institutions in the
MENA region. BankMed’s market share-measured by total assets-has grown over the years to reach
around 10% of the Lebanese banking system. Through a network of 55 domestic branches spread
all over the country BankMed offers its clients a wide range of innovative products and quality
services. In the last three years, BankMed has focused intensively on growing its retail, investment,
corporate and institutional businesses as to remain flexible in the dynamic changing banking
environment across the globe. BankMed’s role in financing commerce, industry and contracting
activities contributed to the growth of these sectors and the resurgence of the Lebanese economy
since the 1990’s. BankMed firmly believes that a thriving and solid Lebanese economy is the best
possible environment for its success. Our role as a conduit to investment in Lebanon is a forwardapproach to banking that we continuously pursue.

ACHIEVEMENTS

Best Broker

Best Investment Bank

Most Sustainable Bank

MedSecurities 2011

Global Finance Award for
the 3rd consecutive
Year 2009-2011

World Finance
Banking Awards 2011

Excellence in Trade
Finance

Green Business
Initiative

World Finance
Banking Awards 2011

Lebanon
Opportunities 2011

National Achievement
Awards for Banking Most Effective Bank
Advertising Campaign
Lebanon
Opportunities 2010
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INTERNATIONAL
PRESENCE

Facts
Length:
24 km
Basin:
277 km²
Average flow:
3.82 m³/s
Average Annual Volume:
120.05 mm³

NAHR EL-BARED
Nahr el-Bared is a river originating from the western slopes of el-Makmil mountains.
Many springs contribute to the flow of the river including the Fnaideq, Dar, Sukkar
and Snoubar springs. It flows through the majestic area of Ouyoun el-Samak before
reaching the Mediterranean Sea in el-Abdeh village north of Tripoli. It serves as a
primary source of irrigation for the Akkar plain.
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Through its cautious expansion strategy, BankMed is continuously exploring new
markets and identifying the right opportunities in the region. The Bank has expanded
throughout the past years in the region and has added to its existing presence in
Cyprus (branch) and Switzerland (fully owned subsidiary) new locations such as Saudi
Arabia (SaudiMed Investment Company, a fully owned subsidiary); Turkey (T-Bank,
50% owned subsidiary) and Iraq (2 branches in Baghdad and Erbil for 2012).

Turkey
TURKLAND BANK (T-BANK)
Turkland Bank A.S. was originally established in 1985 as the Bank of Bahrain and Kuwait, Istanbul Branch. The Bank underwent
several acquisitions until 1997 when it was acquired and renamed MNG Bank A.S. In 2007, two regional banks, Arab Bank
plc. and BankMed S.A.L., acquired 50% and 41% respectively of MNG Bank A.S. The Bank was renamed Turkland Bank A.S.,
and is better known today as T-Bank for short. The new shareholders introduced a new management team, restructured
the Bank, upgraded the core banking system, and increased its capital.
In July 2010, BankMed purchased the remaining 9% stake bringing its shareholding to 50%. After the transfer of shares Arab
Bank plc. and BankMed S.A.L. each owned 50% of the Bank.
Since its acquisition in 2007, T-Bank has emerged as one of the fastest growing mid-sized banks in Turkey, specialized
in providing customized premium banking services to the commercial business sector as well as to small and mediumsized enterprises (SMEs). The Bank offers a comprehensive range of services including treasury and cash management,
investment services and trade finance. Personal banking services are also available on an exclusive basis for the executives
and shareholders of T-Bank’s corporate clients.
The Bank has an established presence in the Turkish banking sector, through a team of more than 500 employees, across
27 branches, located throughout the major industrial and financial centers in the country. T-Bank continues to selectively
expand its network in Turkey by branching out in areas with vibrant economic and trade activities. In addition, T-Bank
benefits from the well-developed network of its shareholders in the MENA region, enabling the Bank to further expand the
scope of its services beyond the Turkish borders bridging the gap between Turkish and Middle Eastern companies. T-Bank
also plans to benefit from BankMed’s new Iraq based branches in Erbil and Baghdad (set to open in Q2 of 2012) especially
due to the large number of Turkish companies operating in the Iraqi market.
Since the acquisition in 2007, the shareholders have increased the capital of T-Bank from TL 35 million to TL 300 million
through several capital injections which totaled more than USD 180 million.
T-Bank’s assets have grown by more than three folds between the end of 2006 and 2011 to reach TL 2.2 billion (USD 1.2
billion), while shareholders’ equity has grown by more than 350% over the same period to TL 342 million (USD 182 million)
and customers’ deposits have grown five times in size. T-Bank reported earnings of TL 3.9 million (USD 2 million) in 2011 and
a capital adequacy ratio of 17.55%.

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
SAUDIMED INVESTMENT COMPANY
Since its inception in December 2007, SaudiMed has concentrated its efforts on positioning itself as a prime investment bank
in the Saudi and Lebanese financial markets, as well as the wider region, by focusing on building its core competencies along
its principal lines of business, which are mainly Corporate Finance Advisory, Structured Finance, and Asset Management.
Regulated by the Saudi Capital Market Authority, SaudiMed is currently able to deliver a wide range of financial solutions,
covering the entire spectrum of the capital structure, to its targeted corporate and high-net-worth clients.
In 2011, and despite difficult local and regional market conditions, the Corporate Finance team of SaudiMed worked on a
range of projects, most of which related to the provision of corporate advisory and equity capital raising services. The team’s
activities included sourcing a number of private placement transactions within the healthcare, consumer electronics,
and real estate and construction sectors in Saudi Arabia, Lebanon and the region. Going into 2012, and notwithstanding
continued capital market challenges, SaudiMed believes that its Corporate Finance team can play a major financial
intermediary role in introducing private capital into the local corporate markets, as well as matching the expectations
of both existing shareholders (sellers) and new investors (buyers) in any private equity transaction, thus increasing the
probability of success of the transaction.

On the Asset Management front, SaudiMed’s initiatives during last year included setting up a Residential Development Fund
targeting the Saudi residential property market in collaboration with a leading professional development management
firm. Final fund documentation was approved by the Saudi regulatory authorities in September 2011.
More recently, SaudiMed has been engaged in advanced talks with a leading international development management
company to launch another mega, mixed-use real estate development fund in Saudi Arabia.
Also during 2011 and in light of the continued transformation in the global and regional financial landscape, and in an
effort to expand its range of financial advisory services and products, SaudiMed developed and introduced a completely
new Structured Finance offering, under which it proposes to provide its clients with conventional and Shari’ah-compliant
asset-based finance solutions and services that are quasi non-existent in the region. SaudiMed believes that structured
finance could benefit both clients and investors, especially given current market conditions where institutional demand
for alternative sources of funding, and investors’ calls for highly secured, attractively yielding financial instruments are
extraordinarily high. Since its launch, SaudiMed’s Structured Finance team actively pursued key securitization transactions
with a number of high profile institutions in Lebanon and Saudi Arabia in the consumer finance, retail distribution, industrial,
automotive and car rental segments.
Through prudently strengthening its human resource capabilities by building a highly skilled core team of professionals
with a unique combination of industry knowledge, experience and contacts, and through its continued commitment to
cautiousness over rapid growth, and to transaction quality over volume, SaudiMed continues to be highly regarded by its
clients as the preferred partner of choice to confront their current and future financing challenges.

Switzerland
BANKMED SUISSE
Our subsidiary in Switzerland has been offering high net worth individuals, mainly from the Middle East and the GCC
countries, a wide range of private banking and asset management services out of Geneva. BankMed Suisse, backed
by a professional management and 27 years of solid experience in the private banking arena is currently providing a full
spectrum of investment products. These include in-house funds launched in early 2010, structured products designed in
association with prime financial institutions, external funds selected after thorough analysis and assessment, as well as
other investment recommendations. The success of BankMed Suisse lies in its ability to formulate creative and innovative
private banking solutions in an increasingly challenging environment, which properly addresses the risk appetite and
return considerations of its customer base.

Cyprus
BANKMED LIMASSOL BRANCH
Limassol branch is both geographically close to Lebanon and within the European Union providing BankMed with a
strategic location from which to serve international and local customers. Many of our corporate clientele are making use
of this conveniently located facility.
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Facts
Length:
21 km
Basin:
n.a.
Average flow:
0.92 m³/s
Average Annual Volume:
28.66 mm³

NAHR EL-HASBANI
Nahr el-Hasbani is a river located in south-eastern Lebanon near the region of
Hasbaya. It is one of Lebanon’s three transboundary rivers. The river originates
from the Hasbani spring at the slopes of Mount Hermon. The Wazzani spring is
its main tributary. It is worth noting that el-Hasbani river is one of the primary
tributaries of the Jordan river flowing through Jordan’s Baptism site of Jesus Christ
before emptying in the Dead Sea.
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Institutional Banking
BankMed holds one of the largest commercial lending portfolios in the Lebanese market, covering top tier corporate
clients that vary across all industries. The Institutional Banking team is responsible for handling the Corporate Banking,
SME Banking and International Corporate Banking business at BankMed. In spite of the regional turmoil throughout the
year and its financial consequences, the commercial lending portfolio witnessed substantial growth, and was able
to successfully enhance its leadership position in the market. This was accomplished by enhancing our relationships
with existing clients and introducing new prime clients to the Bank.
In 2011, the Bank delivered strong results, outperforming our peer group and achieving an average loan growth of
25%. Net interest income grew significantly due to growth in average loans and asset re-pricing. Non-interest income
grew by more than 20% driven by the increase in trade finance business, up-front fees, and commissions.
In 2011, BankMed expanded its Corporate Banking services by establishing a dedicated International Corporate
Banking unit under the Institutional Banking umbrella. The new unit was created to serve corporate clients who
are located overseas given the importance of this segment. The new unit will also provide our existing clients with
improved solutions and will facilitate their international banking needs. In addition, the unit will support the business
development of the Bank in its regional expansion plans.
During the year, BankMed expanded its banking relationship with a Turkish based group and granted the group a
large credit facility package. Moreover, the team contributed to a leverage buyout of one of the largest insurance
companies in the Middle East for a total financing package of USD 400 million. The team also managed to attract
many new Corporate and SME clients, locally and overseas, all with leading positions in their respective sectors. The
sectors that we cater for are diversified and represent the industries in which our clients operate including, among
others, retail and wholesale trade, real estate, contracting, foodstuff, agriculture, tires, industrial engines, paper,
steel, and sanitary products.
The Institutional Banking team will continue to focus on the delivery of financial solutions tailored to clients’ needs
and to target client segments with strong growth prospects. Our strategy going forward is to continue growing our
client base through our business development team. We intend to leverage the benefits of emerging technology
to respond more quickly, communicate more effectively, simplify transactions and innovate faster, thus serving the
best interests of our clients.

Financial Institutions and Trade Finance
The Financial Institutions and Trade Finance Team (FI) at BankMed is responsible for handling the Bank’s relationships

with other financial institutions locally, regionally and internationally. FI Team is the key access point of the Bank to
the outside world through its wide correspondent banking network of FI relationships made of leading global and
regional banks.
In 2011, the FI team focused on further strengthening our trade finance capabilities by providing distinctive and
customized services to our clientele. This was evidenced by The Excellence in Trade Finance in Lebanon Award that
was granted to BankMed in 2011 by World Finance Magazine.
One of the main factors for being among the top trade finance providers in the country is our Bank’s wide global
outreach through the extensive network of over 100 correspondents across the globe. This has enabled us to cater,
in a timely and professional manner, to our clientele’s trade finance needs in virtually every corner of the world.
Despite the crucial financial crisis that the world weathered during the past years and despite the challenging
moments that Lebanon and the region have experienced, BankMed has been able to selectively expand its regional
and international FI network with leading global and regional banks, reflecting a bold sign of confidence from the
international banking community in BankMed’s financial and credit standings.
Another important element that has distinguished us from our market peers is our ability to deliver sophisticated
services to our clientele as well as providing tailored trade finance solutions catering for the growing trade needs of
Lebanese corporate clients, given the expansion of top tier Lebanese corporates in region and worldwide. BankMed
has been a reliable provider of trade finance solutions; one that corporate customers can bank on. BankMed has
also been able to successfully work on sophisticated trade finance opportunities beyond the traditional trade finance
business such as risk participation and forfeiting. This has enabled the Bank to increase its fee-based revenues from
trade finance business and further enhance its capabilities.

In addition to our wide network of correspondents, BankMed’s trade and correspondent banking capabilities have
been strengthened through the regional expansion that BankMed has carried out. Our trade capable presence in
the region (Turkey, Iraq and Cyprus) as well as our presence in Europe (Switzerland) constitute an edge in providing
door-to-door competitive trade finance services to our clientele.
We have also worked in 2011 on strengthening our trade finance sales desk and have developed our network of
counterparties for dealing in trade finance assets. This activity requires specifically tailored programs and structures
for investing in both imports and export activities. This has enabled the Bank to increase its trade finance capabilities
with a wider range of solutions and to diversify its portfolio of transactions and geographies.
In addition to being nominated as one of the best banks in the trade finance sector, the FI and Trade Finance
team has also strengthened over the past years its lending capabilities by growing its international syndication desk
through the participation in regional and international syndicated and club deal transactions. Our know-how and
increased activity in this field over the past years have made us one of the key active Lebanese participants in this
business. With our strong FI networking in this business line, we are approached on a regular basis to participate in
landmark syndicated transactions in the region.
On another front, we have partnered throughout the recent years with multilateral international and regional
financial institutions programs such as OPIC and ATFP, for various funding and trade finance transactions and as a
support to the long-term financing needs of our customers. This has been another sign of confidence in BankMed’s
credit and financial standings.

Retail Banking
The Retail Banking Division was able to meet all its strategic objectives and targets in 2011despite the major
developments that took place in Lebanon and the region. One of our major accomplishments during the year was
the successful implementation of a segmentation strategy which helped us to provide a more targeted customer
experience. In addition, we have introduced several products targeting our premium customers thus penetrating
into new market segments, and diversifying our mix of channel options and strategies. The success of our operations
was quantified as BankMed achieved high growth level in the small ticket size deposits, thus reducing concentration
and lowering cost of funds for the third consecutive year. In 2011, deposits below USD 1 million grew at a higher rate
than that of the overall market. This was coupled with double digit growth in retail loans, enhanced by attracting
a substantial increase in housing loans, as well as double digit levels reached by cards acquisition in the credit and
charge cards portfolio. BankMed also became the first provider of Priority Banking in Lebanon, achieving impressive
initial results, and the Non-Resident Unit achieved excellent contribution to the retail segment growth.
In terms of expanding our delivery channels to better serve our customers, we added four new branches in 2011
and entered into two new markets. We also worked on improving our remote delivery mechanisms, and by the end
of 2011, BankMed had acquired the full range of a state-of-the-art remote delivery channels, namely ATMs, Internet
Banking, E-commerce, Acquiring and Call Center. This network has increased the number of users (Bank and nonBank clients) of BankMed facilities.
Considering that our customers are our priority concern, we launched various new products and services throughout
2011 to express our appreciation for their loyalty and support. Such products and services include: launching
Loyalty and Gift Cards-Loyalty, and re-launching Bancassurance with full set of new and improved products and
services.
Accordingly, many initiatives were taken during the year to ensure that our products and services were running in
the most efficient manner. In January 2011, BankMed signed a membership contract with VISA and MasterCard for
E-commerce activities. Full certification was finalized in July 2011, and we are currently finalizing the website pilot
testing requirements for Go-live, which is scheduled for early 2012. BankMed also obtained a membership with VISA
and MasterCard for POS Merchant Acquiring service. This project was initiated by the Bank for accepting credit
card payments at merchants, and its pilot testing was finalized in October 2011.
With our intention to further protect our acquiring business against skimming and fraudulent activity, we installed
Fraud Guard Acquiring System in August 2011. The system is under full testing for ATM, POS acquiring, and e-commerce
activities. Moreover, in order to take the risk out of online/internet purchasing and consequently reduce the risk of
fraud on credit cards internet purchasing, BankMed launched in July 2011 the MasterCard secure code service, a
simple password protected identity checking service.
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Furthermore, BankMed started issuing Visa Infinite Cards for affluent clients. Visa Infinite Cards are issued along with a
competitive package of value-added benefits. Under the same token, BankMed issued Debit Pearl Cards for Priority
Banking clients. In the third quarter of 2011, BankMed also participated in a promotional campaign for card usage,
addressed specifically to Platinum and Infinite cardholders. Card performance in sales tripled during the third quarter
of 2011 as a result of credit card offers based on pre-defined limits related to years in practice.
In the second quarter of the year, and as part of a major retailor Card Program, BankMed successfully launched
its Loyalty and Gift Card Program in the following countries: Egypt, Jordan, Qatar, Kuwait, UAE, and Bahrain. Also,
several prime Lebanese corporations joined BankMed for its Loyalty and Gift Cards Program.
During the first quarter of 2011, a wide range of Card E-Services were added to BankMed’s Internet Banking
“MedOnline”, including Credit & Charge Card bill settlement, Prepaid Card Reload, Funds Transfer to any BankMed
Card, and Prepaid Card balance and Transactions Inquiry. Other service requests were also answered, such as
new enhancements being embedded on the MedOnline “Account Summary” feature, whereby the customer can
view his insurance products and check up-to-date real time card information. Also a new card-related service
was launched addressing BankMed cardholders’ needs called MedCards E-Services, which is an online secure
website allowing Credit/Charge cardholders to view their balance and other card details, and card statements with
associated transactions, as well as allowing Pre-paid cardholders to view their balance and transactions.
BankMed continued to grow its solid ATM network all over Lebanon to support branches and to provide customers
with 24/7 access to their accounts. In 2011, BankMed strengthened its distribution network by acquiring 12 more
locations. Moreover, BankMed launched new ATM Recharge Services which are facilities offered to both BankMed
and non-BankMed Cardholders to purchase mobile recharge cards or renew subscriptions via BankMed ATMs, thus
increasing the services that BankMed offers and providing the Bank with a competitive advantage in the market.
Moreover, Non-Resident Banking (NRB) Relationship Managers visited Europe Africa, America, and Asia in 2011 in an
effort to strengthen the relations with the Lebanese expatriates and non-Lebanese residing abroad, and to promote
our Private Banking in order to attract new customers.
We, at BankMed, always seek to develop a long-term and a mutually rewarding relationship with our privileged
customers; consequently, we introduced the Pearl Banking product, which provides a high level of personal service
in an efficient and time-saving manner in order to make the banking experience of our clients enjoyable and
comprehensive. The first Pearl center was established in Ashrafieh to serve the clients of the region, and preparations
are underway to establish Pearl Centers in Hamra, Verdun, Saida, Tripoli and Bekaa regions.
The Bank has aligned its retail organizational chart across all areas -Loans, Cards, and Branches- in order to maintain
streamlined processes and achieve functional synergies across Retail Banking. Accordingly, the Bank has revamped
new organization charts for Consumer loans and Cards where new positions have been created to maintain
controls and create economies of scale. In 2011, the “Area Managers” position was created in the Branch Network
organization. The task of the “Area Managers” is to improve the communication between Regional Managers and
Branch Managers in order to facilitate the work flow and to help in enhancing the productivity/performance of the
branches. In addition, the “Area Managers” are responsible for sales and business development activities and for
new business generation in their respective areas.
Furthermore, BankMed re-launched its Bancassurance service with a full set of new and improved products
and services. Its Bancassurance project was successfully initiated in 2011 where a new software application was
deployed in all the branches to promote and sell Bancassurance products. In an effort to grow and strengthen the
Bancassurance Products in the branches, we have also recruited new Bancassurance agents in 2011. The main
objective is to start the deployment of Bancassurance agents in every branch in order to grow the Bancassurance
portfolio from existing and new relationships.
Another function of Retail Banking that proved to be a crucial engine for the sales is DSA-the Direct Sales Agents. In
addition to the branches, DSA is an effective sales arm that can attract another portfolio of Retail Customers to the
Bank. The DSA members are expected to greatly contribute to improving the sales performance of the Bank.
Last but definitely not least, the main business initiative of 2011 for the Bank is the mega project that has taken
more than a year to prepare. The new Loan Management System and Collection system, which should streamline,
restructure, and expedite day-to-day business, will translate into better customer service and substantial added
value features. All efforts and manpower have been dedicated to the smooth achievement and implementation of
this new project in 2012.

Investment Services
Treasury
Treasury continues to proficiently pursue its directive of sound liquidity management and quality customer service. Treasury
successfully diversified its liquidity profile, minimizing counterparty and sovereign risk with no effect on overall profitability. It
is one of the major revenue generators in the Bank. On the client side, Treasury offers its clients access to local and various
regional and international markets through its extensive and solid relationships with market makers throughout the world.
Treasury solutions are tailor-made to its clients’ needs. Treasury remains active in the Lebanese debt market, actively
participating in several local and foreign currency bond issues as principal and as agent on behalf of its clients. Treasury
also continues to be an active market maker on a back-to-back basis as a dealer between other financial institutions and
its clients. It is one of the major revenue generators in the Bank.
In 2011, the Treasury Division successfully structured and marketed different Investment Products to high net worth clients
like the USD LBP Loan Deposit Transaction which enables them to potentially earn a high return on a short term investment.
Treasury also introduced In-House Dual Currency Deposits enabling the Bank to offer clients higher returns on DCDs and
simultaneously generate higher profits.
Treasury also introduced the BRIC note which allows investors to earn two times the upside of a basket of the Brazilian,
Russian, Indian, and Chinese currencies against the US Dollar.
Treasury continued to market Government of Lebanon Credit Linked Notes (CLNs) as an alternative to highly priced
deposits, and aggressively pushed FX (Spot & Forward) and Derivatives with Corporate, Retail and Group related entities.
Treasury is currently setting up facilities for clients to allow them to trade in CNY and CNH both (on-shore and off-shore).
This is a relatively new service for both Lebanon and the Middle East.

MedSecurities Brokerage and Investment
The year 2011 was very challenging with high volatility in the global markets that was further increased in July and August.
This was reflected by a slight drop in general brokerage revenues compared to 2010, although volumes on equities
increased significantly and volumes on clients’ fixed income trades increased by more than 10%. The drop in revenues
can be explained by a significant shift from one-off trades and Group related business to a more stable customer flow in
2011 that is easier to forecast and that is significantly healthier for the long term prospects of our business.
MedSecurities launched Pin-Pay Share Purchase transactions, making them the first merchant banking operation
conducted by MedSecurities on behalf of BankMed. On August 29th, 2011 BankMed signed a Head of Terms agreement
to acquire 50% of a prime Lebanese bank’s shares in Pin-Pay, a mobile payment service provider. Pin-Pay is a technology
company founded in July 2008 to provide mobile payment and mobile banking solutions via a state-of-the-art platform.
MedSecurities assumed the role of the arranger in Qatar First Investment Bank’s acquisition of a 15% stake in Rifai
International Holding, a leading manufacturer of nuts and kernels in the Middle East and Europe. This deal was a step
forward with the introduction of a strategic shareholder that will help the firm in its expansion plans.

Remedial
Over the past 5 years, BankMed demonstrated a flawless track record absorbing the economic shocks and implications of
the credit risks. Since 2005, the portfolio of non-performing loans has gone down noticeably to read low figures at end of
2011, standing net at below 1% of the loan portfolio.
Since 2006, Lebanon’s real estate sector has witnessed remarkable improvement with enormous increase in activities and
prices. This growth, determined by genuine demand and supply forces, has enhanced both the collateral coverage as well
as collection power of our Bank as reflected in the continuous surge in collections and the reduction in doubtful accounts.
In 2011, the Remedial Management Division pursued its objectives in the recovery of non-performing loans and expedited
collections through amicable settlements on a number of accounts classified as litigious. The lengthy process of the courts
pushed our team to conclude repayment agreements and close long outstanding files. The gross amount of Classified Loans
declined by more than 40% year-on-year and by 60% when compared to the figure in 2007.
Moreover, special efforts were exerted to liquidate real estate assets previously acquired in settlement of debt. The positive
economic growth, which kept the pace of real estate appreciation, attributed to surpluses in values and positive impact on
the income statement.
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Facts
Length:
46 km
Basin:
1870 km²
Average flow:
8.70 m³/s
Average Annual Volume:
275.54 mm³

NAHR EL-ASSI
Nahr el-Assi is a transboundary river shared by Lebanon, Syria and Turkey. Its main
sources are el-Labweh and Ain el-Zarka springs in Hermel in the Bekaa Governorate of
Lebanon. It flows for about 46 km in Lebanon before passing into Syria for about
366 km and to then enters Turkey for 88 km prior to discharging into the Mediterranean
Sea. It is worth noting that it is the only river in Lebanon that flows from south to
north, hence the meaning of its name: the disobedient. It was historically known
as the Orontes river.
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Financial Control, IT and Operations

The Financial Control, IT and Operations Divisions remain committed to the highest
financial and reporting standards, service excellence, cost efficiency and sound risk
management practices which are closely integrated within BankMed’s business
objectives and growth strategy. Our planning process considers both the current and
future needs of our stake holders and match them with best practice and the latest
technology available around the world to enhancing the value proposition and
differentiate the customer experience.
Financial Control Division partners with the business to establish appropriate accounting
policies and procedures for new products, further enhance performance management
systems, set budgets and forecasts, and establish Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) and
link them to the Bank’s business plans.
Financial Control Division also ensures that all the banking activities are properly and
promptly captured on the Bank’s books in order to produce accurate information to
the stakeholders including investors, management, internal business segments and
regulators. The Bank continues to prepare its consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). New requirements under IFRS 7 and
amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 12 are fully embedded. The Bank adopted IFRS 9 effective
January 1, 2011. Changes in accounting policies resulting from this adoption have been
applied on a retrospective basis without restatement of prior periods as permitted by
the standard.
As part of the Bank’s strategy to enhance value proposition, improve efficiency and
boost performance management, the Bank has started the implementation of a data
warehouse solution to address the expanding business needs. MIS plays a key role in
providing decision support reports to the executive management, business and line
managers through a variety of operational, tactical and strategic reports. MIS also
strives to develop and enhance the business intelligence tools to support the growing
sophistication of the business needs and the increase in product and customer reach.
The Information Technology Division (ITD) continues to build on its proven track record
in terms of business solutions, support and infrastructure upgrades to enable the Bank to
provide excellent customer service. A record number of system development initiatives
geared towards business growth, regulatory compliance and service support were
completed on schedule. The number of IT projects increased by more than 20%. Projects
included implementing new business applications and enhancing existing ones, as well as
adding, replacing and upgrading our complex hardware platforms and communication
network including the development and deployment of a new Customer Relationship
Management (CRM) solution, the development and implementation of Priority Banking
solution, and the implementation of a state-of-the-art Mobile Banking platform. ITD has
also built the infrastructure for POS & E-Commerce Acquiring and Cards Services platform
including Gift and Loyalty programs, and has established communication network and
dispatched terminals to support the activities of one of our customers in Lebanon and
the Arab world and to a diversified range of merchants.

Rapid progress was made towards enhancing and up-grading the communication
network and the production environment capabilities to enhance capacity, scalability,
high systems availability, and efficient disaster recovery. The risk of business interruptions
is being further reduced by the periodic rehearsal of the new Business Continuity Center.
BankMed’s main focus as a growing financial institution is to invest in innovation as it is an
essential ingredient to meet up with the demands of a global and mobile client base.
Therefore, international presence with the latest banking technology has become an
important factor and as such, international standards of best practices and emphasis on
employee training and development is continuously met.
The Operations Division continues to give considerable attention to the simplification
of internal processes and procedures while tightening controls, with the ultimate aim of
enhancing customer services, improving efficiency and productivity.
The robust, automated operations environment, staff dedication, capability and
responsiveness contributed to major business initiatives and the launch of new products and
services. Building on the Bank’s technological edge, several programs featuring StraightThrough-Processing (STP) were implemented resulting in distinct improvements in speed,
accuracy, flexibility and, more importantly, capacity. We continue to pursue our vision to
transform Operations into a robust, consistent and empowered servicing culture, with a goal
towards service excellence and ultimate customer satisfaction. The initiative is designed
to enhance the customer service chain encompassing process, people, technology and
infrastructure. Flexibility, innovation and service creativity are the intended trademarks for
our service capabilities.
Operations Division is constantly working to identify and mitigate potential risks in the Bank’s
operating environment. In line with this, continuous review of and update to operational
policies and procedures is conducted. Emergency plans including Business Contingency
and Disaster Recovery Planning have also been further enhanced, tested and put in place,
ready to be activated in case of any need.
Our support Divisions continue to maintain a work environment that delivers superior
customer service by leveraging on BankMed’s optimized processes, motivated staff and
cutting-edge banking technology. We invest in our people and carefully plan their training
and development needs, including appropriate reward and recognition programs.
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Human Resources
When it comes to Human Capital, BankMed will always renew its commitment towards its most valuable
resources, that being its employees.
The year 2011 was only a reiteration of a historical pattern concerned mainly in attracting of high potential
skilled members and embracing its existing staff with motivational self-fulfillment or self-development programs.
During 2011, training practices were developed to encompass a broad array of training topics (soft & technical)
for all levels within the Bank. The aim of all training efforts is to enhance people skills based on professional and
strategic needs, hence enhancing staff motivation and overall productivity. Training programs were offered inhouse, off-the shelf and by external leading training providers in Lebanon and worldwide. These topics include:
Finance, Audit, Risk Management and Credit. Other training courses covered client relationship, project
management and negotiation skills. A total of 1,401 staff members were assigned on 23,529 training hours
targeting 80 different topics.
In line with the Central Bank of Lebanon requirements, BankMed continued to provide training programs
covering Risk Management, Basel II & III, UCP 600, and Anti-Money Laundering.
The Branch Management Development Program was pursued during 2011 completing the last round of its
second module tackling “Managing Sales Services” addressing this subject with all our 55 branch managers.
The third and last module will take place during 2012.
The Retail Banking Internship Program of 2011 offered a more challenging and global exposure. It entailed
on-the-job training in different Retail Banking Divisions as well as in our branches. The program addressed a
headcount of more than 200 Junior and Senior students from Economics, Banking & Finance, Management,
Marketing and other business majors and was divided into: Branches, Branch Network and Retail Liabilities
Head Office, Electronic Delivery Channels and Card Products and Consumer Credit Products. In each area
there were different exposures; interns were assigned based on their educational background. The selection of
interns was based on their GPA or cumulative average. At the end of the internship, the interns with outstanding
performance were selected for future recruitment upon their respective graduation.
Also, an exclusive internship partnership agreement was established with a leading university in Lebanon to
allow students to follow a predefined internship program at specific Branches; the program followed mainly
the same aspects of the Retail Banking Internship Program but allowed the students to reflect what they had
acquired in knowledge through live on-the-job training involving actual Retail sales.
In 2011, around 80 employees were assigned on career development plans. They received necessary follow-up
on their performance and hence advanced in the career ladder both horizontally and vertically.
The Retail Management Development program launched back in 2009 hit its third year with success, all ten
selected employees are still following their respective assignments and on the job challenges. We even had
two Retail Management Development Program members assigned to Branch Management positions.
The year 2011 witnessed also a global review of most of our Retail workforce and structure as the launching
of the Loans Management System during the year has become eminent and required a different set of work
flows. It was also an opportunity to promote about 30 highly trained and exposed staff members into new
arising challenging opportunities to match these requirements.
The year 2011 was also a continuity to 2010’s important recruitment activity. BankMed Lebanon counted 1,277
employees recording an 8% increase compared to that of December 2010, offering new jobs to our youth and
professionals alike.
In November of 2011, about 300 BankMed, GroupMed and subsidiary members, family and friends participated
in the “Beirut Marathon 2011” via one of the major foundations. This was a great opportunity for employees to
gather and see long time no see co-workers, exercise, reflect the true image of Lebanon and help children with
heart conditions through this meaningful contribution to the fund.
The Human Resources Division will always exert all necessary efforts to maintain its highly committed, productive
and creative assets and add to them well seasoned motivated new blood to attain BankMed’s ultimate
objectives and playing a substantial social role in its community.

Legal Support
BankMed’s General Legal Counsel and the Legal Division are composed of highly qualified and specialized legal
counsels with wide expertise encompassing various fields which enables it to better serve, in a timely manner, all
types of legal needs of the Bank and its financial affiliates.
In line with its constant commitment to the highest legal standards, the Legal Division successfully handled in 2011 all
the tasks entrusted to it. Some of the major initiatives were:
1- Updating BankMed’s forms related to the consumer loan templates in order to constantly meet the practical needs
of its customers and the banking activities, and abide with the Central Bank’s evolving regulations related to the
transparency rules and conditions. The Legal Division also updated the account opening forms of MedSecurities
Investment S.A.L., the brokerage arm of the Bank, in order to continuously meet its developing business needs.
2- It also drafted, reviewed and negotiated various transactions and agreements involving banking retail transactions
corporate finance and project finance (structuring and arranging highly value added acquisitions and private
placements transactions, subsidized loans), trade finance activities, structuring legal advisory, structured finance,
cross border financing deals, risk participations and remedial issues.
Finally, 2011 marked the successful completion of several banking transactions that the Bank and its affiliates were
involved in. For this purpose, the legal team deployed significant efforts to provide the legal guidance to other units
of the Bank and its affiliates in order to meet their investment expectations, while mitigating at the same time the
legal risks associated with such transactions.

Market and Economic Research
The Market and Economic Research Division is responsible for conducting economic and market analyses which
cover the domestic, regional and global economic developments. The Division issues a weekly newsletter which
covers Lebanon’s economic and financial sectors. The newsletter is distributed via email and is posted on the Bank’s
website. In addition, the Division publishes reports analyzing the status of the Lebanese economy and assessing the
overall state of the financial and banking sectors. These publications provide thorough and comprehensive analyses
reflecting the opportunities and challenges stemming from domestic, regional or global challenges. The Division
supports the work of other divisions through the provision of internal reports identifying opportunities and challenges
in the local market and outside Lebanon. In-depth analysis of specific countries and markets is also conducted upon
special requests. The Division is headed by a former IMF economist.

Information Security and Business
Continuity
BankMed is deploying state-of-the-art security monitoring and control tools to secure customer and Bank information
assets. Employees are being trained to achieve a long term shift in their views towards security. A security-focused
culture is the ultimate behavioral change that is encouraged within our Bank. Employees are provided with up-to-date
information on new risks to help them recognize and respond appropriately to real and potential security concerns.
Secure computing habits transfer across environments as employees are encouraged to adopt these habits at
home and to propagate the knowledge to customers they are in contact as well as to their social entourage.
BankMed is the leader in the Lebanese financial sector in adopting two-factor authentication for consumer on-line,
mobile, and ATM applications. MedOnline, MedCards, and MedMobile require two factor authentication which
protect our customers against phishing lures which have been increasing in Lebanon and in the Middle East region
in general.
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Facts
Length:
38 km
Basin:
n.a.
Average flow:
1.43 m³/s
Average Annual Volume:
44.61 mm³

NAHR EL-JAOUZ
Nahr el-Jaouz is a river originating from the Tannourine mountains where many
springs contribute to its flow: Zaarour, Dalleh, Jdid and Raha springs. The river
flows into the Mediterranean near the northern city of Batroun. It mainly provides
Batroun with some of its irrigation and potable water needs. In 1998, the Ministry
of Environment listed the river as a National and Historic Heritage Site.
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Pillar III Disclosures as of December 2011
The Capital and Risk Management Report represents BankMed’s Pillar III disclosures as of December 2011. It is
prepared in accordance with the market disclosure requirements and guidelines of Pillar III of the Basel Accord.
The purpose of these disclosures is to allow market participants to assess key pieces of information related to the
scope of Basel application, capital, risk exposures and risk assessment processes, and hence the capital adequacy
of the Bank.
The capital adequacy is calculated at a group level using the Basel III requirements of the Basel Committee on
Banking Supervision (BCBS) and as per our local regulators’ requirements set by the Banking Control Commission of
Lebanon (BCCL). Individual BankMed off-shore subsidiaries are directly regulated by their local banking supervisors
who set and monitor their capital adequacy requirements. The stand-alone capital adequacy ratio of BankMed
subsidiaries is reported as well to BCCL.
BankMed has adopted the Standardized Approach for Credit Risk, the Standardized Approach for Market Risk and
the Basic Indicator Approach for Operational Risk. They are discussed in the following pages.
The Capital and Risk Management Report provides details on BankMed consolidated risk profile with business volumes
by customer categories and risk assets’ classes, which form the basis for the calculation of the capital requirement.
The summary of BankMed capital adequacy as of December 31, 2011 is in accordance with the minimum capital
requirement calculation methodology prescribed under Pillar I of Basel framework, and is shown below:

Total Capital Adequacy Ratio
Tier 1 Capital Adequacy Ratio
Common Equity Capital ratio

10.00%
8.86%
7.75%

1. Pillar III Disclosures 2011
Pillar III Disclosures for 2011 were prepared in accordance with regulatory capital adequacy concepts and rules,
and are published in this report.
Principal changes to Pillar III Disclosures for 2011 compared to year-end 2010 are:
Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process or (ICAAP) development in 2011 as per Central Bank of Lebanon
requirements.
The new capital definition and ratios as per the new Basel III framework.
The new capital ratios required by the Lebanese regulators in accordance with Basel III and in compliance with
Central Bank regulations.
These are more fully detailed in the following pages.

2. Basel III Framework
In response to the deficiencies in financial regulations revealed by the latest financial crisis, Basel III was developed in
2010 as the third of the Basel Accords to strengthen banks’ capital requirements by stressing mostly on the quality of
capital and by introducing new regulatory requirements. Following the Basel Committee issuance in December 2010
of Basel III new rules, significant regulatory matters were introduced, including the quality and quantity of capital,
liquidity and funding, capital buffers, and leverage ratio.
The new Basel III requirements will be phased in on January 1st, 2013 as shown in the table below, and will be fully
implemented by January 1st, 2019.

Basel III - Phase-in timetable (all dates are as of January 1st)

Source: Basel III - A global regulatory framework for more resilient banks and banking systems December 2010 (Annex 4)

The Implementation of Basel Rules in Lebanon
In April 2006, the Central Bank of Lebanon issued regulations requiring banks operating in Lebanon to report their capital
adequacy requirements according to Basel II guidelines starting 1/1/20081.:
In 2011, and in response to Basel III new capital regulations, the Central Bank of Lebanon issued new regulations defining
the new required capital ratios for Lebanon, with a gradual implementation starting 31/12/2012.

Basel III Implementation in Lebanon is shown in the table below including BankMed’s status as at December 31,2011:

1The Banking Control Commission of Lebanon issued Memo # 3/2006 on 7/4/2006, entitled “ Basel II Action Plan” for all banks operating
in Lebanon and included related guidelines during the course of Basel II implementation.
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3.The Three Pillars of Basel Accord
Basel framework is structured around three pillars: minimum capital requirements, supervisory review process and market
discipline. These pillars are introduced to ensure an adequate capital base which corresponds to the overall risk profile of
the bank:

•Pillar I: Minimum capital requirements addressing three major quantifiable risks -Credit, Market & Operational- stemming

from the bank’s business operations. Basel committee’s objective is to ensure that credit risk, market risk and operational
risk are quantified based on data and prescribed techniques approved by the banking regulators.

•Pillar II: the supervisory review process, covers:
- The Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) to assess incremental risks not covered under Pillar I process.
- The quantification of capital required for these identified risks.
- The assurance that the bank has sufficient capital cushion to cover these risks over and above the regulatory requirement
under Pillar I.
•Pillar III: related to market discipline, complements the minimum capital requirements (Pillar I) and the supervisory review
process (Pillar II). Under Pillar III framework, all material risks must be disclosed enabling a comprehensive view of the
bank’s risk profile.
These are more fully described in the sub-sections below.

3.1. Pillar I - Minimum Capital Requirements
According to Basel framework, and as implemented by the Central Bank of Lebanon, Pillar I covers the minimum regulatory
capital requirements that a bank is expected to maintain to cover the credit, market and operational risks. It also sets out
the basis for the consolidation of entities for capital adequacy reporting requirements, the definition and calculations of
Risk Weighted Assets (RWA), and the various options given to the banks to calculate these Risk Weighted Assets.
As per the latest regulations of the Central Bank of Lebanon, the 8% capital requirement will increase to 10% by the end of
2012 .
BankMed has elected the following approach for each of the risk types:

a) Credit Risk

Standardized Approach is currently being used by BankMed for regulatory reporting purposes. This approach allows the
use of external ratings, available from accredited rating agencies for the determination of appropriate risk weights, and
includes a wider range of eligible financial collaterals.

b) Market Risk

BankMed is currently adopting the Standardized Approach for the measurement of Market Risk capital requirement.
Under this approach, the capital charge for Market Risk is determined by converting positions in the trading book into risk
weighted assets, as per the respective guidelines of Basel II & the Banking Control Commission of Lebanon.

c) Operational Risk

BankMed is currently adopting the Basic Indicator Approach for the measurement of Operational Risk capital charge.
This approach applies a fixed percentage of 15% to the average positive gross income for the preceding three financial
years.

3.2. Pillar II - Supervisory Review Process
The Supervisory Review Process (SRP) under Pillar II requires banks to have an internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process
(ICAAP) that is aimed at capturing an additional capital charge for risks not specifically covered under Pillar I, to maintain
sufficient capital to face these risk, and to develop risk management techniques in monitoring and managing these risks.
Some of these risks identified in this respect are interest rate risk in the banking book, liquidity risk, concentration risk, strategic
risk, reputation risk and legal risk.

Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process - ICAAP
In 2011, BankMed developed its ICAAP in response to BCC Memo 9/2010 dated 20/10/2010 and integrated its capital
planning and risk appetite definitions into its regular business budgeting and planning process.
Through ICAAP, the Bank’s Senior Management examined the Bank’s risk profile to ensure that the level of capital :
-

Remains sufficient to support the risk profile of the bank and its outstanding commitments;
Exceeds the minimum regulatory capital requirements by an agreed margin;
Is capable to withstand a severe economic downturn stress scenario;
Remains consistent with the bank’s strategic and operational goals and shareholders’ expectations.

The Bank undertakes comprehensive risks identification in the ICAAP on an ongoing basis and requires necessary mitigation
tools to manage the identified risks. The principal risks associated with the bank’s business strategy are credit risk, market risk,
liquidity risk, compliance risk and operational risk, plus other risks covered under Pillar II like concentration risk, business and
strategic risk, legal risk and reputation risk.

3.3. Pillar III - Market Discipline
Pillar III prescribes the qualitative and quantitative disclosures of BankMed which are required to be made to external
stakeholders in order for them to assess the bank’s risk profile and capital adequacy.

4. Risk Management
The principles adopted for the management and control of risk and capital are described herein. BankMed is exposed to
a broad range of risks in the normal course of its business. The policies are designed to identify and quantify these risks, set
appropriate limits in line with defined risk appetite, thus ensuring control and monitoring adherence to the limits.
The Bank has established a Risk Management Division that identifies and assesses the implications of relevant risks on the
bank’s operations and recommends appropriate ways to mitigate these risks. The Head of the Risk Management Division
is responsible for the management of credit, market, operational, compliance and other material risks at the enterprise
level.
The process of Risk Management is supported by a set of independent control functions reporting to the Head of Risk
Management Division. Individual credit transactions are approved jointly by respective Credit Committees including both
Business and independent Risk Management representatives. The Credit Administration Department reviews approval
levels and documentation prior to allowing the availment of facilities. Market risk reviews limits and provides independent
reports about the Bank’s market risk exposures and liquidity positions, including measurement against stressed events. The
Portfolio Risk Management Department manages the process of risk appetite definition, portfolio targets, and overall limit
settings, as well as examines components of the capital plan and calculates the bank’s capital adequacy.
Risk Management is firmly embedded in how the bank runs its business through the alignment of risk and business objectives,
and through the integration of risk appetite and stress testing into business planning and capital management.

4.1. Risk Governance
The risk governance structure includes the following committees:
- Asset and Liabilities Committee (ALCO), chaired by the Chairman-General Manager, is responsible for monitoring and
managing the liquidity, interest rate risk and market risk, balance sheet structure, and other related finance functions
such as capital funding.
- The Executive Credit Committee has BankMed-wide responsibility for maintaining sound, effective credit risk portfolio
and management process. The Chairman-General Manager chairs this committee.
- The Board Audit Committee is composed mainly of non-executive and independent members. The Audit Committee
helps the Board in the proper discharge of its duties, especially those related to selecting and enhancing the qualifications
and independence of External and Internal Auditors, fairness of the financial statements and related disclosures,
reviewing significant Internal Control regulations and ensures compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
- The Board Risk Committee reviews and recommends for approval by the Board, the Risk Policies, Risk Appetite and
Tolerance. In addition, it reviews the Risk Management Policy including annual reviews of risk limits, risk appetite and
tolerance for all types of risks as recommended by Senior Management in order to ensure that no excessive risk is taken
beyond the Board approved Risk Appetite and Tolerance as per BankMed’s approved ICAAP.

4.2. Compliance Risk
BankMed and its subsidiaries are committed to comply with the existing anti-money laundering law and regulations
and aim to prevent, deter and combat money laundering and terrorist financing. The goal is to protect our products as
well as services from being used as a vehicle for money laundering and terrorist financing and preserve the name and
reputation of the Bank and its subsidiaries as well as correspondent banking relationships through the implementation of
a robust Anti-Money Laundering (AML) and Counter Financing Terrorism (CFT) program. The program includes four pillars:
1) Setting AML policies and procedures in accordance with the local AML legislation and regulations and the directives of
the Central Bank, the Financial Action Task Force (FATF) recommendations (40 + Special), and international standards
and best practices;
2) Assigning a Compliance Officer and dedicated team responsible for ensuring proper implementation of those policies
and procedures and investigating suspicion of Money Laundering and Terrorist Financing;
3) Training all concerned staff in order to ensure proper implementation of the AML/CFT policies and procedures;
4) Ensuring independent testing of the AML/Compliance function.
The AML compliance program was structured to address the controls needed based on a risk based approach related
to the products and services offered, customers served, and geographic locations.
The AML policies and procedures provide for program continuity regardless of staff changes, dual controls, segregation
of duties, and sufficient controls and monitoring systems to detect timely suspicious activities. It also incorporates money
laundering compliance into job descriptions and performance evaluations of personnel.
The Bank has invested in an AML state-of-the-art software solution to automate the monitoring of customers’ accounts for
unusual account behavior, and to screen customers, correspondent banks and business transactions against international
sanctioned lists.
Internal and External Auditors review periodically money laundering initiatives in all critical areas in order to assess the
efficiency of the AML Compliance Program. Corrective measures are taken against deficiencies detected and raised in
such reports.
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4.3. Risk Appetite
BankMed’s risk appetite is determined according to its business plan, liquidity, funding and capital needs. Our risk appetite
approach is designed to reinforce the integration of risk considerations into key business goals and planning processes.
The risk appetite statement, which describes the quantum and types of risks that we are prepared to take in executing our
strategy, is approved by the bank’s Board of Directors.

4.4. Stress Testing
Integrated with the bank’s risk appetite, planning, and capital management processes, stress scenario analysis highlights
any vulnerabilities that our business might have and capital plans to the adverse effects of extreme but plausible events.
Stress tests are used to assess the capability of BankMed to continue its operations under stressed conditions. Scenario
analysis involves a discussion between Risk Management and Senior Management to review the impact of the stress-test
on the Bank’s capital. End results are communicated to the Board of Directors for review and recommendations.

5. Regulatory Capital Requirements
This section describes the capital requirements of BankMed, calculated based on the regulatory provided formulae. The
risk types under Pillar I are in accordance with Basel guidelines and include credit, market and operational risks.
BankMed’s overall capital requirement can be broken down as follows:

Movement in Risk Weighted Assets in 2011
Total Risk Weighted Assets (RWAs) amounted to LL12,190 billion comprised of 90% Credit Risk; 4% Market Risk and 6%
Operational Risk.
Total RWAs increased by LBP1,353 billion or 12.5% in 2011. This increase in RWAs arose mainly from:
• Credit risk RWAs, reflecting the growth in our overall businesses mainly in Commercial and Retail Banking.
• Market risk RWAs, as a result of the assets’ reclassification after the implementation of the IFRS9 in January 2011.

5.1. Capital Requirements for Credit Risk
BankMed calculates the capital requirements for credit risk according to the Standardized Approach. Under this
approach, exposures are assigned to portfolio segments based on the type of counterparty and/or the nature of the
underlying exposure.
The major portfolio segments as defined by the Basel guidelines and adopted by the Banking Control Commission of
Lebanon are sovereigns, banks, public sector entities, corporates, retail, residential and commercial mortgage loans,
past due loans, and other assets. Each segment has a defined risk weight ranging from 0% to 150%, depending on the
tenor, type of exposure, the asset class it belongs to, whether the counterparty has an external rating, and whether the
exposure is past due.

5.2. Capital Requirements for Market Risk
BankMed uses the Standardized Approach to calculate the regulatory capital requirements relating to general market
and specific market risk. The resultant measure of market risk is multiplied by 12.5, the reciprocal of the theoretical 8%
minimum capital ratio, to give market risk-weighted exposure on a basis consistent with credit risk-weighted exposure.
The principal market risks to which BankMed is exposed are foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, and equity price risk
associated with its trading, investment, and asset and liability management activities. This figure does not include interest
rate risk in the banking book as this is considered as part of Pillar II risks.
Brief descriptions of the risk items covered by market risk are given below:
•Interest rate risk: is the impact on banks’ earnings and market value of equity due to changes in interest rates; the risk is
two-fold:
1.Specific Risk: risk of loss caused by an adverse price movement of a debt instrument or security due principally to factors
related to the issuer.
2.General Market Risk: risk of loss arising from adverse changes in market conditions.
• Equity position risk: risk that bank’s investments will depreciate due to the dynamics of the equity markets.
• Foreign exchange risk: risk arising from a change in exchange-rates on the bank’s net asset/liability positions.
The capital requirements for Market Risk, calculated on assets classified at Fair Value through Profit and Loss (FVTPL),
are presented in the table below:

5.3. Capital Requirement for Operational Risk
BankMed uses the Basic Indicator Approach (BIA) for the calculation of the regulatory capital charge requirements with
respect to Operational Risk. This approach applies a fixed percentage of 15% denoted Alpha (α) to the average positive
gross income for the preceding three financial years.
The capital requirement for the year 2011, using the BIA is detailed in the table below:
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6. Capital Structure
BankMed maintains an adequate capital base to cover risks inherent in its business operations. The adequacy of capital is
actively managed and monitored using, among other measures, the rules and ratios established under Basel III Accord and
as adopted by the Banking Commission of Lebanon.
The primary objective of BankMed is to maintain a strong capital base to support the development of various businesses
and to meet regulatory capital requirements at all times while optimizing shareholders’ value.
The total regulatory capital (Tier I and II) in accordance with the Banking Commission of Lebanon guidelines and in
compliance with BDL intermediate circular No. 282 is as follows:

1, 218,736

7. Credit Risk
Credit risk generates the largest regulatory capital requirement of the risks we incur. In this section, Credit Risk components
are disclosed according to the following dimensions:
7.1. Basel asset classes used in the calculations of RWA.
7.2. Geography, industry, and risk weight buckets.
7.3. The effects of credit risk mitigation.

7.1. Basel Asset Classes
BankMed has a diversified credit portfolio, which can be divided into the following asset classes as defined by Basel
framework and adopted by the Banking Control Commission of Lebanon.

Sovereigns and Central Banks
Exposures to sovereigns and central banks carry a risk weight ranging between 0 and 100 percent, depending on the
external rating provided by the relevant External Credit Assessment Institution (ECAI).

Banks and Securities Firms
The Banking Control Commission of Lebanon has prescribed that exposures falling into this portfolio are to be treated
according to Option 2 of the Basel Accord; i.e. the risk weight is determined based on the bank’s external rating by a
recognized ECAI. A preferential risk weight is assigned to short term exposures, defined as those exposures with a tenor of
less than three months.

Corporates
This portfolio is assigned a risk weight based on the external rating wherever available of the counterparty with whom the
exposure is held. Due to the fact that all corporates in Lebanon are not rated by ECAIs, a regulatory risk weight of 100% is
applied to this portfolio. In 2011, BankMed introduced the Moody’s RA risk rating as a valuable tool for credit rating of the
bank’s corporate clients and SMEs. This analytical risk rating tool is designed to assess the obligor’s probability of default.
Complete implementation is targeted after full validation of the data which is expected within 4 years.

Regulatory Retail
This portfolio consists of granular loans to individuals, small business facilities, or car and other consumer loans. Exposures
not meeting certain granularity criteria are assigned a 100% risk weight, whereas the balance of the exposure under this
asset class is assigned a flat 75% risk weight.

Residential Mortgages
This portfolio consists of loans secured by mortgages on residential properties that are occupied or rented by the borrowers.
The standard risk weight on residential mortgage loans is 35%.

Commercial Mortgages
This portfolio consists of commercial real estate lending and is assigned a risk weight of 100% as per the guidelines of the
Banking Control Commission of Lebanon.

Other Assets
The standard risk weight for all other assets is prescribed at 100%. These typically include fixed assets, equity participations,
and sundry debtors. Cash and cash equivalents are assigned a risk weight of 0% and checks for collection are assigned
a risk weight of 20%.
The credit risk exposures exclude the assets that are capital deductible and the exposures that are classified at fair value
through profit or loss.

7.2. Credit Exposure
7.2.1 Geographic Breakdown of on-Balance Sheet Credit Risk Exposures
Around 70% of BankMed’s total portfolio is originated in Lebanon, the host jurisdiction. Through its expansion in Turkey and
presence in Cyprus, Switzerland and Saudi Arabia, BankMed is seeking to gradually geographically diversify its credit risk
exposure.

7.3. Credit Risk Mitigation
The gross credit exposures disclosed in the prior sections have been stated prior to taking credit mitigation effects into
account. In terms of the regulatory guidelines2 , not all forms of collateral currently used by BankMed are recognized
for the purposes of the calculation of the credit risk capital requirement. These include real estate mortgages, personal
guarantees and unrated corporate guarantees. The bank uses the comprehensive method for the treatment of financial
collaterals, requiring a standard supervisory haircut to be applied to the acceptable collateral to account for currency
and maturity mismatches between the underlying exposure and the collateral applied.
Eligible financial collaterals under the Standardized Approach include:
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.

Cash (as well as certificates of deposit or CLDs issued by the lending bank);
Bank guarantees;
Gold;
Debt securities rated investment grade;
Listed equities.

2The Banking Control Commission of Lebanon issued on 21/8/2009 circular No. 261 on Credit Risk Mitigation techniques in accordance
with Basel II Requirements. This circular is in line with BDL circular No.121 dated 26/6/2009 that represents the regulatory framework for
dealing with eligible collateral and guarantees.
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8. Market Risk
Market Risk is the risk that BankMed’s earnings or capital, or its ability to support its business strategy, will be impacted
by changes in market rates or prices related to interest rates, equity prices, credit spreads, foreign exchange rates and
commodity prices.
BankMed has established risk management policies and limits within which exposure to market risk is monitored, measured
and controlled by the Market Risk Department with strategic oversight exercised by ALCO. The Market Risk Department
is responsible for developing and implementing market risk policy and risk measuring/monitoring methodologies, and for
reviewing all new trading and investment products and product limits prior to ALCO approval. It has the primary responsibility
to measure, report, monitor and control Market Risk in BankMed. The Market Risk Department is independent of Treasury
business and reports into Risk Management.

8.1. Sensitivity Analysis of Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book
A sensitivity analysis of the Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book3 up to 1 year is compiled based on 200bps interest rate
shocks applied on all Assets and Liabilities in all currencies.
On top of the 200bps shift, additional stress scenarios, based on the prevailing rates during major local and international
events, were applied to the Banking Book in order to capture the different potential effects on the Net Interest Income and
the Economic Value of the Bank.
Moreover, the Market Risk Department applies additional stress scenarios on the Foreign Bonds portfolio that include shifts
in the related credit spreads and interest rates, and the periodic computation and monitoring of the portfolio 1-month
Value-at-Risk.

8.2. Analysis of Liquidity Risk
Liquidity Risk is the risk that the bank will have insufficient funds to meet its obligations.
In an attempt to measure and manage liquidity risk, Market Risk Department computes and monitors liquidity ratios in order
to ensure an adequate liquidity level at all times. In order to improve the management of liquidity risk, liquidity management
policies were amended to include the following:
- Analysis and monitoring of the Bank’s funding profile and the diversification of its funding sources.
- Enhanced liquidity stress tests in severe scenarios based on historical and hypothetical events.
- Introduction of the Liquidity Coverage Ratio and Net Stable Funding Ratio which ensure that the bank maintains an
adequate level of high-quality assets for long term and short term funding.

The Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR):
The objective of this ratio is to ensure that the bank maintains an adequate level of unencumbered high-quality assets in
LBP and FCY that can be converted into cash to meet the 1-month Net Cash Outflow in an acute stress scenario. LCR is
monitored on a quarterly basis whereby Stock of Liquid Assets as a percentage of 30 days net cash outflow is greater than
the required 100% in LBP and FCY.

Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR):
The objective of this ratio is to ensure that long term assets are funded with at least a minimum amount of stable liabilities
in relation to their liquidity risk profiles. It aims to limit over-reliance on short-term wholesale funding during times of buoyant
market liquidity and encourage better assessment of liquidity risk across all on and off-balance sheet items. NSFR is monitored
on a quarterly basis whereby Available Funding Ratio as a percentage of Required Stable Funding is much larger than 100%
in LBP and FCY.

3As per BCC circular No. 250 issued on 23/5/2006 by the Banking Control Commission of Lebanon for the sensitivity analysis of the interest
rate in the banking book.

9. Operational Risk
Operational Risk is defined as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people, and systems,
and/or external events. It is evident that operational risk is inherent in all the activities of the bank and in all interactions
with external parties. Management of Operational Risk requires robust internal control coupled with quality supervision
and management.
In BankMed, Operational Risk Management is an integrated umbrella with all underlying Operational Risk elements,
like Anti-Fraud, Business Continuity, and Policy & Procedure, forming a part of the operational risk management chain.
Operational Risk is embedded in each Business area, and the Risk Mitigation techniques are applied to each activity/
product/process.
All Products/Services/Processes are being subjected to risk assessment & analysis. The exceptions and quality deficiencies
are documented and monitored for its resolution. The analysis of operational risk-related events, potential risk, and other
early-warning signals are in focus when developing the processes. The exceptions/issues are highlighted and resolved at
the senior levels.
BankMed is using Key Risk Indicators (KRI) as an essential instrument for pro-active operational risk management. KRIs for
Human Resources, IT and Processes should help predict changes in the bank’s operational risk profile. They have two main
targets; the prevention of operational risk events and the timely detection of unfavorable events.
The mitigating techniques include: preventative control measures, robust Information Security framework, strong AntiFraud/Compliance regime, comprehensive Physical /Access security and Business Continuity plans, together with crisis
management readiness and a broad insurance coverage for handling major incidents.
Each business area in BankMed is primarily responsible for managing its own Operational Risk. Operational Risk
Management develops and maintains a framework for identifying, assessing, monitoring and controlling operational
risk and supports the line organization in implementing the framework. The techniques and processes for managing
operational risks are structured around the risk sources as described in the definition of operational risk. This approach
improves the comparability of risk profiles throughout the organization including BankMed’s branches and subsidiaries.
As described in a previous section, the capital requirement for operational risk is calculated according to the BIA.

10. Other Risks (Pillar II)
There are other risks that are generally difficult to quantify and that cannot be covered by capital. The Bank tries to
mitigate these types of risks by strong management, HR training and coaching, and robust control procedures. Reputation
risk and Legal risk are examples of such other risks.
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Facts
Length:
25 km
Basin:
107 km²
Average flow:
0.56 m³/s
Average Annual Volume:
17.50 mm³

NAHR EL-ZAHRANI
Naher el-Zahrani is a river originating from el-Tassi spring and flows into the
Mediterranean Sea off the coast of el-Zahrani south of the southern city of Saida.
It provides many cities in the south with its irrigation and potable water needs.
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Internal Audit
BankMed’s Internal Audit (IA) Division helps the Bank accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined
approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management control and governance processes.
The IA operates in accordance with an approved Internal Audit Charter which clearly specifies the reporting level, mission
and scope of work of the Internal Audit.
The IA is independent of the Bank’s Management, supervised by the Chief Audit Executive who, in turn, reports both
functionally and administratively to the Audit Committee and to the Chairman-General Manager.
The Staff of the IA, under the supervision of the Chief Audit Executive, has unrestricted access to all functions, records,
property, and personnel; in order to allocate resources, set frequencies, select subjects, determine scopes of work, and
apply the techniques required to accomplish the audit objectives.
While the IA coverage at the Bank is guided mainly by the regulations of the Central Bank, this coverage exceeds such
requirements and rigorously complies with International Auditing Standards as well as standards of other related supervisory
authorities.
The IA uses a “risk-based” audit approach, a methodology that links internal auditing to the Bank’s overall risk management
framework. Such a methodology relies heavily on efficient and effective use of technology in the conduct of its business.
Collectively, the IA has extensive experience and know-how concerning auditing tools and techniques and is composed
of dynamic, flexible, and experienced audit staff.
The IA’s methodology is both effective and professional. It plays the vital role of providing an internal checking mechanism
to ensure adherence to sound policies and procedures. The IA also assures the accuracy of information and makes a major
contribution to the overall control, compliance and corporate governance of the Bank.
The IA, and as required by the Lebanese regulatory oversight bodies and professional standards, reviews the Bank’s affiliated
branches, other Group banks and financial institutions’ operations, and reports on their status and conditions to the Senior
Management and to the Audit Committee. The Internal Audit also reviews the Bank’s compliance with Anti-Money Laundry
(AML) procedures and related requirements highlighted in BDL Circular Number 83.
The Internal Audit also, and according to the guidelines set by the Lebanese regulatory oversight bodies and the Control
Objectives for Information and related Technology or (COBIT) framework, reviews the Information Technology processes at
the Bank and provides independent evaluations of the Bank’s policies, procedures, standards, measures, and practices for
safeguarding electronic information from loss, damage, unintended disclosure, or denial of availability of services.
Staff and Management of the Internal Audit stay abreast of the constant changes in the Banking Inspection and Supervision
fields and regularly innovate new techniques and tackle new areas to introduce improvements to the existing controls at
the Bank and to the audit methodology being used. The IA encourages and supports the Bank’s Internal Auditors to qualify
for the Certified Internal Auditor certification (CIA) and the Certified Information Systems Auditor certification (CISA). As a
result, such qualifications create a knowledgeable pool and a well-trained team of Internal Auditors.
Given the steady and gradual expansion of BankMed Branches network (expected to continue during 2012) and diversity
of operations in a cost effective approach, the Internal Audit plans to maintain sufficient and adequate Audit coverage
and techniques while maintaining a cost effective budget through:
a. Developing the IA electronic audit methodology, namely the “continuous auditing” methodology. The use of this
technology includes an intelligent and efficient testing of risks and related controls, leading to timely notification of gaps
and weaknesses, which in turn allows immediate follow-up and remediation. This entails the use of one of the most widely
used computer aided audit techniques (CAATs) called Audit Command Language or (ACL). The scope of “continuous
auditing” is expanded continuously to include operations which are considered inherently of high risk and to verify
compliance of such operations with regulatory requirements and operational policies and procedures.
b. Emphasizing the importance of controls and preventive techniques through organizing series of Control Self-Assessment
(CSA) training sessions for Staff at all levels. The sessions include explaining to the Staff ways to maintain Key Control
Elements or KCE embedded in the Banking operations, necessary to prevent incidents of fraud and regulatory noncompliances.

Corporate Governance
Principles of Corporate Governance at BankMed, S.A.L
BankMed’s Policy in Implementing Principles of Corporate Governance
BankMed continuously recognizes the importance of good corporate governance principles and strongly believes that
the practice of good corporate governance and transparency in operating the business by the Board of Directors,
executives, and staff at every level will be important in bringing the Bank to succeed in the competitive financial
markets. The Bank has prepared and approved a Group Corporate Governance Guide that will maximize benefits to all
Stakeholders.
Sound corporate governance at BankMed emphasizes a set of fundamental principles that include protecting
shareholders’ rights, respecting, preserving and treating equitably the interests of all other stakeholders, clearly defining
responsibilities of the Board of Directors and Executive Management, pursuing a policy of full disclosures, transparency and
sound practice, and enforcing the functions of internal and external auditors, as well as those of other Banking inspectors
and supervisors. The Bank has an organizational structure in place that segregates functions and responsibilities, reflecting
a division of roles and duties between the Board, Executive Management and Operating Management.
In addition, the Bank commits to focus on applying banking operations and good corporate governance principles that
are in line with international standards and strictly comply with rules, regulations and policies of all relevant regulators
(Central Bank of Lebanon - BDL, Basel II and Association of Banks in Lebanon).

Board Responsibilities and Composition
The Shareholders have set the Board of Directors’ structure with a clear and transparent scope of duties and responsibilities
that do not assign to any person or group of persons unlimited powers.
To ensure proper checks and balances, the composition of the Bank’s Board of Directors is set in compliance with the
Central Bank regulatory requirement (BDL Circular number 118). The Board is composed of 9 members, of which 8 members
are non-executive members where many of the non-executive members are independent. This helps to strengthen the
objectivity of the Board’s monitoring and review activities and enables them to commit the necessary time and effort to
fulfill their responsibilities.
The Board oversees the development of the Bank’s overall business strategy and the decisions made by senior
management in the pursuit of strategic objectives. The Board assesses both the appropriateness of the strategy and the
extent and probability of its success.
Although, it is not required by local regulations that both the roles of the chair/Chairman and the General Manager (CEO)
be separated, the Board/CGM has nominated a separate senior (Executive General Manager) to carry out many of the
executive roles vested in/to the Chairman in order to achieve the appropriate checks and balances.

Board Committees and their Roles
As per BDL Circular number 118, the Bank formed an Audit Committee composed of non-executive and independent
Board members. The Committee helps the Board in the proper discharge of its duties, especially those related to selecting
and enhancing the qualifications and independence of External & Internal Auditors, fairness of the financial statements
and related disclosures and to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
As per BDL Circular number 118, the Bank also formed a Board Risk Committee to assist the Board of Directors in fulfilling
its tasks and supervisory role in properly applying the Bank’s Risk Management framework as stipulated in the regulations
issued by BDL and the Banking Control Commission (BCC).
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Ways of Communication between the Board and Senior Management
The Board meets regularly (directly and through its Committees) with the heads of Internal Audit, Risk and Chief Financial
Officer to review policies, procedures and controls. Through these meetings, the board determines the areas that need
improvement and ensures that the control functions are properly staffed and resourced and are carrying out their
responsibilities independently and effectively.
The Board exercises oversight over senior management through its ability and authority to question and obtain
straightforward explanations from management. The Board receives, on timely basis, sufficient information to judge the
performance of the Bank and its management.

Principles for Evaluating the Performance of the Board and Senior Management in Implementing Principles of
Corporate Governance
The Board and senior management assess the quality of corporate governance at the Bank on an ongoing basis. The
assessment is based on the review results of the critical activities completed by all control units (Risk, Financial Control and
the Internal Audit) and by the Bank’s independent examiners.
The senior management established, enforced and maintained Systems of Internal Control composed of written and
properly distributed policies and procedures for all areas of operations. These areas require appropriate segregation
of duties, duality in completing and reviewing operations, delegating responsibilities and accountability to significantly
ensure that all banking operations are completed as per related policies and procedures and within the Bank’s strategy
and risk tolerance as well as appetite.

Summary of the Code of Ethics and Professional Conduct
The Chairman of the Board issued the “Code of Ethics and Professional Conduct” (The Code) which was circulated to the
Bank’s entire staff for use as a guideline while conducting daily banking operations. The Code requires all employees to
avoid activities that may result in conflict of interest between customers or employees. Moreover, the Bank encourages
“whistle-blowing” by employees when witnessing any form of wrongdoing or unethical behavior, even when a senior
manager or colleague is involved.

Disclosure Policy
BankMed is committed to providing timely, accurate and balanced disclosure of all material information about the
Bank to the broadest possible audience. This Disclosure Policy demonstrates the Bank’s commitment to transparency in
reporting obligations to its stakeholders.
The Bank discloses several topics of interest to stakeholders and other interested parties, through the annual reports, or
through the Bank’s internet site (www.bankmed.com.lb).
To ensure transparency, the Bank’s annual reports disclose correct and fair accounting information prepared in
accordance with applicable standards. The disclosed financial statements include complete financial information and
data, not just summaries. The statements are kept confidential until published in a manner that will reach the broadest
possible audience in a timely manner.
In order to maintain transparency and fair dealings with related parties, the Bank is committed to apply the requirements
of Articles 152 and 158 of the Lebanese Money and Credit Law and Commercial Law, respectively. The Articles require
strict approval rules and conditions on Bank’s facilities granted to any member of its Board, executive management,
or principle shareholders or members of their families. Facilities are subjected to the pre-approval of the Shareholders’
Assembly and Board, and are secured by adequate and sufficient collaterals.

BankMed Relation with Affiliated Companies and Banks
The Board and Executive Management, acting in the discharge of their corporate governance responsibilities, have
established the general strategy and policies of the corporate governance structure at affiliated foreign Banks that
correspond with the Bank’s own policies and local laws in the hosting countries. In this respect, the Bank has established
several policies in its Turkish (T-Bank) and Swiss (BankMed Suisse) affiliated Banks and in its investment arm in Saudi Arabia
(SaudiMed Investment Company) to include a Corporate Governance Policy, Audit Committee and Internal Policies for
the Internal Audit and Internal Control functions, and a Code of Ethics & Professional Conduct.
As per BDL’s Circular number 110, which requires Banks to perform an effective and adequate control over the
Bank’s affiliated foreign Banks, the Bank has established an “International Committee” (The Committee) from its senior
management to follow up on the status of these international subsidiaries. The Committee consists of specialists in Risk
Management, Financial Control, Corporate Governance and Internal Audit. Furthermore, the Internal Audit regularly
visits these entities to review their operations and assess the adequacy of their internal controls and financial conditions.
Some members of the Bank’s Board are also Board Members in the affiliated Banks, which helps the Bank’s Board to
exercise additional oversight over such affiliates.
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Facts
Length:
38 km
Basin:
228 km²
Average flow:
5.38 m³/s
Average Annual Volume:
166.93 mm³

NAHR EL-DAMOUR
Nahr el-Damour is a river originating mainly from el-Safa, el-Qaa and Ain Dara
springs in the Chouf area of Mount Lebanon. It flows into the Mediterranean Sea
south of Damour city, south of Beirut. It provides Beirut with its potable water
needs and helps with the irrigation of the famous banana fields.
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Corporate Social Responsibility
BankMed’s Commitment to Corporate
Social Responsibility in Action
Working at the intersection of Social, Environmental
and Core Business Values

Whether in environmental initiatives and raising awareness, promoting sports, reviving culture, or supporting community
development, BankMed has certainly asserted its position as a the leading socially responsible and active Bank in Lebanon.
BankMed’s tangible actions have proven its commitment to giving back to the country we are very proud of and preserving
its spectacular natural and cultural heritage. Our success in promoting our ideas is driven mainly by the success of BankMed’s
ongoing advertising and raising awareness campaigns that have become extremely popular.
Launched in 2009 as a two-year project, BankMed’s pioneering environmental initiative ‘Happy Planet’ completed its third
successful year in 2011, thanks to the great feedback received from the Bank’s various stakeholders. Happy Planet has
portrayed the Bank’s serious efforts to raise awareness on, as well as to present solutions to, environmental challenges
stemming from climate change and global warming. Part of the program has been geared towards educating the general
public and students at all levels on the importance of creating a healthier and cleaner planet. BankMed has taken upon
itself to become an ambassador of change in Lebanon and an advocate speaking on the challenges facing Lebanon’s
natural resources. In order to fulfill this role, BankMed has been determined to cooperate and partner with relevant ministries,
educational institutions, and civil society organizations.
At its initiation, the Happy Planet program included studies and action plans geared towards taking care of the environment
and the rehabilitation of various sites across Lebanon. The program then came to embrace different phases, starting in
early 2009 with comprehensive and wide spread “Leading the Green Way” advertising campaign to raise awareness. Since
then, BankMed has adopted several projects with a prime objective: improving the environment. The projects ranged from
planting trees in several villages and reserves, cleaning shores, building solar energy lighting, and promoting eco-friendly
cars.
In its latest project ‘Cleaning the Lebanese Rivers’ initiative, launched in September 2011, BankMed has pledged to clean
Lebanon’s 12 major rivers and starting with the cleaning of Abou Ali River in Tripoli in October. The significance of this project
is that it involves BankMed cardholders, where every time they swipe their ‘eco- friendly’ credit card, they will be donating
funds dedicated to this initiative. In other words, a BankMed cardholder will be actively contributing to the cleaning of
Lebanon’s rivers.
In terms of raising awareness, BankMed’s media campaigns throughout 2011 were a clear indicator to our success. ‘Shu
we2fet 3alayye’ (or ‘Am I the only one’), the catchphrase of a BankMed environmental advertising campaign, could be
heard uttered among the Lebanese population on a wide range at almost every occasion.

In regards to responsible business operations, BankMed has supported what is generally termed ‘Green Banking’. The
Bank has started encouraging customers to shift to online banking, which would serve to leave a friendlier footprint on
the environment, and giving better rates for energy-efficient projects. Moreover, it is vital to mention that BankMed has
committed to offsetting its Corporate Headquarters’ carbon footprint, making it the first Lebanese bank to do so.
BankMed has worked on steering its efforts towards schools and students given the fact that they are tomorrow’s legacy
and incorporate this into educational environmental programs. BankMed re-launched the Green School and Student
Competition, which involved more than 1,000 schools and over 5,000 students, for the second year in a row to raise
environmental awareness among Lebanese youth. In parallel to this, we have dedicated June 5th, the United Nations
World Environment Day, as BankMed Environment Day.
Another education-driven initiative is ‘The Little Engineer’ project dedicated towards teaching the younger population
about renewable energy. It also aimed to empower young minds to tackle global challenges related to depleting energy
sources and avoiding pollution. The E-Eco Education program, in collaboration with BankMed and launched in October
of 2011, consisted of a caravan turned school-on-wheels with the aim of educating young students on the importance
of respecting and preserving the environment. Last but not least, BankMed sponsored the Student StarPack 2011
Competition, which sought to promote sustainability among students and universities. In addition, BankMed launched a
website (www.bankmedhappyplanet.com) in order to keep people informed of all the eco-friendly tips and up-to-date
with the projects and activities that we are undertaking.
BankMed also continues to play an active role in Lebanon’s vibrant sports scene as part of our commitment to help
develop the talents and skills of Lebanon’s youth and promising athletes. It sponsored local basketball and football teams
and a number of sports tournaments and events such as the Annual Francophone Games. Moreover, BankMed sponsors
its own employee football and basketball teams who regularly participate in inter-bank games and tournaments.
Another aspect of BankMed’s community contribution, and in line with its mission to build an improved generation, is its
ongoing support to preserving Lebanon’s rich cultural heritage through sponsoring annual cultural events and festivals.
In 2011, such events included the 18th Francophone Book Fair; the widely popular and annual Beiteddine Music Festival;
the Middle East, North Africa and South East Asia (MENASA) Art Fair sponsored by BankMed for the second consecutive
year; the yearly Beirut Garden Show; the Beirut Horse Race Cup; and the year-end festivities in Beirut’s Central District.
Furthermore, BankMed continued to mobilize its efforts towards community development and women empowerment,
by providing financial support to the less advantaged segment of the Lebanese population. For this purpose, BankMed
established Emkan Finance S.A.L., a fully owned subsidiary by the Bank and licensed by BDL, to provide microfinance loans
for both men and women alike. Emkan Finance, backed by the support of BankMed, supports community development
by providing microfinance loans to various sections of the economy especially in rural and sub-urban developing areas.
For comprehensive reporting on our CSR initiatives, please find enclosed BankMed’s first CSR Report for the year 2011.
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Facts
Length:
170 km
Basin:
n.a.
Average flow:
5.38 m³/s
Average Annual Volume:
167.83 mm³

EL-LITANI
Nahr el-Litani is a river originating from south of Baalbek at el-Olleik springs. However many tributaries contribute to its flow including the Tirbul, el-Berdaouni, Anjar
and Ammik rivers. The river flows into the Mediterranean Sea at about 9 km north
of Tyre South Lebanon where it is known as el-Qasmieh river. It is Lebanon’s longest river and is fully located within the Lebanese territories. The Qaraoun Lake is
located on the Litani course. It was historically known as the Leontes river.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders
BankMed S.A.L.
Beirut, Lebanon

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of BankMed S.A.L. and its Subsidiaries
(the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2011, and
the consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements, within the framework of the existing banking laws in Lebanon. The procedures selected
depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of BankMed S.A.L. Group as of December 31,2011, and its consolidated financial
performance and consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standarts.

Beirut, Lebanon
March 22, 2012

Deloitte & Touche

E
Ernstt & Y
Young
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
December 31,
ASSETS

Notes

2011
LBP’000

2010
LBP’000

Cash and central banks

6

2,840,697,709

2,159,955,489

Deposits with banks and financial institutions

7

1,555,207,668

1,683,273,938

profit or loss

8

364,643,216

36,955,932

Loans to banks

9

168,598,549

203,593,711

Loans and advances to customers

10

5,260,185,295

4,347,093,167

Loans and advances to related parties

11

1,011,080,198

961,685,490

Investment securities

12

5,418,525,207

6,521,648,650

Customers’ acceptance liability

13

74,426,191

137,474,027

Investments in associates and other investments

14

105,625,896

96,598,425

Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans

15

403,116,380

144,076,940

Goodwill

16

177,942,436

177,982,424

Property and equipment

17

214,622,376

196,410,545

Other assets

18

180,720,979

196,890,849

17,775,392,100

16,863,639,587

1,369,906,453

1,410,210,311

442,462,209

333,082,429

1,042,743,506

1,000,713,349

1,103,352,699

1,497,827,895

Financial assets at fair value through

Total Assets

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS WITH
OFF-BALANCE SHEET RISK

40

Guarantees and standby letters of credit
Documentary and commercial letters of credit
Forward exchange contracts
FIDUCIARY DEPOSITS AND ASSETS
UNDER MANAGEMENT

41

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES 1 TO 49 FORM AN INTEGRAL PART OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LIABILITIES
Deposits from banks and ﬁnancial institutions
Customers’ deposits at fair value
through proﬁt or loss
Customers' deposits at amortized cost
Related parties' deposits at fair value through
proﬁt or loss
Related parties' deposits at amortized cost
Acceptances payable
Borrowings from banks and ﬁnancial institutions
Certiﬁcates of deposit
Other liabilities
Provisions
Total liabilities

Notes
19

December 31,
2011
2010
LBP’000
LBP’000
728,826,003

626,621,104

20
21

6,453,686
47,660,044
12,079,765,737 11,751,718,792

22
23
13
24
25
26
27

2,950,037
2,201,998,805 1,472,912,685
74,426,191
137,474,027
497,224,180
436,275,546
453,448,506
453,020,994
202,187,434
232,909,223
41,661,991
37,837,446
16,285,992,533 15,199,379,898

EQUITY
Share capital
Preferred shares
Legal reserve
Property revaluation reserve
Reserve for general banking risks
and other reserves
Reserves for assets acquired in satisfaction
of loans
Retained earnings
Cumulative change in fair value of ﬁnancial
assets through other comprehensive
income/ available-for-sale securities
Currency translation adjustment
Proﬁt for the year
Equity attributable to the Group
Non-controlling interest
Total equity
Total Liabilities and Equity

28
29
30

620,000,000
150,750,000
70,731,064
3,213,000

530,000,000
150,750,000
55,177,146
3,213,000

30

118,997,879

81,967,343

15 & 30

7,200,617
287,999,438

4,525,239
238,530,586

31

(36,367,785)
(46,619,657)
175,291,707
1,351,196,263
138,203,304
1,489,399,567

354,569,002
( 20,963,486)
157,270,645
1,555,039,475
109,220,214
1,664,259,689

32

17,775,392,100 16,863,639,587
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CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT
Year Ended December 31,
Notes

2011
LBP’000

2010
LBP’000

Interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income

33
34

1,004,822,120
(678,106,506)
326,715,614

976,851,024
(682,398,615)
294,452,409

Fee and commission income
Fee and commission expense
Net fee and commission income

35
36

72,742,346
(7,422,310)
65,320,036

73,617,965
(12,594,385)
61,023,580

37

7,787,014

(270,346)

12
38

71,025,134
84,240,152

46,806,226
134,454,716

555,087,950

536,466,585

(31,169,180)
(286,898)

(45,960,663)
(503,677)

523,631,872

490,002,245

39
17

(154,144,099)
(143,802,702)
(16,325,259)

(134,346,216)
(160,704,026)
(16,045,684)

15

2,574,506

1,838,184

27

(2,190,954)

202,822

25

209,743,364
(32,675,073)
177,068,291

180,947,325
(21,754,329)
159,192,996

175,291,707
1,776,584
177,068,291

157,270,645
1,922,351
159,192,996

Net results on financial instruments at
fair value through profit or loss
Gain from derecognition of financial assets
measured at amortized cost
Other operating income
Net operating revenues
Provision for credit losses (net of write-back)
Loss from write-off of loans (net)
Net operating revenues after impairment
charge for credit losses
Staff costs
Administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Write-back of impairment of assets
acquired in satisfaction of loans
(Provision for)/write-back of provision
for contingencies
Profit before taxes
Income tax expense
Profit for the year
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Group
Non-controlling interest

10
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year Ended
December 31,
2011
LBP’000
Profit for the year

2010
LBP’000

177,068,291

159,192,996

(45,730,359)

(6,721,700)

(139,130,500)

(106,232,168)

Other comprehensive income (“OCI”)
Currency translation adjustment
Net (loss) on financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income / available-for-sale
securities
Net (loss) on available-for-sale securities
recycled to income statement
Income tax relating to components of OCI
Net other comprehensive loss for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year

-

( 37,702,494)

19,365,603

21,439,851

(165,495,256)

(129,216,511)

11,573,035

29,976,485

29,870,639

29,234,916

(18,297,604)

741,569

11,573,035

29,976,485

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Group
Non-controlling interest
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-

-

-

-

Allocation of 2010 proﬁt

Transfer from retained earnings to reserve for general banking risk

Disposal of assets acquired in satisfaction of loans – Note 15

Decrease in non-controlling interest in a subsidiary – Note 44

-

Other
150,750,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

150,750,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

150,750,000

Preferred
Shares
LBP’000

70,731,064

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

16,042,698

(488,780)

-

-

55,177,146

-

-

-

-

13,812,069

428,806

-

40,936,271

Legal
Reserves
LBP’000

3,213,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

3,213,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

3,213,000

Property
Revaluation
Reserve
LBP’000

118,997,879

-

-

-

-

-

290,644

16,698,894

20,040,998

-

-

-

81,967,343

-

-

-

-

10,887,615

-

-

71,079,728

7,200,617

-

-

-

-

-

( 290,644)

-

2,966,022

-

-

-

4,525,239

-

-

-

( 521,860)

2,693,109

-

-

2,353,990

287,999,438

564,142

( 56,908,125)

-

-

-

-

( 16,698,894)

118,220,927

( 967,585)

-

5,258,387

238,530,586

( 260,968)

( 49,747,500)

(19,440,629)

521,860

107,291,980

1,666,798

-

198,499,045

(36,367,785)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(119,764,897)

(271,171,890)

354,569,002

-

-

-

-

-

-

(123,141,721)

477,710,723

Equity Attributable to the Group
Cumulative change
in fair value of
Reserve
financial assets
for Assets
through other
Acquired in
comprehensive
Satisfaction
Retained
income available-for
of Loans
Earnings
sale-Securities
LBP’000
LBP’00
LBP’000
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620,000,000

-

Dividend declared – Note 28

Balance at December 31, 2011

-

Effect of capital increase in subsidiary bank

90,000,000

-

Difference of exchange

Capital increase – Note 28

-

-

Effect of IFRS9 early adoption – Note 5

530,000,000

Total comprehensive income - 2011

Balance at December 31, 2010

-

Other

-

Disposal of assets acquired in satisfaction of loans – Note 15

-

-

Allocation of 2009 proﬁt

-

-

Difference of exchange

Acquisition of non-controlling interest in subsidiary bank

-

Total comprehensive income- 2010

Dividends declared – Note 26 and 27

530,000,000

Balance at December 31, 2009

Capital
LBP’000

Reserve
for General
Banking
Risks
and Other
Reserves
LBP’000

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

( 46,619,657)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

( 25,656,171)

-

(20,963,486)

-

-

-

-

-

-

( 4,894,008)

(16,069,478)

Currency
Translation
Adjustment
LBP’000

175,291,707

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(157,270,645)

-

175,291,707

-

157,270,645

-

-

-

-

(134,684,773)

-

157,270,645

134,684,773

Proﬁt for
the Year
LBP’000

1,351,196,263

564,142

(56,908,125)

-

90,000,000

-

-

-

-

( 1,456,365)

29,870,639

( 265,913,503)

1,555,039,475

( 260,968)

(49,747,500)

(19,440,629)

-

-

2,095,604

29,234,916

1,593,158,052

Total
LBP’000

138,203,304

93,023

-

51,101,700

-

(161,092)

-

-

-

-

(18,297,604)

( 3,752,937)

109,220,214

-

-

( 20,536,357)

-

-

-

741,569

129,015,002

Non-Controlling
Interest
LBP’000

1,489,399,567

657,165

(56,908,125)

51,101,700

90,000,000

( 161,092)

-

-

-

( 1,456,365)

11,573,035

( 269,666,440)

1,664,259,689

( 260,968)

( 49,747,500)

( 39,976,986)

-

-

2,095,604

29,976,485

1,722,173,054

Total
Equity
LBP’000

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS
Year Ended
December 31,
Notes
Cash flows from operating activities:
Profit for the year
Adjustments for:
Write-back of provision for impairment of assets acquired in
satisfaction of loans
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for/(write-back of provision for) credit losses (net)
Provision for collective impairment
Loss from write-off of loans
Provision for end of service indemnity
(Write-back of)/provision for contingencies
Effect of exchange rate fluctuation on goodwill
Amortization of discount on certificates of deposit
Realized loss on sale of trading securities financial assets through
profit or loss
Realized gain on sale of available-for-sales securities
Realized gain from derecognition of financial assets at amortized cost
Unrealized gain on financial assets through profit or loss/trading securities
Income from associates at equity method
Accretion of securities premium
Gain from sale of property and equipment
Gain on sale of assets acquired in satisfaction of loans
Currency translation adjustment
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Loans to banks
Increase in loans and advances to customers
(Increase)/decrease in loans and advances to related parties
(Decrease)/increase in deposits with banks and financial institutions
and compulsory deposits and deposits with central banks
Increase in other assets
Increase in deposits from banks and financial institutions
Increase in other liabilities
Decrease in customers’ deposits at fair value through profit or loss
Decrease in related parties’ deposits at fair value through profit or loss
Increase in customers’ deposits at amortized cost
Increase in related parties’ deposits at amortized cost
Decrease in provisions for contingencies
Increase/(decrease) in minority interest
Exchange difference on retained earnings and legal reserves
Net cash (used in)/provided operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Decrease/(increase) in investment securities
(Increase)/decrease in investments in associates and other investments
Increase in assets acquired in satisfaction of loans
Increase in property and equipment
Proceeds from sale of assets acquired in satisfaction of loans
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Acquisition of additional interest in subsidiary
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities

27
27
16
25
37
38
12
37
38
38
38

43

43
43

43
43
43
43
15

Cash flows from financing activities:
Capital injection
Decrease in certificates of deposit
Increase in other borrowings
Dividends paid
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents - Beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents – End of year

43
43

2011

2010

LBP’000

LBP’000

177,068,291

159,192,996

(2,574,506)
16,325,259
4,377,869
26,791,311
286,898
3,986,969
2,190,954
39,988
427,513

(1,838,184)
16,045,684
(5,371,711)
51,332,374
503,677
4,178,075
(202,822)
(3,974,890)
718,291

(57,405)
(71,025,134)
7,798,895
(2,808,657)
13,737,560
(805,042)
(8,231,466)
(25,656,171)
(42,199,309)
(2,777,165)
(1,064,277,894)
(49,394,708)

(48,694,718)
(46,806,226)
76,424
(8,157,325)
19,941,479
(542,062)
(10,513,294)
(4,894,008)
48,010,150
(22,405,070)
(886,521,728)
176,781,702

(419,494,457)
(58,533,082)
119,742,437
24,746,633
(41,762,214)
(2,950,037)
328,046,945
729,086,120
(2,353,378)
27,206,506
(1,456,365)
(314,496,842)

629,194,713
(10,029,278)
59,691,517
41,052,715
(113,156,249)
(33,658)
992,945,259
59,966,304
(11,516,413)
(21,717,139)
2,095,604
1,065,352,189

460,145,897
(5,322,356)
(90,978,971)
(34,586,585)
40,362,804
1,554,575
371,175,364

(798,222,637)
365,243
(1,698,337)
(29,289,899)
22,266,710
1,722,704
(19,440,629)
(824,296,845)

90,000,000
60,948,634
(56,908,125)
94,040,509

(265,014,154)
52,009,944
(49,747,500)
(262,751,710)

150,719,031
1,572,763,823
1,723,482,854

(21,696,366)
1,594,460,189
1,572,763,823
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011

1. GENERAL INFORMATION
BankMed S.A.L. (the “Bank”) is a Lebanese joint stock company, registered under Number 5261 in the Lebanese
Commercial Register on August 13, 1950 and under Number 22 in the list of banks published by the Central Bank
of Lebanon. The principal activities of the Bank and its subsidiaries (the Group) consist of conventional commercial and
private banking through a network of 58 branches in Lebanon in addition to a branch in Cyprus, a subsidiary in Switzerland
and a subsidiary in Turkey (with 27 branches).
BankMed S.A.L. is wholly owned by GroupMed (Holding) S.A.L. and its headquarters are located in Clemenceau, Beirut,
Lebanon.

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRSs)
2.1 Early adopted Standard during the current period
In the current year, the Group has applied IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (as issued in November 2009 and revised in October
2010) and the related consequential amendments in advance of their effective dates. The date of initial application is of
January 1, 2011. Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 have been applied on a retrospective
basis without restatement of prior periods as permitted by the Standard.
Financial assets
IFRS 9 introduces new classification and measurement requirements for financial assets that are within the scope of IAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. Specifically IFRS 9 requires all financial assets to be classified and
subsequently measured at either amortized cost or fair value on the basis of the entity’s business model for managing the
financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.
As required by IFRS 9, debt instruments are measured at amortized cost only if the asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual terms of the financial
asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding. If either of the two criteria is not met, the debt instruments are classified as at fair value through profit or loss
(FVTPL).
However, the Group may choose at initial recognition to designate a debt instrument that meets the amortized cost criteria
as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
Debt instruments that are subsequently measured at amortized cost are subject to impairment.
Investments in equity instruments are classified and measured as at FVTPL except when the equity investment is not held
for trading and is designated by the Group as at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI). If the equity
investment is designated as at FVTOCI, all gains and losses, except for dividend income that is generally recognized in
profit or loss in accordance with IAS 18 Revenue, are recognized in other comprehensive income and are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss.

For debt instruments not designated at fair value through profit or loss under the fair value option, reclassification is required
between fair value through profit or loss and amortized cost, or vice versa, if the Group’s business model objective for its
financial assets changes so that its previous measurement basis no longer applies.
IFRS 9 requires that derivatives embedded in contracts with a host that is a financial asset within the scope of the standard
are not separated. Instead the hybrid financial instrument is assessed in its entirety as to whether it should be measured at
amortized cost or fair value.
As at January 1, 2011, the directors have reviewed and assessed the Group’s existing financial assets. The impact resulting
from the initial application of IFRS 9 on the Group’s financial assets is detailed under Note 5. Differences between the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities from the adoption of IFRS 9 are recognized in opening retained
earnings.
Financial liabilities
IFRS 9 also contains requirements for the classification and measurement of financial liabilities. One major change in the
classification and measurement of financial liabilities relates to the accounting for changes in the fair value of a financial
liability (designated as at fair value through profit or loss) attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability.
Specifically, under IFRS 9, for financial liabilities that are designated as at fair value through profit or loss, the amount of change
in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is presented in other
comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive
income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in the fair value attributable to a financial
liability’s credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Previously, under IAS 39, the entire amount of the
change in the fair value of the financial liability designated as at fair value through profit or loss was presented in profit or loss.

2.2 Standards and Interpretations effective for the current period
The following new and revised standards and interpretations have been applied in the current year with no material impact on
the disclosures and amounts reported for the current and prior years, but may affect the accounting for future transactions
or arrangements:
•

Amendments to IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (as revised in 2009) modify the definition of a related party and
simplify disclosures for government-related entities. The Bank and its subsidiary are not government-related entities
and the application of the revised definition of related party set out in IAS 24 (as revised in 2009) in the current
year has not resulted in the identification of related parties that were not identified as related parties under the
previous Standard.

•

Amendments to IAS 32 Classification of Rights Issues address the classification of certain rights issues
denominated in a foreign currency as either equity instruments or as financial liabilities. The application of the
amendments has had no effect on the amounts reported in the current and prior years because the Group has not
issued instruments of this nature.

•

Amendments to IFRIC 14 - Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement. The amendments correct an
unintended consequence of IFRIC 14 IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding
Requirements and their Interaction. The application of the amendments has had no effect on the Group’s financial
statements.

•

IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments provides guidance regarding the accounting for
the extinguishment of a financial liability by the issue of equity instruments. In particular equity instruments issued
under such arrangements are measured at their fair value, and any difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability extinguished and the fair value of equity instruments issued are recognized in profit or loss. The
application of IFRIC 19 has had no effect on the amounts reported in the current and prior years because the
Group has not entered into any transactions of this nature.

•

Improvements to IFRSs issued in 2010 – Amendments to: IFRS 1; IFRS 3 (2008); IFRS 7; IAS 1; IAS 27 (2008);
IAS34; IFRIC 13. The application of these improvements to IFRSs issued in 2010 has not had any material effect on
amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements.
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2.3 Standards and Interpretations in issue but not yet effective
The Group has not applied the following new standards, amendments and interpretations that have been issued but not
yet effective:
Effective for
annual periods
beginning on or after
•

Amendments to IFRS 7 Disclosures – Transfers of Financial Assets
increase the disclosure requirements for transactions involving
transfers of financial assets. These amendments are intended
to provide greater transparency around risk exposures of
transactions when a financial asset is transferred but the transferor
retains some level of continuing exposure in the asset. The
amendments also require disclosures where transfers of financial
assets are not evenly distributed throughout the period. Currently,
the Group has not entered into such transactions.

July 1, 2011

•

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements* replaces the parts
of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements that
deal with consolidated financial statements, and SIC 12
Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. IFRS 10 uses control as
the single basis for consolidation, irrespective of the nature of
the investee and includes a new definition of control. IFRS 10
requires retrospective application subject to certain transitional
provisions providing an alternative treatment in certain
circumstances. IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements* and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures* have been amended for the issuance of IFRS 10.

January 1, 2013

•

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements* replaces IAS 31 Interests in
Joint Ventures and SIC-13 Jointly Controlled Entities – Non
monetary Contributions by Venturers. IFRS 11 establishes
two types of joint arrangements: Joint operations and joint ventures.
The two types of joint arrangements are distinguished by the rights
and obligations of those parties to the joint arrangement. In
addition, joint ventures under IFRS 11 are required to be accounted
for using the equity method of accounting, whereas jointly controlled
entities under IAS 31 can be accounted for using the equity method
of accounting or proportionate. IAS 28 Investments in Associates
and Joint Ventures has been amended for the issuance of IFRS 11.

January 1, 2013

•

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities* is a disclosure
standard and is applicable to entities that have interests in
subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and/or unconsolidated
structured entities. In general, the disclosure requirements in IFRS
12 are more extensive than those in the current standards.

January 1, 2013

•

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement defines fair value, establishes
a single framework for measuring fair value, and requires
disclosures about fair value measurement. The scope of IFRS 13 is
broad and applies to both financial and non-financial items for which
other IFRSs require or permit fair value measurement
and disclosures about fair value measurements, except in specified
circumstances. In general, the disclosure requirements in IFRS 13
are more extensive than those required in the current standards.

January 1, 2013

•

Amendments to IAS 1 – Presentation of Other Comprehensive
Income. The amendments retain the option to present profit or loss
and other comprehensive income in either a single statement or in
two separate statements. However, items of other comprehensive
income are required to be grouped into those that will and will not
subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss with tax on items of
other comprehensive income required to be allocated on the same
basis.

July 1, 2012

•

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes provide an exception to
the general principles of IAS 12 for investment property measured
using the fair value model in IAS 40 Investment Property by the
introduction of a rebuttable presumption that the carrying amount of
the investment property will be recovered entirely through sale.

January 1, 2012

•

Amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits eliminate the “corridor
approach” and therefore require an entity to recognize changes in
defined benefit plan obligations and plan assets when they occur.

January 1, 2013

•

Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
enhancing disclosures about offsetting of financial assets and liabilities.

January 1, 2013

•

Amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation relating
to application guidance on the offsetting of financial assets and
financial liabilities.

January 1, 2013

•

IAS 28 Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures (as revised in 2011): As a consequence of the new IFRS 11
and 12, IAS 28 has been renamed IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, and describes the
application of the equity method to investments in joint ventures in addition to associates. The amendment
becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.

* In May 2011, a package of five Standards on consolidation, joint arrangements, associates and disclosures was issued,
consisting of IFRS 10, IFRS 11, IFRS 12, IAS 27 (as revised in 2011) and IAS 28 (as revised in 2011). These five standards
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. Earlier application is permitted provided that all of
these five standards are applied early at the same time.
The directors anticipate that the adoption of the above Standards and Interpretation will have no material impact on the
financial statements of the Group in the period of initial application, except for IFRS 13 which may affect the amounts
reported in the financial statements and result in more extensive disclosures in the financial statements.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
A.

Statement of Compliance:

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

B.

Basis of Preparation and Measurement:

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following:
Land and buildings acquired prior to 1993 are measured at their revalued amounts based on market prices
prevailing during 1996, to compensate for the effect of the hyper-inflationary economy prevailing in the earlier years.
Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss are measured at fair value.
Equity securities at fair value through other comprehensive income are measured at fair value.
Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value (applicable prior to January 1, 2011).
Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value.
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Assets and liabilities are grouped according to their nature and are presented in an approximate order that reflects their
relative liquidity.
The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below:

C.

Basis of Consolidation:

The consolidated financial statements of BankMed S.A.L. include the financial statements of the Bank as at December 31,
2011 and entities in which the Bank has a controlling financial interest (subsidiaries and associates, as applicable). Control
is achieved where the Bank has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits
from its activities. The Bank and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) have the same financial reporting year. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of the subsidiaries and associates to bring their accounting policies in line with those used by other
entities of the Group.
Income and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income
statement from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.
The consolidated subsidiaries as at December 31, 2011 comprise:
Country of
Incorporation
Banks and Financial Institutions:
Saudi Lebanese Bank S.A.L.
Med Investment Bank S.A.L.
(Formerly Méditerranée
Investment Bank S.A.L.)
BankMed Suisse - S.A.
Allied Business Investment
Corporation S.A.L.
Turkland Bank A.S.
Saudi Med Investment Company

Percentage of
Ownership
%

Date of
Acquisition or
Incorporation

Business Activity

Lebanon

100

January 1, 1995

Commercial Banking

Lebanon
Switzerland

100
100

January 24, 1996
August 31, 2001

Investment Banking
Private Banking

Lebanon
Turkey
Saudi Arabia

70.9
50
100

November 30, 2001
January 28, 2007
May 21, 2007

Financial and Fund Management
Commercial Banking
Corporate Finance Advisory
and asset management

Med Securities Investment Company S.A.L.
Emkan Finance S.A.L.

Lebanon
Lebanon

100
100

November 27, 2007
May 19, 2011

Financial Institution
Financial Institution

Real Estate:
Al Hana S.A.L.
Al Jinan S.A.L.
Al Shams S.A.L.
Centre Méditerranée S.A.L.
Al Hosn Real Estate II S.A.L.
Al Hosn Real Estate III S.A.L.
146 Saifi S.A.L.
Al Narjess Real Estate S.A.L.
Al Anshita Real Estate S.A.L.
Al Bani S.A.L.
Al Hosn Real Estate S.A.L.
Anbar Real Estate S.A.L.
Sakhret Bahr Real Estate S.A.L.
Laura Real Estate S.A.L.

Lebanon
Lebanon
Lebanon
Lebanon
Lebanon
Lebanon
Lebanon
Lebanon
Lebanon
Lebanon
Lebanon
Lebanon
Lebanon
Lebanon

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

December 1, 1995
December 1, 1995
December 1, 1995
January 16, 1996
February 27, 2004
February 27, 2004
January 19, 2010
February 23, 2011
February 23, 2011
April 18, 2011
October 11, 2011
October 11, 2011
October 11, 2011
November 14, 2011

Owns Bank’s Premises
Owns Bank’s Premises
Owns Bank’s Premises
Owns Bank’s Premises
Owns Bank’s Premises
Owns Bank’s Premises
Owns Bank’s Premises
Real Estate
Real Estate
Real Estate
Real Estate
Real Estate
Real Estate
Real Estate

Insurance:
GroupMed Insurance Brokers S.A.L. (GMIB)

Lebanon

100

May 20, 2003

Insurance Brokerage

Other:
Medfinance Holding Ltd.
Méditerranée Investment Bank Holding

BVI
Lebanon

100
100

January 1, 2003
December 24, 1996

Med Properties Management S.A.L.
Med Properties S.A.L. Holding

Lebanon
Lebanon

100
100

January 15, 2009
April 23, 2008

Cynvest Holding S.A.L.

Lebanon

100

December 23, 2008

Any activity outside of BVI
Investment in shares and
management of companies
Real estate management services
Investment in shares and
management of companies
Investment in shares and
management of companies

GroupMed Advisory Services Limited
(Formerly Interstar Investments Limited)

Cyprus

100

April 2, 2008

Investment in shares and
management of companies

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses (except for foreign currency transaction gains or loss) are
eliminated on consolidation. Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.
Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognized directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Bank.
Upon the loss of control, the Group derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-controlling interests and
the other components of equity related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is recognized in
profit or loss. If the Group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value at the
date that control is lost.
On October 25, 2010, the Board of Directors of BankMed S.A.L. resolved to give its initial approval for the dissolution and
liquidation of Allied Business Investment Corporation S.A.L.

D.

Business Combinations:

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs other than those associated with the
issue of debt or equity securities are generally recognized in profit or loss as incurred.
The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such amounts
are generally recognized in profit or loss.
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests
in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. When the excess is negative, a
bargain purchase gain is recognized immediately in profit or loss.
Non-controlling interests in the net assets (excluding goodwill) of consolidated subsidiaries and associates are identified
separately from the Group’s equity therein.
Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognized amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis
is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value or, when
applicable, on the basis specified in another IFRS.
Any contingent consideration payable is recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent consideration is
classified as equity, it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes to
the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognized in profit or loss.

E.

Foreign Currencies:

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Lebanese pounds “LBP”, which is the Group’s reporting currency.
However, the primary currency of the economic environment in which the Group operates (functional currency) is the U.S.
Dollar (“USD”).
In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognized at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At
the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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Exchange differences on monetary items are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for exchange
differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks, and except for exchange differences
on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to
occur in the foreseeable future, which are recognized in other comprehensive income, and presented in the translation
reserve in equity. These are recognized in profit or loss on disposal of the net investment.
For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations
are translated into Lebanese Pound using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and
expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity (attributed to non-controlling interests
as appropriate). Such exchange differences are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which the foreign operation is
disposed of.
In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognized in profit or loss.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets and liabilities acquired arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognized in equity.

F.

Financial assets and Liabilities:

Recognition and Derecognition:
The Group initially recognizes loans and advances, deposits debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the date
that they are originated. All other financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized on the trade date at which the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognized immediately in profit or loss.
A financial asset (or a part of a financial asset, or a part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognized, when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expires.
In instances where the Group is assessed to have transferred a financial asset, the asset is derecognized if the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. Where the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, the financial asset is derecognized only if the Group has not retained
control of the financial asset. The Group recognizes separately as assets or liabilities any rights and obligations created or
retained in the process.
On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortized cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognized in profit or loss.
Effective January 1, 2011, upon derecognition of a financial asset that is classified as fair value through other comprehensive
income, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit
or loss, but is reclassified to retained earnings.
Debt securities exchanged against securities with longer maturities with similar risks, and issued by the same issuer, are
not derecognized because they do not meet the conditions for derecognition. Premiums and discounts derived from the
exchange of said securities are deferred to be amortized as a yield enhancement on a time proportionate basis, over the
period of the extended maturities.

A financial liability (or a part of a financial liability) can only be derecognized when it is extinguished, that is when the obligation
specified in the contract is either discharged, cancelled or expires.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognized and the consideration paid and payable,
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognized in profit or loss.

Repurchase and Reverse Repurchase Agreements:
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase at a specified future date (“repos”) are not derecognized from the statement
of financial position. The corresponding cash received, including accrued interest, is recognized on the statement of financial
position reflecting its economic substances as a loan to the Group. The difference between the sale and repurchase prices
is treated as interest expense and is accrued over the life of the agreement using the effective interest rate method.

Offsetting:
Financial assets and liabilities are set off and the net amount is presented in the statement of financial position when, and
only when, the Group has a legal right to set off the amounts or intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

Fair Value Measurement:
Fair value is the amount agreed to exchange an asset or to settle a liability between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an
arm’s length transaction.
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:
•

the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on active
liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices. A financial instrument is regarded as quoted
in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available and those prices represent actual and
regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis;

•

the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities and those traded in inactive markets (excluding
derivative instruments) are determined either based on quoted prices adjusted downward for factors related to
illiquidity or in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using
prices from observable current market transactions, as applicable; and

•

the fair value of derivative instruments, are calculated using quoted prices. Where such prices are not available,
use is made of discounted cash flow analysis using the applicable yield curve for the duration of the instruments for
non-optional derivatives, and option pricing models for optional derivatives.

Impairment of Financial Assets:
Effective January 1, 2011, financial assets that are measured at amortised cost are assessed for impairment at the end of
each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial assets, the estimated future cash flows of the
asset have been affected.
Objective evidence of impairment could include:
•

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

•

breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

•

it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

•

the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

•

significant or prolonged decline in fair value beyond one business cycle that occurred after the initial recognition of
the financial asset or group of financial assets which impacted the estimated future cash flows of the investment.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

97

For certain categories of financial asset, such as loans and advances, assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually
are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. This provision is estimated based on various factors including
credit ratings allocated to a borrower or group of borrowers, the current economic conditions, the experience the Group
has had in dealing with a borrower or group of borrowers and available historical default information, as well as observable
changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on loans and advances.
The amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows reflecting the amount of collateral and guarantee, discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or
loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
Prior to January 1, 2011, when an available-for-sale financial asset was considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or
losses previously recognized in other comprehensive income were reclassified to profit or loss in the period.
With the exception of available-for-sale equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreased and the decrease could be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the
previously recognized impairment loss was reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
investment at the date the impairment was reversed did not exceed what the amortized cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognized.
In respect of available-for-sale equity securities, any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss was recognized
directly in other comprehensive income.

Cost of Put Option:
Cost of exercise of the put option related to the redemption right of debt securities is netted from the underlying cost of the
related securities.

G.

Classification of Financial Assets:

Policy applicable effective January 1, 2011 (IFRS 9):
All recognized financial assets are measured in their entirety at either amortized cost or fair value, depending on their
classification.

Debt Instruments:
Non-derivative debt instruments that meet the following two conditions are subsequently measured at amortized cost, less
impairment loss (except for debt investments that are designated as at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition):
•

They are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets in order to collect the
contractual cash flows, rather than to sell the instrument prior to its contractual maturity to realize its fair value
changes, and

•

The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Debt instruments which do not meet both of these conditions are measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). In
addition, debt instruments that meet the amortized cost criteria but are designated as at FVTPL are measured at FVTPL.

Even if a debt instrument meets the two amortized cost criteria above, it may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognizing the gains and losses on them on different bases.

Equity Instruments:
Investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an investment that is not held for
trading as at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) on initial recognition (see below).
Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any gains or losses arising on
re-measurement recognized in profit or loss.
On initial recognition, the Group can make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate
investments in equity instruments as at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”). Investments in equity
instruments at FVTOCI are measured at fair value. Gains and losses on such equity instruments are recognized in other
comprehensive income, accumulated in equity and are never reclassified to profit or loss. Only dividend income is recognized
in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment, in which case it is
recognized in other comprehensive income. Cumulative gains and losses recognized in other comprehensive income are
transferred to retained earnings on disposal of an investment.
Designation at FVTOCI is not permitted if the equity investment is held for trading.
A financial asset is held for trading if:
•
it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or
•

on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

•

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument or a financial guarantee.

Reclassification:
Financial assets are reclassified between FVTPL and amortized cost or vice versa, if and only if, the Group’s business model
objective for its financial assets changes so its previous model assessment would no longer apply. When reclassification is
appropriate, it is done prospectively from the reclassification date.
Reclassification is not allowed where:
•
the other comprehensive income option has been exercised for a financial asset, or
•
the fair value option has been exercised in any circumstance for a financial instrument.
Policy applicable prior to January 1, 2011 (IAS 39):
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment securities are accounted for depending on their classification as either: heldto-maturity, loans and receivables, available-for-sale, or fair value through profit or loss.

Held-to-Maturity Investment Securities:
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that the
Group has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity, and which are not designated at fair value through profit or loss
or available-for-sale.
Held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortized cost.
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Loans and Receivables Investment Securities:
Loans and receivables investment securities are non-derivative assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturity that the Group has the ability to hold to maturity.
Loans and receivables investment securities are carried at amortized cost.

Available-for-Sale Investment Securities:
Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative investments that are not designated as another category of financial
assets. Unquoted equity securities whose fair value cannot be readily measured are carried at cost. All other available-forsale investments are carried at fair value and unrealized gains or losses are included in other comprehensive income.
The change in fair value on available-for-sale debt securities reclassified to held-to-maturity is segregated from the change
in fair value of available-for-sale debt securities under equity and is amortized over the remaining term to maturity of the debt
security as a yield adjustment.

Designation at Fair Value through Profit and Loss:
The Group designates financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss when either:
•
•
•

The assets or liabilities are managed, evaluated and reported internally on a fair value basis; or
The designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch which would otherwise arise; or
The asset or liability contains an embedded derivative that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise
be required under the contract.

H. Loans and Advances:
Loans and advances are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market and are classified as ‘loans and receivables’. Loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost, less
any impairment. Interest income is recognized by applying the effective interest rate. Non-performing loans and advances
to customers are stated net of unrealized interest and provision for credit losses because of doubts and the probability of
non-collection of principal and/or interest.

I.

Financial Liabilities and Equity Instruments Issued by the Group:

Classification as debt or equity:
Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognized at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss:
Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is either held for trading or it is designated as at
FVTPL.
A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:
•

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or

•

on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

•

it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging
instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:
•

such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

•

the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and
its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s documented risk management or
investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

•

it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and the entire combined contract is
designated as at FVTPL in accordance with IFRS 9.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value. Any gains or losses arising on remeasurement of held-for-trading
financial liabilities are recognised in profit or loss. Such gains or losses that are recognised in profit or loss incorporate any
interest paid on the financial liabilities and are included in the “Net interest and gain and loss on liabilities at FVTPL” the
consolidated income statement.
However, for non-held-for-trading financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the amount of change in the fair value
of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is recognised in other comprehensive
income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income would
create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. The remaining amount of change in the fair value of liability is
recognised in profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk that are recognised in other
comprehensive income are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost:
Financial liabilities that are not held-for-trading and are not designated as at FVTPL are measured at amortised cost at
the end of subsequent accounting periods. The carrying amounts of financial liabilities that are subsequently measured at
amortised cost are determined based on the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contract liabilities:
Financial guarantees contracts are contracts that require the Group to make specified payments to reimburse the holder
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. These contracts can have various judicial forms (guarantees, letters of credit, credit-insurance contracts).
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values and, if not designated at FVTPL, are
subsequently measured at the higher of:
•

the amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and

•

the amount initially recognized less, where appropriate, cumulative amortization recognized in accordance with the
revenue recognition policies set out above.

J.

Derivative Financial Instruments:

Derivative financial instruments including foreign exchange contracts, currency and interest rate swaps, (both written and
purchased) are initially measured at fair value at the date the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at each statement of financial position date. All derivatives are carried at their fair value as assets
where the fair value is positive and as liabilities where the fair value is negative. The resulting gain or loss is recognized in
the income statement immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedge instrument in which event
the timing of the recognition in the income statement depends on the hedge relationship. The Group designates certain
derivatives as either hedges of the fair value recognized assets or liabilities or firm commitments (fair value hedges), hedges
of highly probable forecast transactions or hedges of foreign currency risk of firm commitments (cash flow hedges), or
hedges of net investments in foreign operations.
Fair values are generally obtained by reference to quoted market prices, discounted cash flow models or pricing models as
appropriate as indicated under Note 3 (G).
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Embedded derivatives:
Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host contracts with embedded derivatives are treated as
separate derivatives when their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host
contract:
•
•

is not measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.
is not an asset within the scope of IFRS 9 (Policy effective January 1, 2011)

Hedge accounting:
The Group designates certain hedging instruments, which include derivatives, embedded derivatives and non-derivatives
in respect of foreign currency risk, as either fair value hedges, cash flow hedges, or hedges of net investments in foreign
operations. Hedges of foreign exchange risk on firm commitments are accounted for as cash flow hedges.
At the inception of the hedge relationship, the entity documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and
the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions.
Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument
that is used in a hedging relationship is highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item.

Fair Value Hedge:
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in profit or loss
immediately, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged item that are attributable to the hedged risk. The
change in the fair value of the hedging instrument and the change in the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk are
recognized in the line of the income statement relating to the hedged item.
Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires or is
sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. The adjustment to the carrying amount of the
hedged item arising from the hedged risk is amortized to profit or loss from that date.

Cash Flow Hedge:
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is
recognized in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognized immediately in
profit or loss.
Amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in
the periods when the hedged item is recognized in profit or loss, in the same line of the income statement as the recognized
hedged item. However, when the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a
non-financial liability, the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred from equity and included in the initial
measurement of the cost of the asset or liability.
Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires or is
sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any cumulative gain or loss deferred in equity at
that time remains in equity and is recognized when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognized in profit or loss. When
a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was deferred in equity is recognized
immediately in profit or loss.

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations:
Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. Any gain or loss on
the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognized in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognized
immediately in profit or loss.
Gains and losses accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve are reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the
foreign operation.

K.

Investments in Associates:

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a
joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee
but is not control or joint control over those policies.
The results and assets and liabilities of associates, except where the Group has control over the associates’ financial and
operating policies, are incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting, except
when the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for under IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Heldfor-Sale and Discontinued Operations. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially recognized in
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognize the Group’s share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds
the Group’s interest in that associate, the Group discontinues recognizing its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognized only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of
the associate.
Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of an associate recognized at the date of acquisition is recognized as goodwill. The goodwill is included
within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognized immediately in the income
statement.
The entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36
Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs
to sell) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognized forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any
reversal of that impairment loss is recognized in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
Temporary investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries, which the management intends to dispose of within one year from
the consolidated statement of financial position date, are reflected in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair
value that is equivalent to its net realizable value as determined on the date of the consolidated financial statements.

L.

Property and Equipment:

Property and equipment except for buildings acquired prior to 1993 are stated at historical cost, less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment loss. Buildings acquired prior to 1993 are stated at their revalued amounts, based on
market prices prevailing during 1996 less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, if any. Resulting revaluation
surplus is reflected under “Equity”.
Depreciation of property and equipment, other than land and advance payments on capital expenditures, is calculated
systematically using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets using the following annual
rates:
Buildings
Office improvements and installations
Furniture
Equipment and machines
Computer equipment
Vehicles

2%
12.5 % - 20%
8% - 20%
7% - 25%
20% - 33.33%
10% - 20%

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from
its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is recognized under “Other operating income” in the consolidated
income statement in the year the asset is derecognized.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 103

M. Intangible Assets other than Goodwill:
Intangible assets consisting of computer software are amortized over a period of three years and are subject to impairment
testing. Subsequent expenditure on software assets is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits
embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is expensed as incurred.

N.

Goodwill:

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost. Refer to Note 3C for the measurement of goodwill at initial
recognition. Subsequent to initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any.
On disposal of a subsidiary or a jointly controlled entity, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination
of the profit or loss on disposal.
The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate is described under “Investments in Associates”.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for
impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognized for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

O.

Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans:

Real estate property acquired by the Group’s Lebanese entities through the enforcement of security over loans and advances
are measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. The acquisition of such assets is regulated by the local
banking authorities who require the liquidation of these assets within 2 years from acquisition. In case of default of liquidation
the Group’s lead regulator requires an appropriation of a special reserve from the yearly net income that is reflected under
equity.

P.

Investment Properties:

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment loss. Gain or losses arising from
changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in the income statement. Valuations are carried out by
independent qualified values on the basis of current market values.

Q.

Impairment of Tangible and Intangible Assets (Other than Goodwill):

At each statement of financial position date, the carrying amounts of tangible and intangible assets are reviewed to determine
whether there is any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated in order to determine the extent of impairment provision required, if any.
Recoverable amount is defined as the higher of:
•

Fair value that reflects market conditions at the statement of financial position date, less cost to sell, if any. To
determine fair value the Group adopts the market comparability approach using as indicators the current prices for
similar assets in the same location and condition.

Value in use: the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the continuing use of the asset and
from its disposal at the end of its useful life, only applicable to assets with cash generation units.
If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (cash-generating unit) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried
at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.
In this connection, the recoverable amount of the Group’s owned properties and of properties acquired in satisfaction
of debts, is the estimated market value, as determined by real estate appraisers on the basis of market compatibility by
comparing with similar transactions in the same geographical area and on the basis of the expected value of a current sale
between a willing buyer and a willing seller, that is, other than in a forced or liquidation sale after adjustment for illiquidity and
market constraints.
The impairment loss is charged to income.

R.

Employees’ Benefits:

Obligations for contributions to defined employees’ benefits are recognized as an expense on a current basis.
Employees’ End-of-Service Indemnities: (Under the Lebanese Jurisdiction)
The provision for staff termination indemnities is based on the liability that would arise if the employment of all the staff were
terminated at the statement of financial position date. This provision is calculated in accordance with the directives of the
Lebanese Social Security Fund and Labor laws based on the number of years of service multiplied by the monthly average
of the last 12 months remunerations and less contributions paid to the Lebanese Social Security National Fund.
Defined benefit plans: (Under other jurisdictions)
Obligations in respect of defined benefit pension plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of
future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted
to determine its present value, and any unrecognized past service costs and the fair value of any plan assets are deducted.

S.

Provisions:

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that the
Group will be required to settle that obligation. Provision is measured at the best estimate of the consideration required to
settle the obligation at the statement of financial position date.
Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party,
the receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the
receivable can be measured reliably.
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T.

Revenue and Expense Recognition:

Interest income and expense are recognized on an accrual basis, taking account of the principal outstanding and the rate
applicable, except for non-performing loans and advances for which interest income is only recognized upon realization.
Interest income and expense include the amortization discount or premium.
Interest income and expense presented in the income statement include:
•
Interest on financial assets and liabilities at amortized cost.
•
Interest on available-for-sale investment securities (prior to January 1, 2011).
•
Fair value changes in qualifying derivatives, including hedge ineffectiveness, and related hedged items when interest
rate risk is the hedged risk.

Net trading income presented in the income statement includes:
•
Interest income and expense on the trading portfolio.
•
Dividend income on the trading equities.
•
Realized and unrealized gains and losses on the trading portfolio.
Interest income on financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss and interest income on the trading portfolio
are presented separately in the income statement.
Other net income from financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss, other than those held for trading,
includes:
•
•
•

Dividend income.
Realized and unrealized fair value changes.
Foreign exchange differences.

Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is established. Dividends on equity instruments designated
as at fair value through other comprehensive income in accordance with IFRS 9, are presented in other revenue, unless
the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the investment, in which case it is presented in other comprehensive
income. Prior to January 1, 2011 dividends on available-for-sale securities were presented in other revenue.
Fees and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset or liability (i.e.
commissions and fees earned on the loan book) are included under interest income and expense.
Other fees and commission income are recognized as the related services are performed.

U.

Income Tax:

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in the
income statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive income (OCI), in which
case it is recognized in OCI.
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using rates enacted at the statement of financial
position date. Income tax payable is reflected in the consolidated statement of financial position net of taxes previously
settled in the form of withholding tax.
Deferred tax is recognized on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements
and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable profit, and are accounted for using the balance sheet
liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets
are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilized.

V.

Fiduciary Deposits:

All fiduciary deposits are held on a non-discretionary basis and related risks and rewards belong to the account holders.
Accordingly, they are reflected as off-balance sheet accounts.

W. Operating lease agreements:
Lease agreements which do not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased items
are classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments are recorded in the consolidated income statement on a
straight line basis over the lease term.

X.

Cash and Cash Equivalents:

Cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with maturities of a period of three months including: cash and balances
with the Central Banks, deposits with Banks and financial institutions, and deposits due to banks and financial institutions.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the directors are required to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

A.

Critical accounting judgments in applying the Group’s accounting policies:

Classification of Financial Assets (Applicable from January 1, 2011):
Business Model:
The business model test requires the Group to assess whether its business objective for financial assets is to collect the
contractual cash flows of the assets rather than realize their fair value change from sale before their contractual maturity.
The Group considers at which level of its business activities such assessment should be made. Generally, a business model
can be evidenced by the way business is managed and the information provided to management. However the Group’s
business model can be to hold financial assets to collect contractual cash flows even when there are some sales of financial
assets. While IFRS 9 provides some situations where such sales may or may not be consistent with the objective of holding
assets to collect contractual cash flows, the assessment requires the use of judgment based on facts and circumstances.
In determining whether its business model for managing financial assets is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash
flows the Group considers:
•
•
•
•

The frequency and volume of sales;
The reasons for any sales;
How management evaluates the performance of the portfolio;
The objectives for the portfolio.
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Characteristics of the Financial Asset:
Once the Group determines that its business model is to hold the assets to collect the contractual cash flows, it exercises
judgment to assess the contractual cash flows characteristics of a financial asset. In making this judgment, the Group
considers the contractual terms of the acquired asset to determine that they give rise on specific dates, to cash flows that
solely represent principal and principal settlement and accordingly may qualify for amortized cost accounting.
Features considered by the Group that would be consistent with amortized cost measurement include:
• Fixed and / or floating interest rate;
• Caps, floors, collars;
• Prepayment options.
Features considered by the Group that would be inconsistent with amortized cost measurement include:
•
•
•
•
•

Leverage (i.e. options, forwards and swaps);
Conversion options;
Inverse floaters;
Variable rate coupons that reset periodically;
Triggers that result in a significant reduction of principal, interest or both.

Classification of Financial Assets (Prior to January 1, 2011):
Prior to January 1, 2011, the Group’s accounting policies provided scope for investment securities to be designated on
inception into different categories in certain circumstances based on specific conditions. In classifying investment securities
as held-to-maturity, the Group had determined that it had both the positive intent and ability to hold these assets until their
maturity as required by accounting policy under Note 3(G).
In designating financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, the Group has determined that it has met one
of the criteria for this designation set out in accounting policy 3(G).

Qualifying hedge relationships:
In designating financial instruments as qualifying hedge relationships, the Group has determined that it expects the hedge
to be highly effective over the life of the hedging instrument.
In accounting for derivatives as cash flow hedges, the Group has determined that the hedged cash flow exposure relates
to highly probable future cash flows.

B.

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty:

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
statement of financial position date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
Allowances for Credit Losses:
Specific impairment for credit losses is determined by assessing each case individually. This method applies to classified
loans and advances and the factors taken into consideration when estimating the allowance for credit losses include the
counterparty’s credit limit, the counterparty’s ability to generate cash flows sufficient to settle his advances and the value of
collateral and potential repossession.

Loans and advances that have been assessed individually and found not to be impaired and all individually insignificant
loans and advances are then assessed collectively, in groups of assets with similar risk characteristics, to determine whether
provision should be made due to incurred loss events for which there is objective evidence but whose effects are not yet
evident.
The collective assessment takes account of data from the loan portfolio (such as credit quality, levels of arrears, credit
utilization, loan to collateral ratios, etc…), concentrations of risks, economic data and the performance of different individual
groups.

Determining Fair Values:
The determination of fair value for financial assets for which there is no observable market price requires the use of valuation
techniques as described in Note 3(F). For financial instruments that trade infrequently and have little price transparency, fair
value is less objective, and requires varying degrees of judgment depending on liquidity, concentration, uncertainly of market
factors, pricing assumptions and other risks affecting the specific instrument.
Where available, management has used market indicators in its mark to model approach for the valuation of the Lebanese
government debt securities and Central Bank certificates of deposit at fair value. The IFRS fair value hierarchy allocates the
highest priority to quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, and the lowest priority to
unobservable inputs. The fair value hierarchy used in the determination of fair value consists of three levels of input data for
determining the fair value of an asset or liability.
Level 1 - quoted prices for identical items in active, liquid and visible markets such as stock exchanges,
Level 2 - observable information for similar items in active or inactive markets,
Level 3 -unobservable inputs used in situations where markets either do not exist or are illiquid.
Unobservable inputs are used to measure fair value to the extent that observable inputs are not available, thereby allowing
for situations in which there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability at the measurement date. However, the
fair value measurement objective should remain the same; that is, an exit price from the perspective of a market participant
that holds the asset or owes the liability. Unobservable inputs are developed based on the best information available in
the circumstances, which may include the reporting entity’s own data. Where practical, the discount rate used in the mark
to model approach included observable data collected from market participants, including risk free interest rates and
credit default swap rates for pricing of credit risk (both own and counter party), and a liquidity risk factor which is added
to the applied discount rate. Changes in assumptions about any of these factors could affect the reported fair value of the
Lebanese Government debt securities and Central Bank certificates of deposit.

Impairment of goodwill:
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which
goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the directors to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value.

Impairment of available for-sale equity investments (Prior to January 1, 2011):
The Group determines that available for sale equity investments are impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value below its cost. This determination requires judgment. In making this judgment the Group evaluates
among other factors, the normal volatility in share price. In addition, the Group considers impairment to be appropriate
when there is evidence of deterioration in the financial health of the investee, industry and sector performance, changes in
technology, and operational and financing cash flows.
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5. CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS ON THE DATE
OF INITIAL APPLICATION OF IFRS 9:
As discussed in note 2, the Group has early adopted IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. Below is a summary of the transitional
classification and measurement adjustments to Group’s investments securities on the date of initial application of IFRS 9.
All other financial assets were classified as loans and receivables under IAS39 and have been classified at amortized cost
under IFRS 9:

Description of financial assets

Previous Classification
under IAS 39

Classification/designation
under IFRS 9

Quoted equity securities

Available for sale/Financial assets
designated at fair value upon initial
recognition

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income/Financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

Unquoted equity securities

Available for sale

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Cumulative preferred shares issued
by a Lebanese Bank

Available for sale

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Convertible preferred shares issued
by a Lebanese Bank

Available for sale

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Non-convertible preferred shares issued
by a Lebanese Bank

Available for sale

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Lebanese Government bonds

Financial assets designated at fair value
through profit and loss upon initial
recognition / Available for sale / Held to
Maturity

Financial assets at amortized cost

Certificates of Deposit issued
by the Central Bank of Lebanon

Available for sale / Held to Maturity

Financial assets at amortized cost

Certificates of deposit issued by banks

Available for sale

Financial assets at amortized cost

Corporate debt securities

Available for sale/Loans and receivables

Financial assets at amortized cost/Financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss

Foreign government bonds

Available for sale / Held to Maturity/
Financial assets designated at fair value
upon initial recognition

Financial assets at amortized cost/Financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss

Loans and advances

Loans and receivables
(carried at amortized cost)

Financial assets at amortized cost

Due from banks and financial institutions

Loans and receivables
(carried at amortized cost)

Financial assets at amortized cost

Loans to banks

Loans and receivables
(carried at amortized cost)

Financial assets at amortized cost

Impact of early adoption of IFRS 9
The impact of the early adoption on the opening retained earnings, cumulative change in fair value of financial assets and
non-controlling interest as at January 1, 2011 was as follows:

Carrying Amount
as at
December 31,2010
LBP’000
Retained earnings
Cumulative change in fair value of financial assets
Non-controlling interest

238,530,586
354,569,002
109,220,214

Carrying Amount as at
January 1, 2011 upon
Adoption of IFRS 9
LBP’000
243,788,973
83,397,112
105,467,277

Impact
of early
Adoption
LBP’000
5,258,387
(271,171,890)
(3,752,937)

Carrying
Value
LBP’000

Cumulative
Change in
Fair Value
LBP’000

697,592,374

79,782,629

Equity securities from available for sale to
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

1,374,302

(796,995)

Debt securities from available for sale to
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

253,526,980

6,055,382

4,754,691,565

265,913,503

Equity securities from available for sale to financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

Debt securities from available for sale to
financial assets at amortized cost
Debt securities from held to maturity securities to financial
assets at amortized cost
Debt securities from loans and receivables to financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss

722,200,213

-

37,687,500

-

6. CASH AND CENTRAL BANKS
December 31,
2011
LBP’000
Cash on hand
Compulsory reserves with the Central Bank of Lebanon
Current accounts with the Central Bank of Lebanon
Current accounts with other central banks
Term placements with the Central Bank of Lebanon
Term placements with other central banks
Accrued interest receivable

95,058,391
311,166,443
12,246,468
64,445,759
2,108,440,958
243,571,547
5,768,143
2,840,697,709

2010
LBP’000
105,262,800
429,971,783
13,092,770
73,848,090
1,400,769,000
135,368,002
1,643,044
2,159,955,489

Compulsory deposits with the central banks are not available for use in the Group’s day-to-day operations and are reflected
at amortized cost.
Compulsory reserves with the Central Bank of Lebanon represent non-interest earning deposits in Lebanese Pounds
computed on the basis of 25% and 15% of the average weekly sight and term customers’ deposits in Lebanese Pounds,
respectively, after taking into account certain waivers in relation to loans granted in Lebanese Pounds, in accordance with
the local banking regulations.
Term placements with the Central Bank of Lebanon include the equivalent in foreign currencies of LBP1,583billion as at
December 31, 2011 (LBP1,352billion as at December 31, 2010) deposited in accordance with local banking regulations
which require banks to maintain interest earning placements in foreign currency to the extent of 15% of customers’ deposits
in foreign currencies, certificates of deposits and loans obtained from non-resident financial institutions.
Term placements with other central banks include the equivalent in Turkish Lira and other foreign currencies of LBP144.2billion
as at December 31, 2011 (LBP93.7billion as at December 31, 2010) deposited in accordance with banking laws and
regulations in Turkey which require banks to maintain at the Central Bank of Turkey mandatory interest earning deposits to
the extent of 6% to 11% of their liabilities in Turkish Lira and 5% to 11% of their liabilities in foreign currencies, depending
on the nature of their liabilities.
Term placements with other central banks also include the equivalent in Euro of LBP36.5billion as at December 31, 2011
(LBP26.9billion as at December 31, 2010) deposited in accordance with banking laws and regulations in Cyprus which
require banks to maintain at the Central Bank of Cyprus mandatory interest earning deposits in Euro to the extent of 2% of
banks’ and customers’ deposits maturing in less than two years, after deducting a fixed amount of Euro100,000.
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7. DEPOSITS WITH BANKS
AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS
December 31,
2011
LBP’000
Checks in the course of collection
Current accounts
Current accounts - related parties
Call placements
Overnight placements
Overnight placements - related parties
Term placements
Term placements - related parties
Pledged deposits
Accrued interest receivable

56,538,733
257,105,648
1,354,758
5,325,524
407,513,300
35,074,620
653,736,210
34,450,055
100,067,850
4,040,970
1,555,207,668

2010
LBP’000
42,704,809
206,782,513
1,296,472
5,922,927
357,098,656
104,319,336
830,273,985
32,146,887
99,314,100
3,414,253
1,683,273,938

Deposits with banks and financial institutions include term placements in the amount of LBP9.8billion, current accounts in the
amount of LBP1.04billion and purchased checks in the amount of LBP1.36billion as at December 31, 2011 (LBP9.8billion
and LBP718million and LBP19million as at December 31, 2010, respectively) with right of set-off against acceptances
payable amounting to LBP8.02billion, letters of guarantee amounting to LBP390million, and letters of credit amounting to
LBP6.51billion (LBP10.19billion, LBP617million, LBP6.96billion, respectively as at December 31, 2010 in addition to current
deposits of banks and financial institutions amounting to LBP850million).

8. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS
This caption consists of the following:
December 31,
2011
2010
LBP’000
LBP’000
364,643,216
-

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (a)
Financial assets designated at fair value through
profit or loss upon initial recognition (b)
Trading assets (c)

(a)

364,643,216

35,652,375
1,303,557
36,955,932

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss consist of the following:

Debt securities issued by banks
Debt securities issued by companies
Credit linked notes issued by banks
Other foreign government bonds
Quoted equity securities
Unquoted equity securities
Accrued interest receivable

December 31,
2011
2010
Foreign Currency
Foreign Currency
Base Accounts
Base Accounts
LBP’000
LBP’000
191,226,375
79,678,573
57,471,930
16,405,079
799,454
14,256,999
4,804,806
364,643,216
-

The negative change in fair value of the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in the amount of
LBP7.2billion is recorded under “net results on financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or
loss” (note 37) in the consolidated income statement.
(b)

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition consist of the following:
December 31,
2011
2010
Foreign Currency
Foreign Currency
Base Accounts
Base Accounts
LBP’000
LBP’000

Lebanese Government bonds
Accrued interest receivable

-

35,349,368
303,007
35,652,375

Lebanese Government bonds matured on May 20, 2011. The negative change in fair value in the amount of LBP770million
for the year ended December 31, 2010 is recorded under “Net results on financial instruments designated at fair value
through profit or loss” (note 37) in the consolidated income statement.

(c)

Trading assets consist of the following:
December 31,
2010
2011
C/V of F/Cy
C/V of F/Cy
LBP’000
LBP’000

Turkish Government bonds
Quoted equity securities

-

418,608
884,949
1,303,557

9. LOANS TO BANKS
Loans to banks are reflected at amortized cost and consist of the following:
December 31,

Regular accounts
Regular accounts – related parties
Accrued interest receivable

2011
LBP’000

2010
LBP’000

150,332,386
17,787,989
478,174
168,598,549

186,017,204
17,191,577
384,930
203,593,711

Loans to banks in foreign currencies as at December 31, 2011 include LBP113.7billion (LBP90.4billion as at December 31,
2010) representing loans purchased from foreign banks, net of related unearned income in the amount of LBP914million
(LBP282million as at December 31, 2010). Purchased loans as at December 31, 2011 and 2010 are unsecured.
Loans to banks in foreign currencies also include discounted acceptances with an aggregate nominal value of LBP13.5billion
as at December 31, 2011, stated net of discount in the amount of LBP6.8million as at December 31, 2011.
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Loans to banks include loans granted in LBP to a resident housing bank and are detailed as follows:

Issuance Date

October 15, 2004
August 4, 2005
December 26, 2005
October 23, 2007

Original
Loan Amount
LBP’000
3,000,000
3,000,000
1,500,000
8,328,000
15,828,000

Outstanding Balance
2011
2010
LBP’000
LBP’000
1,500,000
1,800,000
900,000
6,662,400
10,862,400

1,800,000
2,100,000
1,050,000
7,495,200
12,445,200

As a guarantee of the above loans, the borrower has pledged in favor of the Group bills related to the housing loans granted
to its customers. These loans are for a period of 12 years with a grace period on payments of 2 years. Interest on the loans
is reset every three years.
“Regular accounts – related parties” represent the Group’s participation in a syndicated loan granted to a related party bank
and maturing on July 4, 2012.
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Deferred penalties charged on excess over limit
Accrued interest receivable

(13,950,080)
16,231,615
5,567,526,488

-

12,396,849
13,700,984
49,323,159
102,279,001

Classiﬁed Corporate Customers:
- Rescheduled substandard loans
- Substandard loans
- Rescheduled bad and doubtful loans
- Bad and doubtful loans

Allowance for collectively assessed loans:
- Corporate loans
- Retail loans

21,611,572
3,336,460,713
1,192,071,629

1,871,914
6,541,351

130,850
301,575,422
330,247,028
16,198,134
31,142,021
149,694,326

Regular Corporate customers:
- Rescheduled loans
- Corporate loans
- Small and medium enterprises’ loans

Classiﬁed Retail Customers:
- Substandard loans
- Bad and doubtful loans

Regular RetailCustomers:
- Rescheduled loans
- Mortgage loans
- Personal loans
- Credit cards
- Overdrafts
- Other

Gross
Amount
LBP’000

(87,602,905)

-

( 4,222,107)
( 6,037,761)
(35,368,449)
(40,141,428)

-

( 272,901)
(1,560,259)

-

(152,299,028)
( 9,506,384)

8,174,742
7,436,803
1,387,832
22,453,824

21,611,572
3,336,460,713
1,192,071,629

1,599,013
(474,737)

130,850
301,575,422
330,247,028
16,198,134
31,142,021
149,694,326

Carryin g
Amount
LBP’000

(13,950,080)
16,231,615
( 219,738,288) 5,260,185,295

(152,299,028)
( 9,506,384)

( 226,420)
(12,566,878)
(39,683,749)

-

(5,455,829)

-

December 31, 2011
Unrealized Impairment
Interest
Allowance
LBP’000
LBP’000

Loans and advances to customers are reflected at amortized cost and consist of the following:

10. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

-

( 5,804,698)
( 5,372,154)
( 95,690,549)
( 70,752,020)

-

(466,251)
(1,188,069)

-

(222,514,307)

(131,312,882)
( 6,478,806)

( 420,184)
( 30,255,639)
( 51,387,655)

-

(42,520)
(2,616,621)

-

December 31, 2010
Unrealized
Impairment
Interest
Allowance
LBP’000
LBP’000

(13,584,852)
15,967,054
4,748,881,215 (179,273,741)

-

13,094,613
15,076,737
128,380,119
151,213,167

24,562,837
2,845,850,022
870,330,728

3,749,284
3,608,269

206,756
113,258,239
382,562,423
13,785,558
17,676,197
163,144,064

Gross
Amount
LBP’000

(13,584,852)
15,967,054
4,347,093,167

(131,312,882)
( 6,478,806)

7,289,915
9,284,399
2,433,931
29,073,492

24,562,837
2,845,850,022
870,330,728

3,240,513
(196,421)

206,756
113,258,239
382,562,423
13,785,558
17,676,197
163,144,064

Carrying
Amount
LBP’000

The movement of unrealized interest on substandard loans during 2011 and 2010 is summarized as follows:

Balance on January 1
Additions
Write-back to income statement – Note 33
Write-off
Transfer to unrealized interest on bad and doubtful loans
Effect of exchange rate changes
Balance on December 31
Contractual write-off on rescheduled debts
Net balance, end of year

2011
LBP’000

2010
LBP’000

11,643,103
2,489,224
(2,263,913)
(883,650)
(415,170)
(36,825)
10,532,769
(1,070,782)
9,461,987

10,091,962
2,779,458
(541,907)
(536,110)
(69,470)
(80,830)
11,643,103
(1,203,819)
10,439,284

The movement of allowance for impairment on substandard loans during 2011 and 2010 is summarized as follows:

Balance on January 1
Additions
Write-back to income statement
Transfer to allowance for bad and doubtful loans
Effect of exchange rate changes
Balance on December 31

2011
LBP’000

2010
LBP’000

462,704
3,946,731
(130,806)
(3,474,916)
(577,293)
226,420

4,749,508
(4,132,785)
(154,019)
462,704

The movement of unrealized interest on doubtful and bad loans during 2011 and 2010 is summarized as follows:

Balance on January 1
Additions
Write-off
Write-back to income statement – Note 33
Transfer from unrealized interest on substandard loans
Transfer to off-balance sheet (net)
Transfer (to)/from impairment of non-consolidated subsidiary
Effect of exchange rate changes
Balance on December 31
Contractual write-off on rescheduled debts
Net balance, end of year

2011
LBP’000

2010
LBP’000

167,630,638
19,154,638
(42,673,369)
(5,743,505)
415,170
(60,976,735)
(730,323)
(6,378)
77,070,136
(7,783,138)
69,286,998

176,930,800
23,016,304
(22,806,664)
(8,894,590)
69,470
(664,299)
(20,383)
167,630,638
(57,816,447)
109,814,191

The movement of allowance for impairment on bad and doubtful loans during 2011 and 2010 is summarized as follows:
2011
LBP’000
Balance on January 1
Additions
Write-off
Write-back to income statement
Transfer from allowance for collective impairment
Transfer from allowance for substandard loans
Transfer to off-balance sheet (net)
Transfer from provision for contingencies
Transfer (to)/from impairment of non-consolidated subsidiary
Effect of exchange rate changes
Balance on December 31
Contractual write-off on rescheduled debts
(including regular rescheduled loans)
Net balance, end of year
Escrow funds
Balance end of year, (net)

2010
LBP’000

79,932,009
8,614,243
(16,288,677)
(7,805,165)
3,474,916
(11,417,695)
(728)
(1,573,929)
54,934,974

105,263,567
3,105,006
(21,740,391)
(13,127,124)
1,012,664
4,132,785
(1,861,506)
2,933,220
166
213,622
79,932,009

(12,505,838)
42,429,136
2,771,482
45,200,618

(30,192,843)
49,739,166
4,327,906
54,067,072

The movement of the escrow funds is summarized as follows:
December 31,

Balance, beginning of year
Write-back to income statement
Write-off
Transfer to off-balance sheet (net)
Balance, end of year

2011
LBP’000

2010
LBP’000

4,327,906
(247,134)
(15,106)
(1,294,184)
2,771,482

5,210,113
(99,101)
(783,106)
4,327,906

The movement of the allowance for collectively assessed loans during 2011 and 2010 is as follows:

Balance January 1
Additions net of write-back
Transfer to allowance for impairment on doubtful
and bad loans
Transfer from provision for contingencies
Effect of exchange rate changes
Balance December 31

2011
LBP’000

2010
LBP’000

137,791,688
26,791,311

87,540,498
51,332,374

(2,777,587)
161,805,412

(1,012,664)
254,847
(323,367)
137,791,688
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11. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO RELATED PARTIES
December 31,

Regular retail accounts
Regular corporate accounts
Accrued interest receivable

2011
LBP’000

2010
LBP’000

650,991,812
359,755,125
333,261
1,011,080,198

605,966,668
355,413,766
305,056
961,685,490

Loans and advances to related parties are partially secured (Note 42).

12. INVESTMENT SECURITIES
December 31, 2011
C/V of F/Cy
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

12,305,072
12,305,072

538,481,743
538,481,743

550,786,815
550,786,815

-

-

-

2,625,164,444

2,164,528,468

4,789,692,912

-

-

-

42,568,083
2,667,732,527

35,477,397
2,200,005,865

78,045,480
4,867,738,392

-

-

-

-

-

-

3,367,126,993

2,340,058,228

5,707,185,221

-

-

-

55,499,022
3,422,626,015

23,694,885
2,363,753,113

79,193,907
5,786,379,128

-

-

-

114,262,055

607,938,158

722,200,213

-

-

-

1,501,380
115,763,435

11,567,929
619,506,087

13,069,309
735,269,522

2,680,037,599

2,738,487,608

5,418,525,207

3,538,389,450

2,983,259,200

6,521,648,650

LBP
LBP’000
Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (A)

LBP
LBP’000

December 31, 2010
C/V of F/Cy
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

Accrued interest receivable on ﬁnancial

Available -for-sale investment securities (C)
Accrued interest receivable on avai lable-for-sale
investment securities

Held-to-maturity investment securities (D)
Accrued interest receivable on held-to-maturity
investment securities

A.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income were reclassified from available-for-sale investment
securities upon the early adoption of IFRS 9, effective January 1, 2011 (Refer to Note 5).

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are segregated over their remaining periods to maturity
as follows:

Foreign Currency Base Accounts
December 31, 2011
Nominal
Amortized
Fair
Value
Cost
Value
LBP’000
LBP’000
LBP’000
Convertible preferred shares
issued by a Lebanese bank:
Up to 1 year
1 year to 3 years

3,026,306
753,750
3,780,056

3,026,306
753,750
3,780,056

3,086,832
768,825
3,855,657

1,507,500
31,657,500
33,165,000
36,945,056

1,507,500
31,657,500
33,165,000
36,945,056

1,507,500
28,197,787
29,705,287
33,560,944

Non-cumulative preferred shares
issued by a Lebanese bank:
1 year to 3 years
3 years to 5 years

Dividends received during 2011 on financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income in the amount of
LBP30.37billion are reflected under “Other operating income” in the consolidated income statement (Note 38).

B.

Financial assets at amortized cost
December 31, 2011
LBP Base Accounts

Lebanese Government bonds
Certiﬁcates of deposit issued by the
Central Bank of Lebanon
Certiﬁcates of deposit issued by banks
Corporate debt securities
Other foreign government bonds

F/Cy Base Accounts

Amortized
Cost
LBP’000

Fair
Value
LBP’000

Accrued
Interest
Receivable
LBP’000

710,273,449

726,089,873

10,951,592

1,118,938,229

1,194,054,636

25,017,727

1,914,890,995
2,625,164,444

2,081,239,088
2,807,328,961

31,616,491
42,568,083

736,129,725
15,075,000
22,575,572
271,809,942
2,164,528,468

744,040,697
15,075,000
22,043,017
264,234,312
2,239,447,662

9,512,793
55,832
891,045
35,477,397

Amortized
Cost
LBP’000

Fair
Value
LBP’000

Accrued
Interest
Receivable
LBP’000

Lebanese Government bonds include as at December 31, 2011, securities in foreign currencies pledged against a long term
borrowing granted to the Group and a soft loan from the Central Bank of Lebanon reflected under “Borrowings from banks
and financial institutions” in the consolidated statement of financial position (Notes 24 & 45).
Other foreign government bonds include as at December 31, 2011, securities pledged against bank borrowings under sale
and repurchase agreement, exchange transactions with the Central Bank of Turkey, open market operations and interbank
money market transactions (Note 45).
During 2011, and to maintain and enhance its liquidity position, the Group sold certificates of deposit maturing on April 25,
2015 of nominal value USD200million and recognized gain on sale in the amount of LBP66billion.
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Gain on sale of financial assets at amortized cost consists of the following during 2011:
LBP’000
Lebanese and Turkish Government bonds
Certificates of deposits issued by Central Banks

5,233,689
65,791,445
71,025,134

The option on the certificates of deposits issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon and classified as financial assets at
amortized cost is treated in the same manner as described under available-for-sale certificates of deposits.
Financial assets at amortized cost are segregated over their remaining periods to maturity as follows:
Lebanese Pounds Base Accounts
December 31, 2011
Nominal
Amortized
Value
Cost
LBP’000
LBP’000
Lebanese Government Bonds:
Up to one year
1 year to 3 years
3 years to 5 years
5 years to 10 years

Certificates of deposit issued by
the Central Bank of Lebanon:
1 year to 3 years
3 years to 5 years
5 years to 10 years

Fair
Value
LBP’000

466,676,000
84,000,000
12,461,926
147,752,500
710,890,426

466,665,014
83,992,882
11,822,290
147,793,263
710,273,449

473,904,171
85,790,195
11,624,763
154,770,744
726,089,873

728,482,209
110,000,000
1,076,319,915
1,914,802,124
2,625,692,550

728,571,080
110,000,000
1,076,319,915
1,914,890,995
2,625,164,444

817,188,611
118,120,916
1,145,929,561
2,081,239,088
2,807,328,961

Nominal
Value
LBP’000
Lebanese Government bonds:
Up to one year
1 year to 3 years
3 years to 5 years
5 years to 10 years
Beyond 10 years

Certificates of deposit issued by the
the Central Bank of Lebanon:
Up to one year
1 year to 3 years
3 years to 5 years

Certificates of deposit issued by banks:
Up to one year

Corporate debt securities:
Up to one year
3 years to 5 years

Other foreign government bonds:
Up to one year
1 year to 3 years
3 years to 5 years
5 years to 10 years
Beyond 10 years

Foreign Currency Base Accounts
December 31, 2011
Amortized
Fair
Cost
Value
LBP’000
LBP’000

1,982,531
2,585,363
518,056,898
406,407,679
160,535,183
1,089,567,654

1,987,075
2,670,763
546,256,195
406,845,099
161,179,097
1,118,938,229

2,005,048
2,734,115
593,107,018
447,846,294
148,362,161
1,194,054,636

261,177,390
472,752,000
1,040,175
734,969,565

261,177,390
473,971,853
980,482
736,129,725

272,182,234
470,631,369
1,227,094
744,040,697

15,075,000
15,075,000

15,075,000
15,075,000

15,075,000
15,075,000

7,537,500
15,038,072
22,575,572

7,537,500
15,038,072
22,575,572

6,896,813
15,146,204
22,043,017

105,862,282
30,110,694
56,585,306
46,141,690
15,550,640
254,250,612
2,116,438,403

101,590,180
29,909,432
66,298,559
52,746,388
21,265,383
271,809,942
2,164,528,468

99,819,400
29,715,245
64,283,580
50,410,951
20,005,136
264,234,312
2,239,447,662
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Less: Deferred tax liability

Debt Securities:
Lebanese Government bonds
Certiﬁcates of deposits issued
by the Central Bank of Lebanon
Certiﬁcates of deposits issued by banks
Corporate debt securities
Other foreign government bonds

Equity securities:
Quoted equity securities
Unquoted equity securities
Cumulative preferred shares issued by a Lebanese bank
Convertible preferred sh
ares issued by a Lebanese bank
Non-cumulative preferred shares issued
by a Lebanese bank

1,301,466,729
2,053,675,851
3,355,142,580
3,367,126,993

1,900,276,406
3,163,848,258
3,174,747,931

11,984,413

10,899,673

1,263,571,852

11,984,413
-

153,399,445
191,294,322
192,379,062
( 28,856,859)
163,522,203

37,894,877

1,084,740

1,084,740
-

LBP Base Accounts
Cumulative
Fair
Change in
Value
Fair Value
LBP’000
LBP’000

10,899,673
-

Amortized
Cost
LBP’000

C. Available-for-sale investment securities

31,150,581
55,499,022
55,499,022

24,348,441

-

-

Accrued
Interest
Receivable
LBP’000

495,615,458
15,075,000
273,257,087
222,955,123
1,525,845,341
2,123,767,603

518,942,673

33,291,178
597,922,262

529,345,237
25,475,791
6,030,000
3,780,056

Amortized
Cost
LBP’000

December 31, 2010

572,607,794
15,075,000
279,102,492
232,995,819
1,653,075,965
2,340,165,260

553,294,860

33,291,178
687,089,295

619,865,996
24,122,065
6,030,000
3,780,056

Fair
Value
LBP’000

(107,032)

-

(107,032)

( 107,032)
-

Allowance for
Impairment
LBP’000

572,607,794
15,075,000
279,102,492
232,995,819
1,653,075,965
2,340,058,228

553,294,860

33,291,178
686,982,263

619,758,964
24,122,065
6,030,000
3,780,056

Carrying
Value
LBP’000

F/Cy Base Accounts

76,992,336
5,845,405
10,040,696
127,230,624
216,397,657
( 28,965,341)
187,432,316

34,352,187

89,167,033

90,520,759
(1,353,726)
-

Cumulative
Change in
Fair Value
LBP’000

5,075,949
64,995
4,632,658
158,288
23,694,885
23,694,885

13,762,995

-

-

Accrued
Interest
Receivable
LBP’000

Available-for-sale debt securities are segregated over their remaining periods to maturity as follows:

Lebanese Pounds Base Accounts
December 31, 2010
Nominal
Amortized
Value
Cost
LBP’000
LBP’000
Lebanese Government Bonds:
Up to one year
1 year to 3 years
3 years to 5 years
5 years to 10 years

Certificates of deposit issued by
the Central Bank of Lebanon:
3 years to 5 years
5 years to 10 years

701,760,000
459,650,000
1,800,000
100,405,000
1,263,615,000

701,738,586
459,604,632
1,798,723
100,429,911
1,263,571,852

722,068,450
476,178,269
1,810,960
101,409,050
1,301,466,729

761,477,554
1,138,666,903
1,900,144,457
3,163,759,457

761,609,503
1,138,666,903
1,900,276,406
3,163,848,258

875,683,068
1,177,992,783
2,053,675,851
3,355,142,580

Foreign Currency Base Accounts
December 31, 2010
Nominal
Amortized
Value
Cost
LBP’000
LBP’000
Lebanese Government bonds:
Up to one year
1 year to 3 years
3 years to 5 years
5 years to 10 years
Beyond 10 years
Certificates of deposit issued by
the Central Bank of Lebanon:
1 year to 3 years
3 years to 5 years
Certificates of deposit
issued by banks:
1 year to 3 years
Corporate debt securities:
Up to one year
1 year to 3 years
3 years to 5 years
5 years to 10 years
Foreign Government bonds:
Up to one year
1 year to 3 years
3 years to 5 years
5 years to 10 years
Beyond 10 years

Fair
Value
LBP’000

Fair
Value
LBP’000

60,300
4,076,281
61,775,843
284,581,328
143,978,310
494,472,062

60,791
4,177,150
67,253,678
302,965,975
144,485,079
518,942,673

61,697
4,380,098
68,035,024
329,584,134
151,233,907
553,294,860

261,177,390
239,903,550
501,080,940

261,177,390
234,438,068
495,615,458

286,209,428
286,398,366
572,607,794

15,075,000
15,075,000

15,075,000
15,075,000

15,075,000
15,075,000

9,110,168
21,105,000
234,597,342
6,783,750
271,596,260

9,167,453
21,325,095
236,595,849
6,168,690
273,257,087

9,149,363
20,610,682
243,518,977
5,823,470
279,102,492

22,854,834
33,009,954
97,592,574
32,847,162
18,705,576
205,010,100
1,487,234,362

23,022,038
30,713,424
107,672,657
37,422,780
24,124,224
222,955,123
1,525,845,341

23,126,751
31,320,987
114,742,338
39,438,300
24,367,443
232,995,819
1,653,075,965
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Available-for-sale preferred shares are segregated over their remaining periods to maturity as follows:

Cumulative preferred shares
issued by a Lebanese bank:
1 year to 3 years
Convertible preferred shares
issued by a Lebanese bank:
1 year to 3 years
3 years to 5 years
Non-cumulative preferred shares
issued by a Lebanese bank:
1 year to 3 years
3 years to 5 years

Foreign Currency Base Accounts
December 31, 2010
Nominal
Amortized
Value
Cost
LBP’000
LBP’000

Fair
Value
LBP’000

6,030,000
6,030,000

6,030,000
6,030,000

6,030,000
6,030,000

3,026,306
753,750
3,780,056

3,026,306
753,750
3,780,056

3,026,306
753,750
3,780,056

6,156,178
27,135,000
33,291,178

6,156,178
27,135,000
33,291,178

6,156,178
27,135,000
33,291,178

The available-for-sale investment securities outstanding as at December 31, 2010 were reclassified to financial assets
measured at amortized cost, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income following the early adoption of IFRS 9 effective January 1, 2011 (Refer to Note 5).
During 2010 and 2009, the Group exchanged with the Central Bank of Lebanon Lebanese Government Eurobonds
denominated in US Dollars with an aggregate nominal value of USD267.9million against certificates of deposit issued by
the Central Bank of Lebanon. The difference resulting from the exchange in the amount of LBP80.55billion was deferred
and amortized over the life of the new certificates of deposit as part of the effective interest rate. Income recognized for the
year ended December 31, 2011 amounted to LBP14.4billion and is recorded under interest income from financial assets
at amortized cost in the consolidated income statement (LBP13 billion for the year ended December 31, 2010 recorded
under interest income from available-for-sale investment securities). As at December 31, 2011, deferred gain amounted to
LBP46.81billion (LBP61.22billion as at December 31, 2010).
Dividends received during the year ended December 31, 2010 on available-for-sale investment securities in the amount of
LBP34.26billion are reflected under “Other operating income” in the consolidated income statement (Note 38).
The fair value of Lebanese Government bonds and of certificates of deposit was calculated using a valuation model which
takes into account observable market data using a discounted cash flow model based on current interest yield curve
appropriate for the remaining term to maturity and credit spreads.
The available-for-sale certificates of deposit issued by the Central bank of Lebanon include certificates of deposit maturing
on April 25, 2015 which are putable at a price of 91.63 in year 2012. The Group is providing over time for the difference
between the par value and the redemption value in year 2012 by recognizing the effective yield applicable for the period
until 2012. This cost which is expected to increase year by year, is reflected as an adjustment to the carrying book value.
During 2010, the Group sold Lebanese Government bonds classified as available-for-sale of aggregate nominal value of
USD50million and EUR 36million and recorded the resulting gain on sale in the amount of LBP26.91billion (USD11.76million
and EUR4.44million) under “Other operating income” in the consolidated income statement (Note 38).
During 2010, the Group re-entered into a total return swap transaction with a non-resident related financial institution
established under the Suisse law and operating out of Geneva.
Coupled with a promissory note that pays a pre-agreed fixed interest rate, the transaction is composed of a spot and a
forward contract to sell and buy back the economic benefits of a portfolio of Lebanese traded equity securities classified as
available-for-sale. The transaction originated and matured in 2010.
Interest income in the amount of LBP50.31billion on the promissory note was recorded under “Interest Income on note
receivable” net of transaction cost in the amount of LBP391.95million in the consolidated income statement.

Retained earnings (net of tax effect) originated from the above transaction amounting to LBP88billion as at December 31,
2011 are not available for distribution as per the directives of the Central Bank of Lebanon, and can only be used for capital
increase.

D. Held-to-maturity investment securities
December 31, 2010
LBP Base Accounts
F/Cy Base Accounts
Accrued
Accrued
Amortized
Fair
Interest
Amortized
Fair
Interest
Cost
Value
Receivable
Cost
Value
Receivable
LBP’000
LBP’000
LBP’000
LBP’000
LBP’000
LBP’000
Lebanese Government bonds
Foreign Government bonds
Certificates of deposit issued
by Central Bank of Lebanon

114,262,055
-

118,852,338
-

1,501,380 502,498,683
46,397,658

570,928,420
46,851,150

10,438,351
-

114,262,055

118,852,338

1,501,380

75,699,113
693,478,683

1,129,578
11,567,929

59,041,817
607,938,158

The held-to-maturity investment securities as at December 31, 2010 were reclassified to financial assets at amortized cost
upon the early adoption of IFRS 9, effective January 1, 2011 (Refer to Note 5).
Held-to-maturity Lebanese Government bonds include as at December 31, 2010 securities in foreign currencies pledged
against a long term borrowing granted to the Group and a soft loan from the Central Bank of Lebanon reflected under
“Borrowings from banks and financial institutions” in the consolidated statement of financial position (Notes 24 & 45).
Held-to-maturity investments denominated in LBP are segregated over the remaining period to maturity as follows:

Redemption
Value
LBP’000
Lebanese Government Bonds:
Up to one year
1 year to 3 years
5 years to 10 years

6,000,000
90,936,000
17,304,500
114,240,500

LBP Base Accounts
December 31, 2010
Amortized
Cost
LBP’000

5,999,707
90,936,000
17,326,348
114,262,055

Fair
Value
LBP’000

6,105,000
95,269,793
17,477,545
118,852,338

Held-to-maturity investments denominated in foreign currencies are segregated over the remaining period to maturity as
follows:

Lebanese Government bonds:
Up to 1 year
1 year to 3 years
3 years to 5 years
5 years to 10 years
Beyond 10 years

Redemption
Value
LBP’000

December 31, 2010
Amortized
Cost
LBP’000

Fair
Value
LBP’000

93,465
186,553,125
304,579,069
491,225,659

93,533
197,853,793
304,551,357
502,498,683

100,577
227,870,949
342,956,894
570,928,420
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Foreign Government bonds:
Up to 1 year
1 year to 3 years
5 years to 10 years

Certificates of deposit issued by
Central Bank of Lebanon:
3 years to 5 years
5 years to 10 years

25,678,500
22,895,532
969,000
49,543,032

24,893,610
20,354,814
1,149,234
46,397,658

25,154,271
20,513,730
1,183,149
46,851,150

62,561,250
62,561,250
603,329,941

59,041,817
59,041,817
607,938,158

75,699,113
75,699,113
693,478,683

During 2010, the Central Bank of Lebanon exchanged Lebanese Government bonds classified as held-to-maturity and
denominated in US Dollars of aggregate nominal value of LBP10.55billion against certificates of deposit issued by the
Central Bank of Lebanon. The difference resulting from the above transaction in the amount of LBP1.82billion was deferred
and amortized over the life of the new certificates of deposit as part of the effective interest rate. As of December 31, 2011,
deferred gain amounted to LBP1.4billion (LBP1.63billion as at December 31, 2010).
During 2010, the Central Bank of Lebanon called Lebanese Government bonds classified as held-to-maturity and denominated
in US Dollars of aggregate nominal value of USD101.9million. This transaction resulted in a gain of USD26.12million (C/V
LBP39.38billion) recorded in the consolidated income statement.
During 2010, the Central Bank of Lebanon called Lebanese Government bonds classified as held-to-maturity and
denominated in Euros of aggregate nominal value of EUR 30million. This transaction resulted in a gain of EUR 3.65million
(C/V LBP7.43billion) recorded in the consolidated income statement.
The option on the held-to-maturity certificates of deposit maturing on April 25, 2015 to redeem in year 2012, is treated in
the same manner as described under available-for-sale certificates of deposit above.

13. CUSTOMERS’ ACCEPTANCE LIABILITY
Acceptances represent documentary credits which the Group has committed to settle on behalf of its customers against
commitments by those customers (acceptances). The commitments resulting from these acceptances are stated as a
liability in the statement of financial position for the same amount.

14. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND OTHER
INVESTMENTS
This caption consists of the following:
Country of
Incorporation
Investments in Associates
CSC Bank S.A.L.
GroupMed Services S.A.L.
Pin Pay S.A.L.

Lebanon
Lebanon
Lebanon

Interest
Held
%
40.00
25.00
25.25

December 31,
2011
2010
Carrying
Carrying
Value
Value
LBP’000
LBP’000
39,723,203
2,139,142
2,412,000
44,274,345

34,802,354
3,165,750
37,968,104

Other Investments
Ciment de Sibline S.A.L.
Light Metal Products S.A.L.
Long-term loan to Light
Metal Products S.A.L.
Al Fanadeq S.A.L.
Beverly Hotel S.A.L.
Sidem S.A.L.
Real Estate Central Development
Company S.A.L.

Lebanon
Lebanon

19.36
60.83

27,096,403
7,173,170

27,096,403
7,173,170

Lebanon
Lebanon
Lebanon

48.00
99.00
20.00

3,409,585
1,139,579
4,134,639
16,907,523

3,418,028
1,095,862
3,876,404
15,970,454

Lebanon

99.90

1,490,652
61,351,551
105,625,896

58,630,321
96,598,425

The investment in CSC Bank S.A.L. is reflected as at December 31, 2011 and 2010 using the equity method whereby the
Group accounts for its share in the net income of the associate net of deferred dividend tax as well as its share of the change
in fair value of the associate’s portfolio of securities held through other comprehensive income, if any. In this connection, the
Group recorded its share in the net income of the associate for an amount of LBP5.5billion for the year 2011 (LBP8.78billion
for the year 2010), net of deferred tax in the amount of LBP445million (LBP796million in 2010) under “Other operating
income” in the consolidated income statement (Note 38).
Dividends received from Ciment de Sibline S.A.L. amounted to LBP5.4billion in 2011 (LBP5.2billion in 2010) and is recorded
under “Other operating income” (Note 38).

15. ASSETS ACQUIRED IN SATISFACTION OF LOANS
Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans have been acquired through enforcement of security over loans and advances.
The movement of assets acquired in satisfaction of loans during 2011 and 2010 was as follows:
LBP’000
Gross Amount:
Balance January 1, 2010
Additions due to settlement of loans
Additional fees/charges paid
Disposals
Effect of exchange rate
Balance December 31, 2010
Additions due to settlement of loans and receivables
Disposals
Effect of exchange rate
Balance December 31, 2011

90,503,573
78,579,634
38,504
(11,753,416)
(26,752)
157,341,543
311,524,737
(54,860,513)
(284,600)
413,721,167

Impairment Allowance:
Balance January 1, 2010
Additions
Write-back
Balance December 31, 2010
Additions
Write-back
Write-off
Effect of exchange rate
Balance December 31, 2011

(15,102,787)
(41,667)
1,879,851
(13,264,603)
(20,749)
2,595,255
62,894
22,416
(10,604,787)

Carrying Amount:
December 31, 2011

403,116,380

December 31, 2010

144,076,940
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During the year 2011, the Group sold assets acquired in satisfaction of loans of aggregate net book value LBP29.54billion
(LBP9.87billion in 2010) for a total consideration of LBP70.37billion (LBP22.22billion in 2010), thus resulting in net gain on
sale in the amount of LBP8.23billion recorded under “Other operating income” (Note 38) and write-back of impairment
provision in the amount of LBP2.57billion recorded under “Write-back of impairment of assets acquired in satisfaction of
loans” in the accompanying consolidated income statement (LBP10.51billion and LBP1.84billion, respectively in 2010).
The Group collected LBP17.46billion during 2011 (LBP20.57billion up to December 31, 2010). The remaining balance of
LBP52.91billion, net of deferred income in the amount of LBP30.03billion, is recorded under “Receivables on properties
sold with deferred payment” under “Other assets” as at December 31, 2011 (LBP1.69billion in 2010) (Note 18).
Additions to assets acquired in satisfaction of loans during 2010 include assets acquired by the Group for the amount of
LBP73billion in satisfaction of loans granted to a related party.

The acquisition of assets in settlement of loans in Lebanon is regulated by the banking regulatory authorities and these
should be liquidated within 2 years. In case of default of liquidation, a regulatory reserve should be appropriated from the
yearly net profits over a period of 5 years. This reserve is reduced to 5% annually when certain conditions linked to the
restructuring of non performing loans’ portfolio are met. This regulatory reserve is reflected under equity. In this connection,
an amount of LBP2.97billion was appropriated in 2011 from 2010 income (LBP2.69billion in 2010). Furthermore, an
amount of LBP291million was transferred in 2011 to retained earnings upon the sale of the related foreclosed assets
(LBP522 million in 2010).

16. GOODWILL
The goodwill balance outstanding as of the statement of financial position date consists of the following:
December 31,
2011
LBP’000
Goodwill from Subsidiaries:
BankMed (Suisse) S.A.
Saudi Lebanese Bank S.A.L.
Turkland Bank A.S.
Med Finance Holding Ltd.
Cumulative effect of exchange rate changes
up to the statement of financial position date
Less: Accumulated amortization up to December 31, 2003
Goodwill from Business Combination:
Allied Bank S.A.L.
Goodwill (net)

2010
BP’000

30,412,799
31,765,458
80,871,312
616,568
143,666,137

30,412,799
31,765,458
80,871,312
616,568
143,666,137

23,874,440
(12,667,039)
154,873,538

23,926,598
(12,679,209)
154,913,526

23,068,898
177,942,436

23,068,898
177,982,424

During the first half of 2010, the Group acquired an additional 9% of the voting shares of Turkland Bank A.S., increasing its
ownership to 50% against a consideration paid of USD26million (LBP39.19billion). The excess of LBP19.44billion between
the consideration paid and the carrying value of the interest acquired was recognized in retained earnings within equity.
The change in accumulated amortization is due to exchange rate fluctuation.
The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired.
Goodwill is considered to be impaired when the carrying value exceeds the recoverable amounts of the merged business
which are determined from value in use calculations. The value in use is determined as a multiple of the contribution
generated by the business units and customers’ accounts acquired by the parent bank.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 129

( 17,566,143)
(1,415,134)
220,221
( 2)
(18,761,058)
( 1,871,003)
429,891
( 20,202,170)

161,305,631
146,837,318

Accumulated depreciation:
Balance January 1, 2010
Additions
Write-off on disposal
Effect from exchange rate changes
Balance December 31, 2010
Acquisition of subsidiary
Additions
Write-off on disposal
Effect from exchange rate changes
Balance December 31, 2011

Net book value:
December 31, 2011
December 31, 2010
21,987,406
19,907,584

( 77,753,187)
(4,942,200)
65,096
65,017
( 82,565,274)
( 4,178,593)
304,776
701,039
( 85,738,052)

98,054,306
1,704,696
( 402,111)
3,174,035
( 58,068)
102,472,858
4,033,414
(651,160)
3,718,970
(1,848,624)
107,725,458

Improvements
and
Installations
LBP’000

24,209,154
21,029,753

( 43,130,277)
( 4,973,891)
467,851
148,123
( 47,488,194)
( 6,223,465)
640,107
1,495,583
(51,575,969)

62,989,186
6,104,957
( 482,262)
264,169
( 358,103)
68,517,947
7,090,392
( 659,994)
2,984,024
( 2,147,246)
75,785,123

Furniture
and
Equipment
LBP’000

623,293
731,492

( 975,295)
(168,258)
88,471
(8,053)
(1,063,135)
(168,040)
5,493
1,721
(1,223,961)

1,787,292
77,852
( 89,498)
18,981
1,794,627
58,305
( 5,493)
(185)
1,847,254

Vehicles
LBP’000

-

( 206,402)
( 206,402)
( 206,402)

206,402
206,402
206,402

Establishment
Costs
LBP’000

2,842,922
1,779,097

( 202,199)
( 104,653)
( 306,852)
( 145,555)
( 452,407)

955,699
1,130,250
2,085,949
1,209,380
3,295,329

Key Money
LBP’000

5,821,637
5,288,284

-

2,098,860
6,718,082
( 90,454)
(3,438,204)
5,288,284
7,591,535
( 355,188)
(6,702,994)
5,821,637

Advance
Payments
on Capital
Expenditure
LBP’000

( 767,667)
2,237,017

(3,409,001)
(3,210,733)
315,465
280,129
(6,024,140)
( 2,063)
(3,038,565)
56,833
1,519,377
(7,488,558)

5,444,758
3,273,282
( 308,142)
( 148,741)
8,261,157
25,782
77,832
( 84,907)
(1,558,973)
6,720,891

Other
LBP’000

(1,400,000)
(1,400,000)

-

(1,400,000)
(1,400,000)
(1,400,000)

Allowance for
Impairment
Loss on
Property &
Equipment
LBP’000

214,622,376
196,410,545

(143,242,504)
( 14,814,869)
1,157,104
485,214
(156,415,055)
( 2,063)
( 15,625,221)
1,007,209
4,147,611
(166,887,519)

326,358,661
7,834,557
21,516,059
( 2,337,746)
( 545,931)
352,825,600
25,782
35,970,283
( 1,756,742)
( 5,555,028)
381,509,895

Total
LBP’000

The additions of real estate properties in 2011 represents the cost of acquisition of 2 real estate plots in Amyoun and Majdelyoun for an aggregate amount of LBP1.74billion in addition
to the cost of premises acquired in the regions of Wastani, Tripoli and Mansourieh for an aggregate amount of LBP14.17billion for the purpose of opening new branches.

Additions to “Furniture and Equipment” and “Advance payments on capital expenditure” represent mainly costs incurred in connection with the opening and refurbishment of
branches in Lebanon.

156,222,158
7,834,557
2,506,940
( 965,279)
165,598,376
15,909,425
181,507,801

Cost:
Balance January 1, 2010
Acquisition of subsidiary
Additions
Disposals/retirements
Transfers from assets in satisfaction of loans
Effect from exchange rate changes
Balance December 31, 2010
Acquisition of subsidiary
Additions
Disposals/retirements
Transfers
Effect from exchange rate changes
Balance December 31, 2011

Real Estate
Properties
LBP’000

17. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

18. OTHER ASSETS
December 31,

Receivables on properties sold with
deferred payment (Note 16)
Advance on purchase of subsidiaries
Deferred tax asset
Deferred asset under Central Bank of Lebanon – soft loan
Prepayments, deferred charges and accrued income
Due from personnel
Regulatory blocked deposit
Fair value of derivatives
Intangible asset
Receivables from customers on insurance contracts
Receivable from sale of investment
Other

2011
LBP’000

2010
LBP’000

24,319,022
30,150,000
6,431,137
11,908,403
16,740,723
3,858,228
1,559,000
10,879,863
978,009
16,843,274
8,722,213
48,331,107
180,720,979

105,375,880
2,206,947
14,068,268
15,953,939
3,209,766
1,509,000
1,744,223
837,216
4,644,381
9,626,711
37,714,518
196,890,849

Advance on purchase of subsidiaries represent payments made on account of the purchase of four real estate companies,
from a related company, for an aggregate consideration of LBP36.2billion where the final acquisition is still subject to the
Central Bank of Lebanon approval.
The movement of receivables on properties sold with deferred payment for the years 2011 and 2010 is as follows:
LBP’000
Balance December 31, 2009
Additions
Interest (Note 33)
Settlements
Balance December 31, 2010
Additions
Interest (Note 33)
Settlements
Reacquisition of properties sold – Note 44
Deferred income
Balance December 31, 2011

105,232,422
1,536,971
162,162
(1,555,675)
105,375,880
52,905,713
91,764
(2,680,581)
(101,340,429)
(30,033,325)
24,319,022

“Receivables on properties sold with deferred payment” includes receivables from related parties amounting to
LBP52.76billion as at December 31, 2011 (LBP101.34billion as at December 31, 2010), net of deferred income in the
amount of LBP30.03billion.
During the first half of 2009, the Central Bank of Lebanon (“BDL”) granted the Group a soft loan in the amount of LBP91billion
in accordance with Decision number 6116 dated March 7, 1996 recorded under “Borrowings from banks and financial
institutions”. The loan proceeds are invested in Lebanese treasury bills pledged in favor of BDL until full repayment of the loan
(Note 12). The present value of the net investment proceeds amounting to LBP19.5billion were used to finance write offs of
debtors’ exposures under credit facilities used to refinance construction of property and acquisition of equipment damaged
during the July 2006 war. Aggregate financing granted by the Group to the eligible debtors amounted to LBP21.79billion
as at December 31, 2011 in addition to interest receivable in the amount of LBP431million (LBP20.01billion as at December
31, 2010 in addition to interest receivable in the amount of LBP292million). The interest differential between the investment
in treasury bills and the soft loan and its related accrued interest in the amount of LBP10.2billion and LBP120million
(LBP6.2billion and LBP69million, respectively in 2010), were deferred and netted against the financing granted to debtors.
Deferred tax asset includes an amount of LBP3.88billion representing deferred tax on the change in fair value of financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (Nil in 2010).

Fair value of derivatives consists of the following:

December 31,
2011
2010
LBP’000
LBP’000
Fair value of forward contracts
Fair value of currency option contracts (Note 26)
Fair value of derivatives contracts (held-for-hedging)
of customers’ deposits at fair value
through profit or loss (Note 20)
Fair value of derivatives contracts (held-for-hedging)
of related parties deposits at fair value through
profit or loss (Note 22)
Other

8,811,228
2,016,747

1,453,785

-

161,714

51,888
10,879,863

116,681
12,043
1,744,223

The regulatory blocked deposit represents a non-interest earning compulsory deposit placed with the Lebanese Treasury
upon the inception of banks according to Article 132 of the Lebanese Code of Money and Credit, and is refundable in case
of cease of operations.
Receivable from sale of investment is due from the sale, during the year 2006, of the Group’s investment in “Idarat Investment
S.A.L. (Holding)” of net book value of LBP13.82billion as at December 31, 2005 for a consideration of USD8.7million,
payable over a ten year period. An amount of USD2.9million was collected up to December 31, 2011 (USD2.3million up to
December 31, 2010).
“Other” includes an investment in a fund during 2008 in the amount of USD15million (LBP22.6billion) which was fully
provided for as at December 31, 2008. Impairment provision was recorded in the consolidated income statement under
“Other provisions”.

19. DEPOSITS FROM BANKS AND FINANCIAL
INSTITUTIONS
Deposits from banks and financial institutions are reflected at amortized cost and consist of the following:

LBP
LBP’000
Current deposits of banks and financial institutions
Overnight deposits
Current deposits – related parties
Money market deposits
Money market deposits – related parties
Borrowing under sale and repurchase agreement
Other short term deposits
Other short term deposits – related parties
Accrued interest payable

408,935
3,500,000
13,870
21,500,000
11,441
25,434,246

December 31, 2011
C/V
of F/Cy
LBP’000
17,590,801
95,667
444,378,982
75,375,000
76,770,477
65,870,877
14,604,080
8,705,873
703,391,757

Total
LBP’000

17,999,736
3,500,000
109,537
465,878,982
75,375,000
76,770,477
65,870,877
14,604,080
8,717,314
728,826,003
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LBP
LBP’000
Current deposits of banks and financial institutions
Borrowing under sale and repurchase agreement
Money market deposits
Money market deposits – related parties
Other short term deposits
Other short term deposits – related parties
Accrued interest payable

1,393,340
72,500,000
21,561
73,914,901

December 31, 2010
C/V
of F/Cy
LBP’000
48,474,100
16,328
346,251,544
75,373,547
58,847,246
15,234,734
8,508,704
552,706,203

Total
BP’000

49,867,440
16,328
418,751,544
75,373,547
58,847,246
15,234,734
8,530,265
626,621,104

The borrowing under sale and repurchase agreement matures during the first quarter of 2012. The borrowing is secured
by foreign government bonds classified under financial assets at amortized cost in the statement of financial position (Notes
12 & 45).

Accrued interest payable is segregated between the different categories as follows:
December 31, 2011
Non
Related
Related
Parties
LBP’000
LBP’000
Overnight deposits
Money market deposits
Borrowing under sale and
repurchase agreements
Other short term borrowings

December 31, 2010
Non
Related
Related
Parties
LBP’000
LBP’000

263
8,579,549

8,588

1,205
7,571,925

8,588

59,195
69,719
8,708,726

8,588

708,656
8,281,786

239,891
248,479

20. CUSTOMERS’ DEPOSITS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Customers’ deposits at fair value through
profit or loss
Accrued interest payable

December 31, 2011
C/V of F/Cy
Total
LBP’000
LBP’000

December 31, 2010
C/V of F/Cy
Total
LBP’000
LBP’000

6,298,290
155,396
6,453,686

47,575,176
84,868
47,660,044

6,298,290
155,396
6,453,686

47,575,176
84,868
47,660,044

Deposits from customers which are matched with an embedded derivative have been designated at fair value through profit
or loss, where the underlying assets vary from product to product. An accounting mismatch would arise if customers’
deposits were accounted for at amortized cost, because the related derivative is measured at fair value with movements in
the fair value taken through the income statement. By designating those deposits from customers at fair value, the change
in the fair value of these deposits is recorded in the consolidated income statement.
Customers’ deposits at fair value through profit or loss include deposits where the underlying monetary value is invested in
products yielding variable returns depending on the performance of baskets of currencies, commodities, global indices or
Lebanese Government bonds all hedged through an effective over-the-counter call option.

The changes in the fair value recognized on these deposits and the related derivatives acquired for hedging are broken
down as follows:
December 31, 2011
Initial
Fair
Value
Value
LBP’000
LBP’000
Customers’ deposits at fair value
through profit or loss
Related derivative contracts
(held for hedging)

December 31, 2010
Initial
Fair
Value
Value
LBP’000
LBP’000

6,708,375

6,298,290

51,494,676

47,575,176

583,312

113,884

470,846

717,569

21. CUSTOMERS’ DEPOSITS AT AMORTIZED COST
Interest
Bearing
LBP’000
Current / demand deposits
Term deposits
Margins for irrevocable import
letters of credit
Margins on letters of guarantee
Other margins
Accrued interest payable

December 31, 2011
F/Cy Base Accounts
Non
Interest
Interest
Bearing
Bearing
LBP’000
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

155,587,144
2,805,790,492

9,720,220
140,374

165,307,364
2,805,930,866

677,225,080
7,916,280,224

411,798,472
170,004

1,089,023,552
7,916,450,228

1,254,330,916
10,722,381,094

4,428,826
3,571,062
15,831,776
2,985,209,300

1,031,425
365,596
77
11,257,692

5,460,251
3,936,658
15,831,853
2,996,466,992

5,954,524
13,450,740
13,041,786
38,136,768
8,664,089,122

1,022,395
2,938,779
3,279,407
566
419,209,623

6,976,919
16,389,519
16,321,193
38,137,334
9,083,298,745

6,976,919
21,849,770
20,257,851
53,969,187
12,079,765,737

Interest
Bearing
LBP’000
Current / demand deposits
Term deposits
Margins for irrevocable import
letters of credit
Margins on letters of guarantee
Other margins
Accrued interest payable

LBP Base Accounts
Non
Interest
Bearing
Total
LBP’000
LBP’000

LBP Base Accounts
Non
Interest
Bearing
Total
LBP’000
LBP’000

December 31, 2010
F/Cy Base Accounts
Non
Interest
Interest
Bearing
Bearing
LBP’000
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

143,060,045
2,860,397,218

10,737,074
91,520

153,797,119
2,860,488,738

668,949,974
7,494,758,685

465,212,561
135,144

1,134,162,535
7,494,893,829

1,287,959,654
10,355,382,567

3,534,459
623,704
17,846,210
3,025,461,636

998,366
220,733
12,047,693

4,532,825
844,437
17,846,210
3,037,509,329

6,522,448
14,902,936
17,277,033
35,059,262
8,237,470,338

1,996,590
6,010,574
3,384,256
476,739,125

8,519,038
20,913,510
20,661,289
35,059,262
8,714,209,463

8,519,038
25,446,335
21,505,726
52,905,472
11,751,718,792

Deposits from customers at amortized cost at December 31, 2011 include coded deposit accounts in the aggregate
amount of LBP8.6billion (LBP17.9billion in 2010). These accounts are subject to the provisions of Article 3 of the Banking
Secrecy Law dated September 3, 1956 which provides that the Bank’s management, in the normal course of business,
cannot reveal the identities of these depositors to third parties.
Deposits from customers at amortized cost include at December 31, 2011 deposits linked to Lebanese Government bonds
in the aggregate of LBP268.15billion (LBP215.35billion in 2010). These bonds are owned by the Group and are classified
as financial assets at amortized cost (Note 12).
Deposits from customers at amortized cost at December 31, 2011 include deposits received from non-resident banks and
financial institutions relating to their fiduciary clients for a total amount of LBP635.73billion (LBP765.98billion in 2010) out
of which LBP387.65billion are from a related company, a related bank and a subsidiary bank (LBP478.44billion in 2010).
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22. RELATED PARTIES’ DEPOSITS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
December 31,
2011
2010
C/V of F/Cy
C/V of F/Cy
LBP’000
LBP’000
Related parties’ deposits at fair value through profit or loss
Accrued interest payable

-

2,794,641
155,396
2,950,037

The changes in the fair value recognized on these deposits and the related derivative acquired for hedging is broken down
as follows:
December 31, 2011
Initial
Fair
Value
Value
LBP’000
LBP’000
Related parties’ deposits at fair
value through profit or loss
Related derivative contracts
(held for hedging) (Note 18)

December 31, 2010
Initial
Fair
Value
Value
LBP’000
LBP’000

-

-

3,005,829

2,794,641

-

-

431,145

116,681

23. RELATED PARTIES’ DEPOSITS AT AMORTIZED COST
Interest
Bearing
LBP’000
Current / demand deposits
Term deposits
Collateral against loans
and advances
Margins on letters of guarantee
Other margins
Accrued interest payable

4,114,399
144,955,483

669,493
-

4,783,892
144,955,483

285,000
380,588
149,735,470

260,000
929,493

285,000
260,000
380,588
150,664,963

Interest
Bearing
LBP’000
Current / demand deposits
Term deposits
Collateral against loans
and advances
Margins on letters of guarantee
Other margins
Accrued interest payable

December 31, 2011
LBP Base Accounts
F/Cy Base Accounts
Non
Non
Interest
Interest
Interest
Bearing
Total
Bearing
Bearing
LBP’000
LBP’000
LBP’000
LBP’000

5,219,191
541,728,936
285,000
74,259
1,163,052
548,470,438

LBP Base Accounts
Non
Interest
Bearing
Total
LBP’000
LBP’000

80,058,795
1,965,779,706
29,983
1,898,326
2,047,766,810

3,549,510
622
15,286
1,614
3,567,032

December 31, 2010
F/Cy Base Accounts
Non
Interest
Interest
Bearing
Bearing
LBP’000
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000
83,608,305
1,965,780,328
45,269
1,614
1,898,326
2,051,333,842

Total
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000
88,392,197
2,110,735,811
285,000
305,269
1,614
2,278,914
2,201,998,805

Total
LBP’000

219

5,219,4 01
541,728,936

64,197,198
853,445,502

3,844,063
203,895

68,041,261
853,649,397

73,260,671
1,395,378,333

142,400
348
142,967

285,000
216,659
348
1,163,052
548,613,405

9,436
13,031
302
2,443,145
920,108,614

16,944
125,764
4,190,666

9,436
29,975
126,066
2,443,145
924,299,280

294,436
246,634
126,414
3,606,197
1,472,912,685

-

24. BORROWINGS FROM BANKS AND FINANCIAL
INSTITUTIONS
Long term borrowings are reflected at amortized cost and consist of the following:
December 31,
2011

Borrowing from a non-resident
investment bank
Soft loan from the Central Bank
of Lebanon – Note 19
Other long term borrowings
Accrued interest payable

20 10

LBP
LBP’000

LBP’000

-

2,349,503

2,349,503

401,748,750
1,405,740
405,503,993

90,936,000
401,748,750
2,189,927
497,224,180

90,936,000
784,187
91,720,187

Total
LBP’000

LBP
LBP’000

LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

4,612,951

4,612,951

339,008,036
946,436
344,567,423

90,936,000
339,008,036
1,718,559
436,275,546

90,936,000
772,123
91,708,123

“Other long term borrowings” as at December 31, 2011 includes loans granted to the Group against pledged foreign
currency Lebanese Government bonds classified as financial assets at amortized cost (held-to-maturity foreign currency
Lebanese Government bonds as at December 31, 2010) and pledged deposits with a bank (Notes 7, 12 and 45).
The Group has not had any defaults of principal, interest or other breaches with respect to its borrowings during 2011 and
2010.

25. CERTIFICATES OF DEPOSIT
Certificates of deposit consist of the following:
December 31,

Global certificates of deposit
Discount on issuance of global certificates of deposit
Accrued interest payable

2011
C/V
of F/Cy
LBP’000

2010
C/V
of F/Cy
LBP’000

452,250,000
(407,601)
1,606,107
453,448,506

452,250,000
(835,114)
1,606,108
453,020,994

Certificates of deposit are reflected at amortized cost.
During 1996, the Group set up a USD500million Euro Deposit Program to be issued in series through international financial
institutions. Eleven series had been issued under this program up to December 2005.

During 2005, the Group augmented the above mentioned program by USD500million to become USD1billion to be
issued in series through international financial institutions. In this respect, the Group issued series No.12 in the amount of
USD300million representing the first series of the above mentioned program after its increase.
Up to December 31, 2010, the Group redeemed eleven series on their respective maturity dates.
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The outstanding series are summarized as follows:

Series 12
Nominal amount of certificates
Issue price
Issue date
Maturity
Fixed rate of interest
Interest payment date
Outstanding amount (in LBP’000)

USD 300,000,000
USD 298,005,000
December 15, 2005
December 14, 2012
7.625%
December & June
452,250,000

The Group has not had any defaults of principal, interest or other breaches with respect to its certificates of deposit during
2011 and 2010.

26. OTHER LIABILITIES
December 31,
2011
2010
LBP’000
LBP’000
Accrued income tax and other taxes
Withheld taxes on staff benefits and payments
to non-residents
Withheld tax on interest
Deferred tax liability
Due to the Social Security National Fund
Checks and incoming payment orders
in course of settlement
Blocked capital subscriptions for companies
under incorporation
Accrued expenses
Financial guarantee contracts issued
Fair value of derivatives
Payable to personnel and directors
Unearned revenues
Sundry accounts payable

25,022,635

13,894,646

5,518,315
2,673,708
9,509,355
1,583,632

6,208,477
2,810,557
64,977,777
2,379,385

23,775,006

26,358,021

838,605
42,414,472
2,730,713
2,059,758
62,512
10,748,421
75,250,302
202,187,434

1,027,529
39,929,823
3,462,279
13,516,344
900,074
5,471,801
51,972,510
232,909,223

The tax returns for the years 2008 to 2011 of BankMed S.A.L. and most of its subsidiaries remain subject to examination
and final tax assessment by the tax authorities. Management does not expect any material additional tax liability as a result
of the expected tax reviews. In 2012, BankMed S.A.L. was subject to tax examination for the fiscal years 2006 and 2007
which resulted in additional tax liability in the amount of LBP1.53billion paid during 2012.

Fair value of derivatives consists of the following:
December 31,
2011
2010
LBP’000
LBP’000
Fair value of forward contracts
Fair value of currency option contracts

2,059,758
2,059,758

11,856,943
1,659,401
13,516,344

The negative fair value of currency options is related to call and put options entered into by the Group with its customers
and back-to-back with a non-resident bank. The offsetting positive fair value is recorded under “Other assets” (Note 18).

The following table explains the relationship between taxable income and accounting income:

Income before income tax
Income from subsidiaries and associates
Add: Non-deductible expenses
Less: Non-taxable revenues or revenues subject
to tax in previous periods
Taxable income
Income tax expense (15%)
Non-refundable withheld tax
Excess provision
Add: Income tax on subsidiaries’ income
Income tax expense

2011
LBP’000

2010
LBP’000

209,743,364
(45,172,584)
164,570,780
38,661,388

180,947,325
(130,772,725)
50,174,600
54,194,132

(32,319,103)
170,913,065
25,636,960
529,905
26,166,865
6,508,208
32,675,073

(40,213,589)
64,155,143
9,623,271
3,640,990
13,264,261
8,490,068
21,754,329

Deferred tax liability consists of the following:
December 31,
2011
2010
LBP’000
LBP’000
Deferred tax liability on financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income (Note 31)
Deferred tax liability on undistributed
income of subsidiaries
Deferred tax liability on income
from associates (Note 14)

50,211

55,945,788

6,030,000

6,030,000

3,429,144
9,509,355

3,001,989
64,977,777

27. PROVISIONS
Provisions consist of the following:
December 31,
2011
2010
LBP’000
LBP’000
Provision for employees’ end-of-service indemnity
Provision for contingencies
Provision for loss on foreign currency position

29,715,752
11,515,028
431,211
41,661,991

27,020,450
10,495,794
321,202
37,837,446

The movement of provision for staff end-of-service indemnity is as follows:
December 31,

Balance at January 1
Additions
Settlements
Transfer from a related company
Effect of exchange rate changes
Balance at December 31

2011
LBP’000

2010
LBP’000

27,020,450
3,986,969
(665,002)
44,817
(671,482)
29,715,752

23,574,137
4,178,075
(614,651)
8,393
(125,504)
27,020,450
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The movement of the provision for contingencies was as follows:
December 31,
2011
2010
LBP’000
LBP’000
Balance at January 1
Additions
Settlements
Write-back
Transfer to allowance for collectively assessed loans
Transfer to allowance for impairment on
bad and doubtful loans
Other
Effect of exchange rate changes
Balance at December 31

10,495,794
8,251,311
(6,060,357)
-

21,222,903
4,458,001
(9,262,798)
(4,660,823)
(254,847)

-

(2,933,220)
1,118,681
807,897
10,495,794

32
(1,171,752)
11,515,028

28. SHARE CAPITAL
The capital of the Group as at December 31, 2011 consists of 62,000,000 shares of LBP10,000 par value each, issued and
fully paid (53,000,000 shares as at December 31, 2010).
On October 15, 2011, the extraordinary shareholders’ general assembly approved a capital increase in the amount of
LBP90billion through the issuance of 9,000,000 shares of LBP10,000 par value each, issued, subscribed and fully paid.
On March 31, 2011, the ordinary shareholders’ general assembly approved the distribution of dividends in the amount of
LBP45.23billion (USD30million) to the ordinary shareholders.
On March 29, 2010, the ordinary shareholders’ general assembly approved the distribution of dividends in the amount of
LBP42.21billion (USD28million) to the ordinary shareholders.
The Group has set up a special foreign currency position to the extent of USD71.15million as of December 31, 2011 and
December 31, 2010 as a hedge of capital within the limits authorized by local banking regulations.

29. PREFERRED SHARES
During 2009, the Group issued Non-cumulative Perpetual Redeemable Series 1 Preferred Shares for an amount of
LBP150.75billion (USD100,000,000) in accordance with the decision of the extraordinary general assembly of shareholders
in its meeting held on July 24, 2009 and after the approval of the Central Bank of Lebanon dated September 12, 2009. The
Group’s issued preferred shares carry the following terms:
Number of Shares

:

1,000,000

Share’s issue price

:

USD100

Share’s nominal value

:

LBP10,000

Issue premium

:

LBP140,750,000 calculated in LBP as the difference between USD100 and the counter
value of the par value per share (LBP10,000).

Benefits

:

Distributions on account of the financial year 2009, are payable, in arrear, on a pro
rata basis, in U.S. Dollars, in an amount equal to USD 5.00 per Series 1 Preferred
Share. Thereafter, distributions are paid, in arrear, annually, for the 2010 financial year
and subsequent financial years, in U.S. Dollars, in a fixed amount equal to USD 7.75
(representing a dividend yield of 7.75 percent) per Series 1 Preferred Share, subject to
adjustment to reflect the occurrence of an Adjustment Event.

Adjustment Event

:

Distributions subject to
withholding tax
:

Call Option

:

“Adjustment
the
Group’s
share
“Adjustment Event”
Event”means
meansany
anystock
stocksplit
splitororreverse
reversestock
stocksplit
splitaffecting
affecting
the
Group’s
capital
(but not(but
anynot
other
the issuance
of new of
shares
by the Group
share capital
anyevent,
other including
event, including
the issuance
new shares
by the below
market
value, market
any stock
dividend
in respect
of the
Group’sofshares,
any recapitalization
Group below
value,
any stock
dividend
in respect
the Group’s
shares, any of
the
Group, any merger
or acquisition
involving
the Groupinvolving
or any like
recapitalization
of the Group,
any merger
or acquisition
theevent).
Group or any like
event).

Distributions are subject
rate
of 10
percent,
unless
and and until
Distributions
subject to
towithholding
withholdingtax
taxatatthethe
rate
of 10
percent,
unless
until shares
(at least
one third
of Group’s
the Group’s
outstanding
share
capital)
or
shares
(at least
one third
of the
outstanding
share
capital)
or Global
Depositary
Global Depositary
(“GDSs”)
(at least
20% of Group’s
sharefor trading
Shares
(“GDSs”) (atShares
least 20%
of Group’s
outstanding
share outstanding
capital) are listed
capital)
are listed
for Exchange
trading on (“BSE”),
the Beirutin Stock
in which
on
the Beirut
Stock
whichExchange
case the (“BSE”),
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is reduced
to the
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reimburseShares for the
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On March 31, 2011, the ordinary shareholders’ general assembly approved the distribution of dividends in the amount of
LBP11.68billion (USD7.75million) to the holders of the preferred shares.
On March 29, 2010, the ordinary shareholders’ general assembly approved the distribution of dividends in the amount of
LBP7.54billion (USD5million) to the holders of the preferred shares.
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30. RESERVES

December 31,
2011
LBP’000

Legal reserve
Property revaluation reserve
Reserve for general banking risks
Special reserves available for distribution
Reserves for assets acquired in satisfaction
of loans (Note 15)
Total

2010
LBP’000

70,731,064
3,213,000
108,620,124
10,377,755

55,177,146
3,213,000
71,589,588
10,377,755

7,200,617
200,142,560

4,525,239
144,882,728

Legal reserve is constituted in conformity with the requirements of the Lebanese Money and Credit Law on the basis of 10%
of net profit. This reserve is not available for distribution.
The reserve for general banking risks is constituted according to local banking regulations, from net profit, on the basis
of a minimum of 2 per mil and a maximum of 3 per mil of the total risk weighted assets, off-balance sheet risk and global
exchange position as defined for the computation of the solvency ratio at year-end. This reserve should reach 1.25% of
total risk weighted assets, off-balance sheet risk and global exchange position at year 10 and 2% of that amount at year 20.
This reserve is constituted in Lebanese Pounds and in foreign currencies in proportion to the composition of the Group’s
total risk weighted assets and off-balance sheet items. This reserve is not available for distribution.

31. CUMULATIVE CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE OF
FINANCIAL ASSETS THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME / AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES
December 31, 2011
Cumulative
Change in
Fair Value
LBP’000
Unrealized gain on Lebanese
Government bonds
Unrealized gain on certiﬁcates
of deposit issued by the
Central Bank of Lebanon
Unrealized gain on
corporate bonds
Unrealized (loss) /gain
on equity securities
(46,156,930)
Unrealized gain on
foreign government bonds
Unrealized gain on fair value
of securities from associates
5,954,656
(40,202,274)

Deferred
Tax
LBP’000

December 31, 2010
Net
LBP’000

Cumulative
Change in
Fair Value
LBP’000

Deferred
Tax
LBP’000

Net
LBP’000

-

-

71,830,014

( 6,041,028)

65,788,986

-

-

229,874,129

(34,481,119)

195,393,010

-

-

5,845,405

164,824

6,010,229

( 42,322,441)

90,007,115

(15,411,561)

74,595,554

-

5,349,675

( 937,778)

4,411,897

8,369,326
411,275,664

(56,706,662)

8,369,326
354,569,002

3,834,489
3,834,489

5,954,656
( 36,367,785)

The unrealized gain on foreign government bonds as at December 31, 2010 is disclosed after deducting the non-controlling
share amounting to LBP4.69billion.
As a result of the acquisition in 2006 of the 25% non-controlling equity stake in Saudi Lebanese Bank S.A.L., a consolidated
subsidiary, cumulative change in fair value and related deferred tax liability, equivalent to the non-controlling share as at
the purchase date, and amounting to LBP1.18billion and LBP177million, respectively, is eliminated from the consolidated
cumulative change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income/available-for-sale
securities and its related deferred tax liability, respectively, as at December 31, 2011 and 2010.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income were reclassified from available-for-sale investment
securities upon the early adoption of IFRS 9, effective January 1, 2011 (Refer to Note 5).

32. NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

December 31,
2011
LBP’000

Capital
Reserves and retained earnings
Cumulative change in fair value of
available-for-sale securities
Currency translation adjustment
Profit for the year

218,700,469
(53,655,452)

167,233,064
(55,445,982)

(28,618,297)
1,776,584
138,203,304

4,054,890
(8,544,109)
1,922,351
109,220,214

33. INTEREST INCOME
Interest income from:
Deposits with the central banks
Deposits with banks and financial institutions
Deposits with related party banks and financial institutions
Notes receivable on total return swap, net - Note 12
Financial assets at amortized cost
Available-for-sale investment securities
Held to maturity investment securities
Loans to banks
Loans to related party banks
Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances to related parties
Receivable from properties sold with
deferred payment – Note 18
Interest recognized on impaired loans
and advances to customers – Note 10

2010
LBP’000

Year Ended
December 31,
2011
LBP’000

2010
LBP’000

21,960,138
11,871,113
2,632,567
417,980,511
6,957,785
684,403
399,614,727
135,021,694

21,451,209
14,596,203
2,060,009
49,917,140
369,493,038
59,032,488
5,151,698
692,034
337,397,712
107,460,834

91,764

162,162

8,007,418
1,004,822,120

9,436,497
976,851,024

Interest income realized on impaired loans and advances to customers represent recoveries of interest. Accrued interest on
impaired loans and advances is not recognized until recovery or a rescheduling agreement is signed with customers.
Interest income on assets held at fair value through profit or loss, other instruments designated at fair value through profit or
loss, and trading portfolio is included under “Net result on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss” (Note 37).
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34. INTEREST EXPENSE
Year Ended
December 31,
Interest expense on:
Deposits from banks and financial institutions
Deposits from related party banks and
financial institutions
Securities lent and repurchase agreements
Customers’ deposits at amortized cost
Related parties’ deposits at amortized cost
Borrowings from banks and financial institutions
Borrowings from related party banks and
financial institutions
Certificates of deposit
Others

2011
LBP’000

2010
LBP’000

23,921,441

22,683,221

4,159,844
3,227,657
510,870,422
90,850,252
9,873,068

3,715,523
1,474,943
515,520,428
82,364,559
9,905,075

35,126,052
77,770
678,106,506

175,875
46,463,884
95,107
682,398,615

Interest expense on customers’ and related parties’ deposits at fair value through profit or loss is included under “Net result
on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss” (Note 37).

35. FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME
This caption consists of the following:
Year Ended
December 31,

Commission on documentary credits
Commission on acceptances
Commission on letters of guarantee
Service fees on customers’ transactions
Brokerage fees
Commission on transactions with banks
Asset management, placement and underwriting fees
Commissions on fiduciary activities
Other

2011
LBP’000

2010
LBP’000

4,892,949
2,123,764
16,540,663
34,965,922
1,952,296
1,045,576
6,399,725
1,510,778
3,310,673
72,742,346

3,837,267
1,698,280
16,512,839
30,036,787
2,421,055
5,912,453
7,339,947
2,119,220
3,740,117
73,617,965

36. FEE AND COMMISSION EXPENSE
This caption consists of the following:
Year Ended
December 31,
2011
LBP’000
Commission on transactions with banks and
financial institutions
Safe custody charges
Other

2,518,460
583,709
4,320,141
7,422,310

2010
LBP’000
7,493,929
654,894
4,445,562
12,594,385

37. NET RESULTS ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
This caption consists of the following:
Year Ended
December 31,
Interest income on assets held at fair
value through profit or loss
Change in fair value of assets designated at fair
value through profit or loss
Interest expense on customers’ deposits at fair
value through profit or loss
Fee income on customers’ deposits at fair value
through profit or loss
Change in fair value of customers’ deposits
at fair value through profit or loss
Interest expense on related parties’ deposits
at fair value through profit or loss
Net interest on other instruments designated at fair
value through profit and loss
Dividends received on assets held at fair value
through profit or loss
Gain on sale of assets held at fair value
through profit or loss
Interest income on Lebanese and other Government
bonds held for trading
Dividends received on trading securities
Change in fair value of trading portfolio (net)

2011
LBP’000

2010
LBP’000

16,101,429

5,039,582

(7,243,039)

(769,705)

(998,605)

(5,155,523)

32,686

21,575

(555,856)

769,705

-

(218,619)

318,748

20,603

74,246

-

57,405

-

7,787,014

47,218
51,242
(76,424)
(270,346)

38. OTHER OPERATING INCOME
This caption consists of the following:
Year Ended
December 31,
Gain on sale of available-for-sale securities:
Equities
Lebanese and Turkish Government bonds
Corporate bonds
Dividends from equity investment securities – Note 12 & 14
Income from associates at equity method – Note 14
Gain on disposal of property and equipment
Foreign exchange gain
Gain on sale of assets acquired in satisfaction
of loans – Note 15
Other

2011
LBP’000

2010
LBP’000

35,774,159
4,518,643
805,042
18,435,877

16,024
48,667,463
11,231
39,455,383
8,157,325
542,062
11,757,564

8,231,466
16,474,965
84,240,152

10,513,294
15,334,370
134,454,716
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39. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
This caption consists of the following:

Year Ended
December 31,
2011
LBP’000
47,683,782
1,894,000
14,740,184
4,428,815
5,171,950
17,586,806
3,893,348
2,765,906
8,015,756
1,738,433
3,271,227
3,420,489
9,804,564
19,387,442
143,802,702

Professional fees and outsourcing services
Travel and hotel expenses
Rent charges
Cleaning and maintenance of office premises
Electricity and fuel charges
Marketing and advertising expenses
Communication fees (telephones, fax, swift, etc...)
Furniture and equipment maintenance
Hardware and software maintenance
Insurance premiums
Subscriptions fees
Printing, stationery, and office supplies
Fiscal stamps and other taxes
Others

2010
LBP’000
66,717,208
1,831,725
12,559,723
3,855,561
5,812,076
18,511,503
5,764,613
2,648,905
6,774,055
1,832,102
3,003,930
2,737,806
9,644,962
19,009,857
160,704,026

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS WITH OFF-BALANCE
SHEET RISKS
The guarantees and standby letters of credit and the documentary and commercial letters of credit represent financial
instruments with contractual amounts representing credit risk. The guarantees and standby letters of credit represent
irrevocable assurances that the Group will make payments in the event that a customer cannot meet its obligations to third
parties and are not different from loans and advances on the balance sheet. However, documentary and commercial letters
of credit, which represent written undertakings by the Group on behalf of a customer authorizing a third party to draw drafts
on the Group up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions, are collateralized by the underlying shipments
documents of goods to which they relate and, therefore, have significantly less risks.
Forward exchange contracts outstanding as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 represent positions held for customers’
accounts and at their risk. The Group entered into such instruments to serve the needs of customers, and these contracts
are fully hedged by the Group. The forward exchange contracts outstanding as at December 31, 2011 include a forward
transaction for the purchase of USD100million versus CHF87.10million (USD85.94million versus CHF87.1million as at
December 31, 2010). This transaction was effected to hedge the investment in the Swiss bank subsidiary.

41. FIDUCIARY ACCOUNTS AND ASSETS UNDER
MANAGEMENT
This caption consists of the following:

December 31, 2011
Non-Resident
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

44,448,135

309,353,886
145,006,425

309,353,886
189,454,560

130,569,183
175,017,318

14,031,524
468,391,835

144,600,707
643,409,153

175,017,318

459,943,546
928,335,381

459,943,546
1,103,352,699

Resident
LBP’000
Fiduciary deposits invested in deposits
with non-resident banks
Fiduciary deposits invested in securities portfolio
Fiduciary deposits invested in back-to-back
lending
Assets under management invested in
securities portfolio

December 31, 2010
Non-Resident
LBP’000

Resident
LBP’000
Fiduciary deposits invested in deposits
with non-resident banks
Fiduciary deposits invested in securities portfolio
Fiduciary deposits invested in back-to-back
lending
Assets under management invested in
securities portfolio

Total
LBP’000

15,692,530

680,473,600
145,458,675

680,473,600
161,151,205

59,798,969
75,491,499

14,495,845
840,428,120

74,294,814
915,919,619

75,491,499

581,908,276
1,422,336,396

581,908,276
1,497,827,895

Fiduciary accounts and assets under management are segregated as follows:
December 31, 2011
NonResident
Resident
LBP’000
LBP’000
Fiduciary deposits:
Non-discretionary
Discretionary
Assets under management:
Non-Discretionary
Discretionary

December 31, 2010
NonResident
Resident
LBP’000
LBP’000

175,017,318
175,017,318

465,812,817
2,579,018
468,391,835

75,491,499
75,491,499

836,726,746
3,701,374
840,428,120

175,017,318

457,346,897
2,596,649
459,943,546
928,335,381

75,491,499

578,243,804
3,664,472
581,908,276
1,422,336,396

42. BALANCES / TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED
PARTIES
In the ordinary course of its activities, the Group conducts transactions with related parties including shareholders, directors,
subsidiaries and associates.
Loans and advances and deposits of related parties other than related banks and financial institutions consist of the
following:
2011
2010
Year End
Year End
Balance
Balance
LBP’000
LBP’000
Shareholders, directors and other key management
personnel and close family members:
Secured loans and advances
650,991,812
513,480,668
Unsecured loans and advances
92,486,000
Deposits
33,853,430
18,999,075
Related party companies:
Secured loans and advances
359,700,879
328,658,766
Unsecured loans and advances
54,246
26,755,000
Deposits
2,165,866,461
1,453,102,054

Interest rates charged on balances outstanding are the same rates that would be charged in an arm’s length transaction.
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The financial statements include balances with banks and related parties that are reflected under deposits with banks and
financial institutions, loans and advances to related parties, deposits from related parties, other assets, other liabilities and
off balance sheet accounts. Refer to the statement of financial position and notes thereto.
Related party transactions not disclosed elsewhere in the notes to the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

-

approximately
LBP52.3billion
for the
December
31, 201131, 2011
General operating
operatingexpenses
expensesinclude
include
approximately
LBP52.3billion
foryear
the ended
year ended
December
(LBP68.62billion for the year ended December 31, 2010) of which LBP12.38billion (LBP13.87 in 2010) are accrued
for under “Other liabilities” and represent charges for services rendered to the Group by related party companies.

-

include acceptances
acceptancespayable
payabletotoaarelated
relatedbank
bankinin
the
amount
LBP518million
at
Acceptances payable include
the
amount
of of
LBP518million
as as
at December
December
31, 2011 (LBP771million
as at 31,
December
31,
2011 (LBP771million
as at December
2010). 31, 2010).

-

LBP6.5billion
asas
at at
Acceptances receivable include
include acceptances
acceptances receivable
receivablefrom
fromrelated
relatedparties
partiesininthe
theamount
amountofof
LBP6.5billion
December 31, 2011 (LBP5.22billion as at December 31, 2010).

-

onon
behalf
of related
parties
in favor
of third
Guarantees, and
and standby
standby letters
lettersofofcredit
creditinclude
includeguarantees
guaranteesissued
issued
behalf
of related
parties
in favor
of third
parties in the amount of LBP2.86billion as at December 31, 2011 (LBP21.17billion as at December 31, 2010).

-

benefit
of of
related
parties
on on
behalf
of of
Guarantees, and standby
standby letters
letters ofofcredit
creditinclude
includeguarantees
guaranteesissued
issuedtotothe
the
benefit
related
parties
behalf
the amount
amount of
of LBP44.32billion
LBP44.32billionas
asat
atDecember
December31,
31,2011
2011(LBP67.44billion
(LBP67.44billionas
asatatDecember
December31,
31,2010).
third parties in the
2010).
Documentary and commercial letters of credit include
include letters
letters of
of credit
credit issued
issued on
on behalf
behalf of
of related
relatedparties
partiesininfavor
favorofof
the amount
amount of
of LBP86.68billion
LBP86.68billionas
asat
atDecember
December31,
31,2011
2011(LBP43.11billion
(LBP43.11billionas
asatatDecember
December31,
31,2010).
third parties in the
2010).
credit
issued
to the
benefit
of related
parties
on on
Documentary and
and commercial
commercial letters
lettersofofcredit
creditinclude
includeletters
lettersofof
credit
issued
to the
benefit
of related
parties
in the
the amount
amount of
of LBP8.95billion
LBP8.95billion as
asat
atDecember
December31,
31,2011
2011(LBP1.77billion
(LBP1.77billionas
asatatDecember
December31,
behalf of third parties in
31, 2010).
2010).

-

-

-

contractsinclude
includecurrencies
currenciestotobebereceived
received
from
a related
financial
institution
in amount
the amount
Forward contracts
from
a related
financial
institution
in the
of LBP386.7million
of LBP386.7million
at December
31, 2011
currenciestotothe
be same
delivered
to the
same related
financial
as
at December 31,as2011
and currencies
to and
be delivered
related
financial
institution
in theinstitution
amount
in the
amount of LBP370.2million
as at31,
December
31, 2011 to
(currencies
to be
in theofamount
of
of
LBP370.2million
as at December
2011 (currencies
be received
in received
the amount
LBP50.31billion
and
LBP50.31billion
currencies
be delivered
in the amount
of LBP50.43billion
with
a related party
as at
currencies
to be and
delivered
in theto
amount
of LBP50.43billion
with
a related party as
at December
31, 2010).
December 31, 2010).

43. NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the cash flow statement consist of the following:
December 31,
2011
2010
LBP’000
LBP’000
Cash
Checks in the course of collection
Current accounts with central banks
Time deposits with central banks
Current accounts with banks and financial institutions
Time deposits with banks and financial institutions
Demand deposits from banks
Time deposits from banks

95,058,391
56,538,733
76,692,227
499,846,888
258,479,354
843,229,818
(18,109,273)
(88,253,284)
1,723,482,854

105,262,800
42,704,809
86,940,860
135,369,573
208,078,985
1,118,306,891
(49,867,440)
(74,032,655)
1,572,763,823

Time deposits with and from Central Banks and banks and financial institutions represent inter-bank placements and
borrowings with an original term of 90 days or less.
The following operating, investing and financing activities, which represent non-cash items were excluded from the
consolidated cash flow statement as follows:
Net decrease in change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income, deferred tax liability and deferred tax asset in the amounts of LBP385.6billion,

(a)
securities for the year

LBP55.9billion
and LBP3.88billion,
against
Net decrease in change in
fair value of financial
assets at fairrespectively,
value through
other investment
comprehensive
income, deferred tax liability and deferred tax asset in the amounts of LBP385.6billion,
ended
December
2011 (Net decrease
in change
in fair
value of available-for-sale
LBP55.9billion
and31,
LBP3.88billion,
respectively,
against
investment
securities for thesecurities
year ended
and
deferred31,
tax2011
liability
in the
amounts
LBP120billion
and LBP21.76billion,
respectively,
December
(Net
decrease
in of
change
in fair value
of available-for-sale
securities and
against
for the year
ended December
31, 2010).
deferredinvestment
tax liabilitysecurities
in the amounts
of LBP120billion
and LBP21.76billion,
respectively, against
investment securities for the year ended December 31, 2010).

(b)

Increase ininassets
of of
debts
in the
amount
of LBP221.1billion
against
assetsacquired
acquiredininsatisfaction
satisfaction
debts
in the
amount
of LBP221.1billion
against
loans and
assets
for for
the the
amounts
of LBP119.8billion
and advances
advances to
tocustomers
customersand
andother
other
assets
amounts
of LBP119.8billion and
and
LBP101.35billion,
respectively,
for the
ended
December
2011
(LBP78.58billion
LBP101.35billion,
respectively,
for the
yearyear
ended
December
31,31,
2011
(LBP78.58billion
against
against
loans
and advances
to customers
for the
yearDecember
ended December
31, 2010).
loans and
advances
to customers
for the year
ended
31, 2010).

(c)

Increase in
increase
in in
change
in fair
value
in deferred
deferredtax
taxliability
liabilityon
onincome
incomefrom
fromassociates
associatesand
and
increase
change
in fair
value
of securities
securities at
at fair
fair value
value through
through other
other comprehensive
comprehensive income
income inin the
theamount
amountof
ofLBP427.2million
LBP427.2million
and LBP94.8million, respectively, against investments in associates and other investments for
for the
the
ended
December
2011
(Increase
of LBP796million,
LBP3.16billion,
respectively,
yearyear
ended
December
31, 31,
2011
(increase
of LBP796million,
andand
LBP3.16billion,
respectively,
for
for
year
ended
December
2010).
thethe
year
ended
December
31,31,
2010).

(d)

Increase in
in in
assets
acquired
in
in other
other assets
assetsininthe
theamount
amountofofLBP22.9billion
LBP22.9billionagainst
againsta decrease
a decrease
assets
acquired
satisfaction
of debts
for the
yearyear
ended
December
31, 2011
(Increase
in other
assetsassets
in thein the
in satisfaction
of debts
for the
ended
December
31, 2011
(increase
in other
amount of
forfor
thethe
of LBP1.69billion,
LBP1.69billion, against
againstaadecrease
decreaseininassets
assetsacquired
acquiredininsatisfaction
satisfactionofofdebts
debts
year ended December 31, 2010).

44. ACQUISITIONS
During the year 2011, the Group acquired an additional 4.9% of the voting shares of Allied Business Investment Corporation
S.A.L., increasing its ownership to 70.9% for a total consideration of LBP161million representing the carrying value of the
interest acquired. The acquisition price was fully settled during the year.
In addition, the Group acquired during the year 2011, 100% of the shares of Al Narjess Real Estate S.A.L. a real estate
company, for an amount of USD53million (LBP81billion) in satisfaction of a loan granted to a related party. As a result, an
amount of LBP79billion was recognized under “Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans” upon consolidation of the subsidiary
(Note 15).
Furthermore, during the year 2011, the Group acquired an additional 19% equity stake in Anshita Real Estate S.A.L., a real
estate company, for an amount of USD11.12million (LBP16.7billion), to become a wholly owned subsidiary. The Group
had acquired at the end of December 2010 an 81% equity stake in the mentioned subsidiary for a total consideration
of USD48.43million (LBP73billion) in satisfaction of a loan granted to a related party. As a result, the Group recognized
additions to “Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans” in the amount of LBP73billion in 2010 and LBP12.43billion in 2011
upon consolidation of the subsidiary (Note 15).
The Group acquired during the year 2011, 100% of the shares of Al Bani S.A.L., a real estate company, for a total consideration
of USD2.9million (LBP4.5billion). This subsidiary owns a real estate property with a value of LBP5.7billion presented under
“Other” under “Other assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position (Note 18).
During the year 2011, the Group reacquired 100% of the shares of four real estate companies (Al Hosn Real Estate S.A.L.,
Anbar Real Estate S.A.L., Sakhret Al Bahr Real Estate S.A.L. and Al Rihab Real Estate S.A.L.), which the Group had
previously sold to related parties in the year 2006 (Note 18). This reacquisition was done for an aggregate consideration
of LBP191.8billion offset against the outstanding receivable balance from the initial sale and amounting to LBP101.3billion
(Note 18) and the remaining balance of LBP90billion was settled. As a result, the Group recognized additions to “Assets
acquired in satisfaction of loans” in the aggregate amount of LBP163billion. Subsequent to its acquisition, the Group resold
during 2011, Al Rihab Real Estate S.A.L. to a related party for a total consideration of LBP52.8billion, resulting in a gain of
LBP30billion deferred and offset against the outstanding receivable under “Receivables on properties sold with deferred
payment” under “Other assets” (Note 18). The transaction was approved by the Central Bank of Lebanon.
During 2010, the Group acquired 100% of the shares of 146 Saifi S.A.L., a real estate company, for a total consideration
of LBP7.54billion (USD5million). The excess of the purchase price over the net asset value of the acquired interest in
the amount of LBP2.69billion (USD1.78million) was allocated to the real estate plot under property and equipment as an
adjustment of the carrying value to reflect it at its fair value.
The Group incorporated during the year 2011, a wholly owned financial institution, Emkan Finance S.A.L., with a share
capital of LBP2billion.
In addition, the Group incorporated during the year 2011 a wholly owned real estate company, Laura Real Estate S.A.L.,
with a share capital of LBP30million.
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45. COLLATERAL GIVEN
The carrying values of financial assets given as collateral are as follows as at December 31, 2011:

Pledged
Amount
LBP’000
Lebanese Government bonds at amortized cost
Pledged deposits with banks and
financial institutions
Lebanese Government bonds at amortized cost
Other foreign government bonds at amortized cost

538,946,325
75,375,000

Pledge deposits with banks and financial institutions

24,692,850

90,936,000
76,770,477

Corresponding Facilities
Amount of
Nature of
Outstanding
Facility
Facilities
LBP’000
LBP’000
Long term
borrowing
Soft loan
Borrowing under sale
and repurchase
agreement
Letter of guarantee
Letters of credit

292,500,000

90,936,000

76,770,477
21,426,518
1,597,844

Lebanese Government bonds at amortized cost
268,145,055

Customers’ deposits
at amortized cost

268,145,055

In addition to the above, the Group has pledged “Other government bonds at amortized cost” with an aggregate value of
LBP46.35billion in favor of the Central Bank of Turkey and the Turkish Stock Exchange against rights to perform and enter
into money market and other open market operations.
The carrying values of financial assets given as collateral are as follows as at December 31, 2010:

Pledged
Amount
LBP’000

Corresponding Facilities
Amount of
Nature of
Outstanding
Facility
Facilities
LBP’000
LBP’000

Held to maturity Lebanese government bonds
Pledged deposits with banks and
financial institutions
Held-to-maturity Lebanese government bonds
Pledged deposits with banks and
financial institutions

421,361,325
75,375,000

Long term
borrowing

218,587,500

90,936,000

Soft loan

90,936,000

23,939,100

21,612,834

Lebanese Government bonds at amortized cost

215,352,405

Letters of
guarantee
Customers’ deposits
at amortized cost

215,352,405

Over and above, the Group had contractual right of setoff arrangements with correspondent banks, details of which are
disclosed under Note 7.

46. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to comply with the capital requirements set by the Central Bank of
Lebanon, the Group’s main regulator, to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to maintain a
strong capital base.
Risk weighted assets and capital are monitored periodically to assess the quantum of capital available to support growth
and optimally deploy capital to achieve targeted returns.
The Central Bank of Lebanon requires each bank or banking group to hold a minimum level of regulatory capital of
LBP10billion for the head office and LBP500million for each local branch and LBP1.5billion for each branch abroad.

In addition, the bank is required to observe the minimum capital adequacy ratio set by the regulator at 8% (Basle 2 Ratio).
The Group monitors the adequacy of its capital using the methodology and ratios established by Central Bank of Lebanon.
These ratios measure capital adequacy by comparing the Group’s eligible capital with its balance sheet assets, commitments
and contingencies, and notional amount of derivatives at a weighted amount to reflect their relative risk.
The Group’s capital is split as follows:
Tier I capital: Comprises share capital after deduction of treasury shares, shareholders’ cash contribution to capital,
non-cumulative perpetual preferred shares, share premium, reserves from appropriation of profits and retained earnings.
Goodwill and cumulative unfavorable change in fair value of available-for-sale securities are deducted from Tier I Capital.
Tier II capital: Comprises qualifying subordinated liabilities, cumulative favorable change in fair value of available-for-sale
securities and revaluation surplus of owned properties.
Certain investments in financial and non-financial institutions are ineligible and are deducted from Tier I and Tier II.
Also, various limits are applied to the elements of capital base: Qualifying Tier II capital cannot exceed Tier I capital and
qualifying short term subordinated loan capital may not exceed 50% of Tier I capital.
The Group has complied with the regulatory capital requirement throughout the period.
The Group’s consolidated capital adequacy ratio as per Basle II/III, based on the Central Bank of Lebanon Circular # 44/282
as at December 31, 2011 and 2010 amounted to 10.00% and 11.06% respectively, and is determined as follows:

December 31,
2011
2010
LBP million
LBP million
Risk-weighted assets
Credit risk
Market risk
Operational risk
Tier I capital (including net income and excess of
general provision less proposed dividends and
reserves for assets acquired in satisfaction of loans)
Tier II capital
Total capital
Capital adequacy ratio - Tier I
Capital adequacy ratio - Tier I and Tier II

12,190,324
10,924,472
530,951
734,900

10,836,869
9,788,936
376,388
671,545

1,079,524
139,212
1,218,736

1,036,042
162,275
1,198,317

8.86%

9.56%

10.00%

11.06%

47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group’s activities are principally related to the use of financial instruments including derivatives. It accepts deposits from
customers at both fixed and floating rates and for various periods and seeks to earn interest margins by investing these
funds in high quality assets. It also seeks to increase these margins by consolidating short-term funds and lending for longer
periods at higher rates while maintaining sufficient liquidity to meet all claims that may fall due.
The Group also seeks to raise interest margins through lending to commercial and retail borrowers with a range of credit
standing. Such exposures include guarantees and other commitments such as letters of credit and performance and other
bonds.
With the exception of specific hedging arrangements, foreign exchange and interest rate exposures associated with
derivatives are normally offset by entering into counter balancing positions, thereby controlling the variability in the net cash
amounts required to liquidate market positions.
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Risk management is a systematic process of identifying and assessing the Group risks and taking actions to protect the
Group against these risks.
The use of financial instruments also brings with it associated inherent risks. The Group recognizes the relationship between
returns and risks associated with the use of financial instruments and the management of risks forms an integral part of the
Group’s strategic objectives.
The strategy of the Group is to maintain a strong risk management culture and manage the risk/reward relationship within
and across each of the Group’s major risk-based lines of business. The Group continuously reviews its risk management
policies and practices to reflect changes in markets, products and emerging best practice.
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
-

Credit risk
Liquidity risk
Market risk
Operational risk

A – Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if counterparty to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation.
Financial assets that are mainly exposed to credit risk are deposits with banks, loans and advances to customers and other
banks and investment securities. Credit risk also arises from off-balance sheet financial instruments such as letters of credit
and letters of guarantee.
Concentration of credit risk arises when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or activities in
the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations
to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations of credit risk indicate the
relative sensitivity of the Group’s performance affecting a particular industry or geographical location.
Concentrations of credit risk indicate the relative sensitivity of the Group’s performance to developments affecting a particular
industry or geographical location. The Group limits the impact of concentration risk in exposure by setting progressively
lower limits for longer tenors and taking security, where considered appropriate, to mitigate such risks.

1- Management of credit risk
The Group attempts to control credit risk by monitoring credit exposures, limiting transactions with specific counterparties,
and continually assessing the creditworthiness of counterparties. The Group’s risk management policies are designed to
identify and to set appropriate risk limits and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits. Actual exposures against limits
are monitored daily. In certain cases the Group may also close out transactions or assign them to other counterparties to
mitigate credit risk. The Group’s credit risk for derivatives represents the potential cost to replace the derivative contracts
if counterparties fail to fulfill their obligation, and to control the level of credit risk taken, the Group assesses counterparties
using the same techniques as for its lending activities.
The Group seeks to manage its credit risk exposure also through diversification of lending activities to ensure that there is no
undue concentration of risks with individuals or groups of customers in specific locations or business. It also takes security
when appropriate and also seeks additional collateral from the counterparty as soon as impairment indicators are noticed
for the relevant individual loans and advances.
Management monitors the market value of collateral, requests additional collateral in accordance with the underlying
agreement and monitors the market value of collateral obtained during its review of the adequacy of the allowance for
impairment losses.
The Group regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect changes in markets products and emerging
best practices.

2- Measurement of credit risk
a)

Loans and advances

The Group assesses the probability of default of individual counterparties using internal rating tools. The Group’s rating scale
reflects the range of default probabilities defined for each rating class as explained below:
•
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The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in its loan portfolio. The
main component of its allowance are specific loss component that relate to individually significant exposures, and a minor
part of a collective loan loss allowance established for retail and Small and Medium Enterprises (SME’s) where there is
objective evidence that unidentified losses exist at the reporting date. This provision is estimated based on various factors
including credit ratings allocated to a borrower or group of borrowers, the current economic conditions, the experience the
Group has had in dealing with a borrower or group of borrowers and available historical default information.
The Group writes off a loan/security balance (and any related allowances for impairment losses) when it determines that
the loans/securities are uncollectible. This determination is reached after considering information such as the occurrence
of significant changes in the borrower / issuer’s financial position such as the borrower / issuer can no longer pay the
obligation, or that proceeds from collateral will not be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure.

3- Risk mitigation policies
Collateral:
The Group mainly employs collateral to mitigate credit risk. The principal collateral types for loans and advances are:
-

Pledged deposits
Mortgages over real estate properties (land, commercial and residential properties)
Bank guarantees
Financial instruments (equities and debt securities)
Business other assets (such as inventories and accounts receivable)

Collateral generally is not held over loans and advances to banks, except when securities are held as part of reverse
repurchase and securities borrowing activity. Collateral usually is not held against investment securities.
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Other specific risk mitigation policies include:
Netting arrangements:
The Group sometimes further restricts its exposure to credit losses by entering into netting arrangements with counterparties.
Netting arrangements reduce credit risk associated with favorable contracts to the extent that if a default occurs, all amounts
with the counterparty are terminated and settled on a net basis.

4- Financial assets with credit risk exposure and related concentrations
a)

Exposure to credit risk:
December 31,
2011
2010
Gross Maximum
Gross Maximum
Exposure
Exposure
LBP’000
LBP’000

Central banks
Deposits with banks and financial institutions
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Loans to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances to related parties
Financial assets at other comprehensive income
Financial assets measured at amortized cost
Available-for-sale investment securities
Held-to-maturity investment securities
Customers’ acceptances liabilities
Other assets
Total

2,745,639,318
1,555,207,668
364,643,216
168,598,549
5,260,185,295
1,011,080,198
550,786,815
4,867,738,392
74,426,191
111,296,793
16,709,602,435

2,054,692,689
1,683,273,938
36,955,932
203,593,711
4,347,093,167
961,685,490
5,786,379,128
735,269,522
137,474,027
128,503,937
16,074,921,541

Financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk
Fiduciary deposits and assets under management
Total
Total credit risk exposure

2,855,112,168
1,103,352,699
3,958,464,867
20,668,067,302

2,744,371,089
1,497,827,895
4,242,198,984
20,317,120,525

Below are the details of the Group’s exposure to credit risk with respect to loans and advances to customers (excluding
deferred penalties):
December 31, 2011
Fair Value of Collateral Received
Gross Exposure
Net of Unrealized
Interest
LBP’000
Regular loans and advances 5,395,363,310
Substandard loans
17,436,978
Bad and doubtful loans
81,073,375
5,493,873,663

Allowance
for
Impairment
LBP’000

Net
Exposure
LBP’000

Pledged
funds
LBP’000

(161,805,412) 5,233,557,898 1,112,666,671
( 226,420)
17,210,558
603,000
( 57,706,456)
23,366,919
2,690,059
(219,738,288) 5,274,135,375 1,115,959,730

Property
LBP’000
1,945,081,030
17,873,664
90,562,163
2,053,516,857

Equity
Securities
LBP’000

Debt
Securities
LBP’000

1,133,862,190
32,850
1,133,895,040

78,201,401
78,201,401

Other
LBP’000
136,832,024
279,880
140,874
137,252,778

Total
LBP’000
4,406,643,316
18,756, 544
93,425,946
4,518,825,806

December 31, 2010
Fair Value of Collateral Received
Gross Exposure
Net of Unrealized
Interest
LBP’000
Regular loans and advances 4,447,343,878
Substandard loans
20,277,531
Bad and doubtful loans
115,570,917
4,583,192,326

Allowance
for
Impairment
LBP’000

Net
Exposure
LBP’000

(137,791,688) 4,309,552,190
(462,704)
19,814,827
(84,259,915)
31,311,002
(222,514,307) 4,360,678,019

Pledged
funds
LBP’000
949,244,176
142,193
3,183,696
952,570,065

Property
LBP’000
1,518,768,260
23,698,234
132,169,380
1,674,635,874

Equity
Securities
LBP’000

Debt
Securities
LBP’000

809,638,256
42,350
809,680,606

84,120,137
84,120,137

Other
LBP’000
159,832,711
10,014
139,754
159,982,479

Total
LBP’000
3,521,603,540
23,850,441
135,535,180
3,680,989,161
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Sovereign
LBP’000

Off-Balance sheet Risks:
Guarantees and standby letters of credit
Documentary and commercial
letters of credit
Forward exchange contracts
18,276,587
636,222,982

-

358,905,903
11,358,785
2,140,906,249

173,286,662
3,568,636
2,241,176,167

112,876,620
3,897,180

313,180,876

1,736,178,467
26,883,933
7,579,161

290,122,505
168,598,549
35,261,314
15,130,833

79,279,156

-

1,555,207,668

-

-

Real
Estate
LBP’000

-

Financial
Services
LBP’000

Concentration of financial assets by industry:

Balance sheet Exposure:
Cash and Central Banks
(excluding cash on hand)
2,745,639,318
Deposits with banks and
ﬁnancial institutions
Financial assets at fair value through
proﬁt or loss
16,557,336
Loans to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances to related parties
Financial assets at amortized cost
4,829,140,942
Financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income
Customers' acceptance liability
Other assets
1,559,000
7,592,896,596

b)

18,358,428
3,118,236

68,225,718

14,936,310
5,915,65 9
821,848,627

800,597,510
399,148
-

-

-

Manufacturing
LBP’000

24,698,812
8,171,947

120,897,402

27,941,879
617,794,795

589,852,916
-

-

-

-

814,170

532,148
67,649,074

67,116,926
-

-

-

December 31, 2011
Consumer
Real Estate
Goods Trading
Trading
LBP’000
LBP’000

923,936
9,308,000

33,044,214

3,063,684
50,833,945
1,300,224,537

57,963,375
839,715,820
332,760,257
15,887,456

-

-

Services
LBP’000

165,668,457
375,336,054

32,030,097

312,966
44,982
1,551,719,987

900,325,179
651,036,860
-

-

-

Private
Individuals
LBP’000

101,659,369
6,689,10 7

722,434,820

62,108
28,896,902
55,290,230
375,386,403

291,137,163
-

-

-

Other
LBP’000

442,462,209
1,042,743,506

1,369,906,453

550,786,815
74,426,191
111,296,793
16,709,602,435

364,643,216
168,598,549
5,260,185,295
1,011,080,198
4,867,738,392

1,555,207,668

2,745,639,318

Total
LBP’000

Guarantees and standby letters of credit
Documentary and commercial letters of credit
Forward exchange contracts

Off-Balance sheet Risks:

Balance sheet Exposure:
Cash and central banks
(excluding cash on hand)
Deposits with banks and ﬁnancial
institutions
Financial assets at fair value through
proﬁt or loss
Loans to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances to related parties
Available -for-sale investment securities
Held-to-maturity investment securities
Customers' acceptance liability
Other assets

-

36,955,932
4,788,537,679
735,269,522
1,623,040
7,617,078,862

-

2,054,692,689

Sovereign
LBP’000

102,204,081
22,108,200
528,599,937

203,593,711
29,340,874
464,305,712
3,966,343
2,384,480,578

1,683,273,938

-

Financial
Services
LBP’000

646,120,824
152,624,511
-

1,303,347,849
243,094,544
454,801,824
37,769,839
2,333,185
2,041,347,241

-

-

Real
Estate
LBP’000

336,654,556
85,418,491
3,284,235

674,208,476
98,979
14,943,848
15,358,155
704,609,458

-

-

Manufacturing
LBP’000

158,877,672
62,001,530
8,926,278

381,095,371
27,818,762
405,518
409,319,651

-

-

106,669,918
3,775,465
350,778

886,427,034
173,221,778
63,790,065
8,110,350
119,891,764
1,251,440,991

-

-

December 31, 2010
Consumer
Goods Trading
Services
LBP’000
LBP’000

40,255,530
5,026,475
459,552,121

824,381,862
545,270,189
2,687,067
273,535
1,372,612,653

-

-

Retail
L BP’000

19,427,730
2,127,757
-

248,291,701
45,729,854
10,552
294,032,107

-

-

Other
LBP’000

1,410,210,311
333,082,429
1,000,713,349

36,955,932
203,593,711
4,347,093,167
961,685,490
5,786,379,128
735,269,522
137,474,027
128,503,937
16,074,921,54 1

1,683,273,938

2,054,692,689

Total
LBP’000

c)

Concentration of assets and liabilities by geographical area:

Lebanon
LBP'000

Middle East,
Gulf & Africa
LBP'000

December 31, 2011
North
America
Europe
LBP'000
LBP'000

Other
LBP'000

Total
LBP'000

ASSETS
Cash and central banks
2,518,915,217
Deposits with banks and
Änancial institutions
1,132,809,269
Financial assets at fair value
through proÄt or loss
1,972,225
Loans to banks
160,122,633
Loans and advances
to customers
2,912,900,940
Loans and advances
to related parties
930,191,213
Financial assets at
fair value through
other comprehensive
income
418,642,908
Financial assets at
amortized cost
4,557,331,001
Customers' liability
under acceptances
52,408,840
Investments in associates
and other investments
105,625,896
Assets acquired in
satisfaction of loans
401,299,518
Goodwill
177,942,436
Property and equipment
204,853,564
Other assets
155,629,800
Total Assets
13,730,645,460

1,608

-

321,780,884

143,239,083

122,765,639

155,704,304

241,626,687
7,713,400

50,805,765
607,639

70,2 38,539
154,877

1,029,384,669

9,366,522

1,262,875,751

-

2,840,697,709

689,373
-

1,555,207,668
364,643,216
168,598,549

45,657,413

5,260,185,295

30,244,132

-

50,644,853

-

1,011,080,198

132,081,799

-

62,108

-

550,786,815

23,466,617

-

286,940,774

-

4,867,738,392

12,900,022

-

9,117,329

-

74,426,191

-

105,625,896

-

-

1,154,889
712,157
1,622,525,063

-

449,548,236

-

11
183,545,576

1,816,862
8,613,923
22,815,754
2,190,765,958

1,563,257
47,910,043

403,116,380
177,942,436
214,622,376
180,720,979
17,775,392,100

80,207,497

4,927,092

190,595,352

3,547,826

728,826,003

2,971,385

2,875,752

-

8,603,756,703

1,468,801,871

186,140,125

1,572,168,006

248,899,032

12,079,765,737

203,399,579

1,794,733,166

166,390,557

34,691,823

2,783,680

2,201,998,805

3,955,134
94,085,117
161,423,480
31,138,156
9,550,277,790

9,558,378
1,620,501
149,135
3,357,946,300

32,342,541
389,800,315

28,069,868
403,139,063
453,448,506
38,291,376
10,374,700
2,731,385,243

500,270
852,077
256,582,885

74,426,191
497,224,180
453,448,506
202,187,434
41,661,991
16,285,992,533

LIABILITIES
Deposits and borrowings
from banks
Liabilities designated at
fair value through
WYVÄ[VYSVZZ
Customers' accounts at
amortized cost
Related parties' accounts
at amortized cost
Customers' acceptance
liability
Other borrowings
*LY[PÄJH[LZVMKLWVZP[
Other liabilities
Provisions
Total Liabilities

606,549

-

6,453,686
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Lebanon
LBP'000

Middle East,
Gulf & Africa
LBP'000

December 31, 2010
North
America
Europe
LBP'000
LBP'000

Other
LBP'000

Total
LBP'000

-

2,159,955,489

ASSETS
Cashand central banks
1,935,234,092
Deposits with banks and
Änancial institutions
193,706,585
Financial assets at fair value
through proÄt or loss
36,537,324
Loans to banks
161,409,787
Loans and advances to
customers
2,534,951,544
Loans and advances to
related parties
895,138,488
Available -for-sale investment
securities
5,204,799,434
Held-to-maturity investment
securities
688,871,864
Customers' acceptance
Liability
92,558,478
Investments in associates
and other investments
96,598,425
Assets acquired in
satisfaction of loans
142,696,115
Goodwill
177,982,424
Property and equipment
181,337,082
Other assets
174,890,442
Total Assets
12,516,712,084

2,010
641,903,161
24,898,813
691,164,828

90,493,853
24,943,774

224,719,387
755,770,770
418,608
17,285,111
1,072,057,547

1,399,569
23,975,474

1,683,273,938
36,955,932
203,593,711
4,347,093,167

4,170,769

-

62,376,233

-

961,685,490

299,542,628

-

282,037,066

-

5,786,379,128

-

-

46,397,658

-

735,269,522

-

16,773,390

-

137,474,027

-

96,598,425

28,142,159
-

-

-

1,303,926
1,143,340
1,692,271,634

4,485
115,442,112

1,380,825
13,769,537
20,799,747
2,513,785,879

458,821,753

65,482,489

57,004

97,110,328

5,149,530

626,621,104

41,503,952

3,352,700

45,225

1,658,647

1,099,520

47,660,044

8,329,380,732

1,676,813,159

114,683,639

1,386,756,867

244,084,395

11,751,718,792

52,835
25,427,878

144,076,940
177,982,424
196,410,545
196,890,849
16,863,639,587

LIABILITIES
Deposits from banks and
ÄUHUJPHSPUZ[P[\[PVUZ
Customers’ deposits at
fair value through
WYVÄ[VYSVZZ
Customers' deposits at
amortized cost
Related parties' deposits
at fair value through
WYVÄ[ or loss
Related parties' deposits
at amortized cost
Acceptances payable
Borrowings from banks
HUKÄUHUJPHSPUZ[P[\[PVUZ
*LY[PÄJH[LZVMKLWVZP[
Other liabilities
Provisions
Total Liabilities

-

2,950,037

227,409,171
2,952,581

911,079,086
19,429,424

96,351,541
187,103,087
29,189,024
9,372,711,841

977,745
104,105
2,680,188,745

287,072,079
32,734,066
50
434,592,063

-

-

2,950,037

43,940,975
81,628,359

3,411,374
729,597

1,472,912,685
137,474,027

339,924,005
453,020,994
44,819,810
8,544,317
2,457,404,302

8,531
254,482,947

436,275,546
453,020,994
232,909,223
37,837,446
15,199,379,898

d)

Credit quality by class of financial assets

In managing its portfolio, the Group utilizes ratings and other measures and techniques which seek to take account of all
aspects of perceived risk. Credit exposures classified as “High” quality are those where the ultimate risk of financial loss
from the obligor’s failure to discharge its obligation is assessed to be low. These include facilities to corporate entities with
financial condition, risk indicators and capacity to repay which are considered to be good to excellent. Credit exposures
classified as “Standard” quality comprise all other facilities whose payment performance is fully compliant with contractual
conditions and which are not “impaired”. The ultimate risk of possible financial loss on “Standard” quality is assessed
to be higher than that for the exposures classified within the “High” quality ratings. The credit quality of financial assets
is managed by the Bank using internal credit ratings. The table below shows the credit quality by class of asset for all
financial assets exposed to credit risk, based on the Group’s internal credit rating system:
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Financial investments - Financial assets at amortized cost
Lebanese Government bonds
Certiﬁcates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon
Certiﬁcates of deposit issued banks
Corporate debt securities
Other foreign government bonds

Financial investments-Financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income
Quoted equity securities
Unquoted equity securities at cost
Convertible preferred shares issued by a Lebanese bank
Non-cumulative preferred shares
issued by a Lebanese bank

Loans and advances
Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances to related parties

Credit linked notes issued by banks
Other foreign government bonds
Quoted equity securities
Unquoted equity securities

Financial assets designated at fair value through proﬁt or loss

Financial assets at amortized costs
Accounts with central banks
Deposits with banks and ﬁnancial institutions
Loans to banks
Other assets

1,829,211,678
2,651,020,720
271,809,942
4,752,042,340
7,509,877,594

-

29,705,287
550,786,815
15,075,000
22,575,572
37,650,572
9,142,736,571

-

-

16,405,079
16,405,079

2,739,871,175
1,559,000
2,741,430,175

Sovereign
LBP’000

496,500,656
20,725,215
3,855,657

5,371,094,050
1,010,746,937
6,381,840,987

191,226,375
79,678,573
57,471,930
799,454
14,256,999
343,433,331

1,551,166,698
168,120,375
109,737,793
1,829,024,866

High and
Standard Grades
LBP’000

Neither past due nor impaired

8,037,645

-

-

8,037,645
8,037,645

-

-

Past due
but not
Impaired
LBP’000

( 182,205,393)

-

( 107,032)

107,032
208,832,790

( 107,032)
-

( 159,485,861)
( 159,485,861)

-

( 22,612,500)
( 22,612,500)

Allowance for
Impairment
LBP’000

107,032
-

186,113,258
186,113,258

-

22,612,500
22,612,500

Individually
Impaired
LBP’000

December 31, 2011

( 161,805,412)

-

-

( 161,805,412)
( 161,805,412)

-

-

Collective
Provision
LBP’000

35,969,319
41,129,284
891,045
55,832
78,045,480
109,702,449

-

-

16,231,615
333,261
16,564,876

1,588,157
2,241,297
823,095
152,257
4,804,806

5,768,143
4,040,970
478,174
10,287,287

Accrued
Interest
LBP’000

1,865,180,997
2,692,150,004
15,966,045
22,631,404
271,809,942
4,867,738,392
16,635,176,244

29,705,287
550,786,815

496,500,656
20,725,215
3,855,657

5,260,185,295
1,011,080,198
6,271,265,493

192,814,532
81,919,870
58,295,025
16,557,336
799,454
14,256,999
364,643,216

2,745,639,318
1,555,207,668
168,598,549
111,296,793
4,580,742,328

Total
LBP’000
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4,424,858,508
961,380,434
5,386,238,942

884,949
884,949

1,679,859,685
203,208,781
12 6,880,897
2,009,949,363

Financial investments held- to -maturity
Lebanese government bonds
Turkish government bonds
Certiﬁcates of deposit issued by
the Central Bank of Lebanon
59,041,817
722,200,213
7,526,681,927

8,390,217,422

6,518,316

-

-

2,626,283,645
232,995,819
4,714,041,053

616,760,738
46,397,658

-

6,518,316
6,518,316

-

-

Past due
but not
Impaired
LBP’000

1,854,761,589

-

35,349,368
418,608
35,767,976

2,053,049,645
1,623,040
2,054,672,685

Sovereign
LBP’000

-

Financial investments - available -for -sale
Quoted equity securities
619,758,964
Unquoted equity securities
36,106,478
Cumulative preferred shares issued by a Lebanese bank
6,030,000
Convertible preferred shares issued by a Lebanese bank
3,780,056
Non-cumulative preferred shares issued by a Lebanese bank 33,291,178
Lebanese government bonds
Certiﬁcates of deposit issued by the
Central Bank of Lebanon
Certiﬁcates of deposit issued by banks
15,075,000
Corporate debt securities
279,102,492
Turkish government bonds
993,144,168

Loans and advances
Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances to related parties

Financial assets designated at fair
value through proﬁt or loss
Lebanese Government Bonds
Turkish government bonds
Quoted equity securities

Financial assets at amortized costs
Accounts with Central banks
Deposits with banks and ﬁnancial institutions
Loans to banks
Other assets

High and
Standard Grades
LBP’000

Neither past due nor impaired

337,841,721

-

107,032

107,032
-

315,122,189
315,122,189

-

22,612,500
22,612,500

Individually
Impaired
LBP’000

(300,300,744)

-

(107,032)

(107,032)
-

(277,581,212)
(277,581,212)

-

( 22,612,500)
( 22,612,500)

Allowance for
Impairment
LBP’000

December 31, 2010

(137,791,688)

-

-

-

(137,791,688)
(137,791,688)

-

-

Collective
Provision
LBP’000

1,129,578
13,069,309
114,280,560

11,939,731
-

36,226,530
64,995
4,632,658
158,288
79,193,907

38,111,436

15,967,054
305,056
16,272,110

303,007
303,007

1,643,044
3,414,253
384,930
5,442,227

Accrued
Interest
LBP’000

60,171,395
735,269,522
15,937,447,514

628,700,469
46,397,658

2,662,510,175
15,139,995
283,735,150
233,154,107
5,786,379,128

619,758,964
36,106,478
6,030,000
3,780,056
33,291,178
1,892,873,025

4,347,093,167
961,685,490
5,308,778,657

35,652,375
418,608
884,949
36,955,932

2,054,692,689
1,683,273,938
203,593,711
128,503,937
4,070,064,275

Total
LBP’000

B – Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its net funding requirements. Liquidity risk can be caused by
market disruptions or credit downgrades, which may cause certain sources of funding to dry up immediately.

1- Management of liquidity risk
To mitigate this risk, management has diversified funding sources, manages assets with liquidity in mind, maintaining an
adequate balance of cash, cash equivalents and readily marketable securities and monitors future cash flows and liquidity
on a daily basis. The Group also has committed lines of credit that it can access to meet liquidity needs.
Liquidity risk is the Group’s ability to ensure the availability of funding to meet commitments, both on-balance and offbalance sheet commitments, at a reasonable cost on time. The management of liquidity should not lead to threats to the
Group’s solvency.
Liquidity risk arises when in case of crisis, refinancing may only be raised at higher market rates (funding risk), or assets may
only be liquidated at a discount to market rates (market liquidity risk). Liquidity risk is also caused by mismatches in the
maturities of assets and liabilities (uses and sources of funds).
In accordance with banking regulations issued by Central Bank of Lebanon, the Group maintains compulsory reserves
with Central Bank of Lebanon of 25% and 15% of the weekly average demand and term customers’ deposits in Lebanese
Pounds. The Group has the ability to raise additional funds through repurchase facilities available with Central Bank of
Lebanon against Government debt securities.
The Group sets policies and procedures to ensure that its individual entities are in compliance with liquidity ratios imposed
by the regulators in the countries in which each of these entities operates in addition to other internal limits and thresholds.

2- Exposure to liquidity risk
The tables below summarize the maturity profile of the Group’s assets, liabilities and equity. The contractual maturities of
assets and liabilities have been determined on the basis of the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual
maturity date, and do not take account of the effective maturities as indicated by the Group’s deposit retention history and
the availability of liquid funds. Management monitors the maturity profile to ensure that adequate liquidity is maintained.
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33,419,904
224,239,833

12,305,072
23,216,999
81,431,167
23,068,898
198,924,584
17,233,457
610,037,389

422,805
11,257,692
929,494
58,525,411
27,082,846
98,218,248
511,819,141

Deposits from banks and ﬁnancial institutions
Customers' accounts at amortized cost
Related parties' accounts at amortized cost
Borrowings from banks and ﬁnancial institutions
Other liabilities
Provisions

Total Liabilities

Maturity Gap

( 2,731,986,814)

2,956,226,647

25,011,443
2,782,908,650
148,306,554
-

21,541,147
169,278,782

338,828,421
( 84,971,209)
-

Up to 3
months
LBP’000

Cash and central banks
Deposits with banks and ﬁnancial institutions
Loans to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances to related parties
Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income and at amortized cost
Investments in associates and other investments
Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans
Goodwill
Property and equipment
Other assets
Total Assets

ASSETS

Accounts with
No maturity
LBP’000

253,184,875

203,713,190

202,281,260
1,428,915
3,015
-

440,827,388
456,898,065

1,669,796
14,400,881
-

3 months to
1 year
LBP’000

854,955,741

19,390

19,390
-

827,355,097
854,975,132

27,620,035
-

76,211,837

91,720,187

91,720,187
-

122,898,860
22,224,655
167,932,024

1,513,271
21,295,238
-

December 31, 2011
LBP Base Accounts
1 to 3
3 to 5
years
years
LBP’000
LBP’000

1,767,585,889

-

-

1,243,231,278
1,767,585,889

455,268,730
9,445,676
59,640,205
-

5 to 10
years
LBP’000

The tables below show the Group’s assets and liabilities in Lebanese Pounds and foreign currencies base accounts segregated by maturity:

Residual contractual maturities of assets and liabilities:

182,041,697

-

-

182,041,697

182,041,697
-

Over 10
years
LBP’000

913,812,367

3,349,897,662

25,434,248
2,996,466,992
150,664,963
91,720,187
58,528,426
27,082,846

2,680,037,599
23,216,999
81,431,167
23,068,898
198,924,584
39,458,112
4,263,710,029

794,097,151
1,669,79 6
10,958 ,947
241,567,994
169,278,782

Total
LBP’000

1 04,045,148
661,354,592

Maturity Gap

(3,328,188,220 )

3,536,035,887

73,914,901
2,919,003,140
543,074,855
42,991
-

27,275,513
13,013,637
207,847,667

11,984,413
45,128,823
62,448,390
23,068,898
175,135,216
17,286,963
765,399,740

12,047,693
142,967
66,492,836
25,361,652

6,195,677
16,161,769
145,201,071

Up to 3
months
LBP’000

458,819,441
(28,472,404)
-

Total Liabilities

Deposits from banks and ﬁnancial institutions
Customers' deposits at amortized cost
Related parties' deposits at amortized cost
Borrowings from banks and ﬁnancial institutions
Other liabilities
Provisions

LIABILITIES

Cash and central banks
Deposits with banks and ﬁnancial institutions
Loans to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances to related parties
Available -for-sale and Held-to-maturity
investment securities
Investments in associates and other investments
Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans
Goodwill
Property and equipment
Other assets
Total Assets

ASSETS

Accounts with
No maturity
LBP’000

610,717,687

111,074,080

105,540,424
5,395,583
138,073
-

716,561,470
721,791,767

5,230,297
-

3 months to
1 year
LBP’000

603,154,435

1,248,650

918,072
330,578
-

576,954,550
604,403,085

27,448,535
-

940,448,608

319,010

319,010
-

924,117,568
940,767,618

16,650,050
-

December 31, 2010
LBP Base Accounts
1 to 3
3 to 5
years
years
LBP’000
LBP’000

1,298,089,582

91,812,313

91,708,123
104,190
-

1,344,351,480
1,664,623
1,389,901,895

12,567,990
31,317,802
-

5 to 10
years
LBP’000

90,420,315

-

-

90,420,315

90,420,315
-

Over 10
years
LBP’000

875,996,999

3,844,535,088

73,914,901
3,037,509,329
548,613,405
91,708,123
67,427,678
25,361,652

3,601,244,994
45,128,823
62,448,390
23,068,898
175,135,216
31,965,223
4,720,532,087

458,819,441
6,195,677
12,567,990
158,756,364
145,201,071

Total
LBP’000
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6,228,581,929
1,827,537,086
52,889,657
3,051,171
-

3,298,629
419,209,623
3,567,033
2,979,799
142,996,519
14,579,145
586,700,049
1,041,153,601

Total Liabilities

Maturity Gap

(2,353,425,931)

8,120,960,401

8,900,558

67,718,759
52,889,657
72,816
5,767,534,470

504,920,797
2,979,799
82,408,897
321,685,213
154,873,538
15,697,792
139,779,397
1,627,853,650

69,301

499,005,759
1,237,946,999
73,054
46,099,507
3,075,335,065
788,392,854

285,594,423
118,461,037
15,056,453
13,450,030
( 27,054,302)
576

Up to 3
months
LBP’000

Deposits from banks and Änancial institutions
Liabilities d esignated at fair value through
proÄt or loss
Customers' accounts at amortized cost
Related parties' accounts at amortized cost
Liability under acceptances
Borrowings from banks and Änancial institutions
CertiÄcates of deposit
Other liabilities
Provisions

LIABILITIES

Cash and central banks
Deposits with banks and Änancial institutions
Financial assets at fair value through proÄt or loss
Loans to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances to related parties
Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income and at amortized cost
Customers’ acceptance liability
Investments in associates and other investments
Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans
Goodwill
Property and equipment
Other assets
Total Assets

ASSETS

Accounts with
No maturity
LBP’000

(1,109,523,643)

2,907,481,379

2,038,655,072
201,401,048
18,556,735
42,433,010
453,448,506
210,239
-

152,776,769

443,272,597
18,556,735
66,033
1,797,957,736

463,089,349
112,900,409
9,209,318
86,855,536
663,944,363
63,396

3 months to
1 year
LBP’000

388,247,231

982,794,998

299,326,064
18,828,675
122,995,132
-

541,645,127

497,352,985
1,371,042,229

256,556,225
84,229,427
139,791,744
11,234,529
381,848,366
28,953

1,800,479,714

219,713,661

96,586,264
122,675,147
452,250
-

-

607,742,925
1,344,621
2,020,193,375

542,354,802
191,813,605
626,356,380
50,581,042

December 31, 2011
F/Cy Base Accounts
1 to 3
3 to 5
years
years
LBP’000
LBP’000

573,294,779

108,589,612

939,793
107,649,819
-

-

435,068,897
681,884,391

8,699,042
238,116,452
-

5 to 10
years
LBP’000

235,361,449

9,854,771

3,155,057
6,699,714
-

-

182,410,648
245,216,220

60,070,977
2,734,595

Over 10
years
LBP’000

575,587,200

12,9 36,094,871

6,453,686
9,083,298,745
2,051,333,842
74,426,191
405,503,99 1
453,448,506
143,659,008
14,579,145

703,391,755

2,738,487,608
74,426,191
82,408,897
321,685,213
154,873,538
15,697,792
141,262,867
13,511,682,071

2,046,600,558
1,553,537,872
364,643,216
157,639,602
5,018,617,301
841,801,416

Total
LBP’000

641,340,964
114,138,263
3,051,540
24,979,060
824,619

4,190,666
1,005,842
140,496,901
11,651,175
683,325,372
854,600,731

Total Liabilities

Maturity Gap

( 3,079,069,546)

8,001,112,494

462,122
7,132,799,745

11,682,814
4,922,042,948

51,469,602
81,628,550
154,913,526
21,275,329
149,996,070
1,537,926,103

12,591,786
476,639,653

14,969,119
114,138,263

643,880,799
1,005,842

83,516,181

145,657
54,126,421
2,440,242,200
737,454,189

884,949
29,018,916
14,007,502

36,749,349

88,749,666
1,460,534,619

204,670,284
185,174,734

Up to 3
months
LBP’000

Deposits from banks and ﬁnancial institutions
Customers' deposits at fair value
through proﬁt or loss
Customers' deposits at amortized cost
Related parties' deposits at fair value through proﬁt
or loss
Related parties' deposits at amortized cost
Acceptances payable
Borrowings from banks and ﬁnancial institutions
Certiﬁcates of deposit
Other liabilities
Provisions

LIABILITIES

Cash and central banks
Deposits with banks and ﬁnancial institutions
Financial assets at fair value through proﬁt or
loss
Loans to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances to related parties
Available -for-sale and Held-to -maturity
investment securities
Customers' liability under acceptances
Investments in associates and other
investments
Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans
Goodwill
Property and equipment
Other assets
Total Assets

ASSETS

Accounts with
No maturity
LBP’000

308,609,569

652,527,216

19,903,560
22,191,013
9,596,198
5,584
-

34,606,136
559,012,194

7,212,531

11,306
961,136,785

42,272,115
22,191,013

35,831,755
108,701,802
596,382,454
771

154,660,033
1,085,536

3 months to
1 year
LBP’000

(306,667,063)

1,809,201,807

258,864,090
138,909
136,080,831
453,020,994
-

535,868,841

425,228,142

213,488
1,502,534,744

394,258,017
138,909

28,197,498
368,963,910
-

710,762,922
-

1,833,165,129

49,458,124

43,794,164
-

5,663,960

-

1,882,623,253

748,682,207
-

93,571
498,940,506
62,330,454

542,293,143
30,283,372

December 31, 2010
F/Cy Base Accounts
1 to 3
3 to 5
years
years
LBP’000
LBP’000

682,966,163

104,203,765

99,978,695
-

4,225,070

-

3,021,948
787,169,928

588,775,494
-

195,372,486
-

-

5 to 10
years
LBP’000

494,657,707

55,016,032

2,950,037
52,065,995
-

-

-

549,673,739

487,565,905
-

59,416,331
2,691,503

-

Over 10
years
LBP’000

788,262,690

11,354,844,810

2,950,037
924,299,280
137,474,027
344,567,423
453,020,994
165,481,545
12,475,794

47,660,044
8,714,209,463

552,706,203

51,469,602
81,628,550
154,913,526
21,275,329
164,925,626
12,143,107,500

2,920,403,656
137,474,027

36,955,932
191,025,721
4,188,336,803
816,484,419

1,701,136,048
1,677,078,261

Total
LBP’000

C – Market Risks
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in
market variables such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates, and equity prices.

1- Management of market risks
The Group classifies exposures to market risk into either trading or banking (non-trading) book. The market risk for the
trading book is managed and monitored using a combination of limits monitoring and Value at Risk (VAR) methodology.
Market risk for non-trading book includes Price and Liquidity risks that are managed and monitored through internal limits,
gap analysis, stress testing and sensitivity analysis.

a) Market Risk-Trading Book
Trading Book contains the Group’s positions in financial instruments which are held intentionally for short-term resale and/or
with the intent of benefiting from actual or expected short-term price movements or to lock in arbitrage profits.
The Board has set limits for the acceptable level of risks in managing the trading book. The Group applies a VAR methodology
to assess the market risk positions held and to estimate the potential economic loss based upon a number of parameters
and assumptions for change in market conditions.
A VAR methodology estimates the potential negative change in market value of a portfolio at a given confidence level and
over a specified time horizon. The Group uses simulation models to assess the possible changes in the market value of
the trading book based on historical data. VAR models are usually designed to measure the market risk in a normal market
environment and therefore the use of VAR has limitations as it is based on historical correlations and market price volatilities
and assumes that the future movements will follow a statistical distribution.
The VAR that the Group measures is an estimate, using a confidence level of 95% of the potential loss that is not expected
to be exceeded if the current market positions were to be held unchanged for one day. The use of 95% confidence level
depicts that within a one-day horizon, losses exceeding VAR figure should occur, on average, not more than once every
hundred days.
The VAR represents the risk of portfolios at the close of a business day, and it does not account for any losses that may
occur beyond the defined confidence interval. The actual trading results however, may differ from the VAR calculations and,
in particular, the calculation does not provide a meaningful indication of profits and losses in stressed market conditions.

b) Market Risk – Non-Trading Or Banking Book
Market risk on non-trading or banking positions mainly arises from the interest rate, foreign currency exposures, equity price
changes and liquidity risk.

2- Exposure to Foreign Exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that changes in foreign currency rates will affect the Group’s income or the value of its
holdings of financial instruments. The objective of foreign currency risk management is to manage and control foreign
currency risk exposure within acceptable parameters while optimizing the return on risk.
Foreign exchange exposure arises from normal banking activities, primarily from the receipt of deposits and the placement
of funds. Future open positions in any currency are managed by means of forward foreign exchange contracts. It is the
policy of the Group that it will, at all times, adhere to the limits laid down by the Central Bank as referred to below. It is not
the Group’s intention to take open positions on its own account (proprietary trading) but rather to maintain square or near
square positions in all currencies.
The Management sets limits on the level of exposure by currency and in the aggregate for both overnight and intra-day
positions and hedging strategies, which are monitored daily and are in compliance with Central Bank of Lebanon rules and
regulations.
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Below is the carrying value of assets and liabilities segregated by major currencies to reflect the Group’s exposure to
foreign currency exchange risk at year end:

LBP
LBP'000

USD
LBP'000

December 31, 2011
EURO
GBP
LBP'000
LBP'000

Other
LBP'000

Total
LBP'000

ASSETS
Cash and central banks
Deposits with banks and
Änancial institutions
Financial assets at fair
value through proÄt
or loss
Loans to banks
Loans and advances to
customers
Loans and advances to
related parties
Fair value through other
comprehensive income
and amortized cost
investment securities
Customers' acceptance
liability
Investments in associates
and other investments
Assets acquired in
satisfaction of loans
Goodwill
Property and equipment
Other assets
Total Assets

794,097,151

1,795,075,992

70,348,114

768,159

180,408,293

2,840,697,709

1,669,796

861,358,480

227,582,140

21,330,616

443,266,636

1,555,207,668

10,958,947

350,980,280
51,464,758

13,523,782
101,188,344

4,986,500

139,154
-

364,643,216
168,598,549

241,567,994

3,879,167,022

272,875,155

8,202,370

858,372,754

5,260,185,295

169,278,782

714,698,704

1,920,442

-

125,182,270

1,011,080,198

2,680,037,599

2,355,744,839

1,135,723

-

381,607,046

5,418,525,207

47,517,553

17,936,852

8,864,651

74,426,191

23,216,999

82,407,389

1,508

81,431,167
23,068,898
198,924,584
39,458,112
4,263,710,029

319,868,351
113,253,339
5,986,265
45,927,931
10,623,450,903

25,434,248

501,570,371

-

107,135
-

-

105,625,896

3,015
29,009,614
735,524,689

(2,942,984)
32,451,796

1,816,862
41,620,199
9,708,512
60,457,078
2,111,443,455

403,116,380
177,942,436
214,622,376
171,909,751
17,766,580,872

102,615,403

767

99,205,214

728,826,003

LIABILITIES
Deposits from banks and
Änancial institutions
Customers' deposits at fair
value through proÄt or loss
Customers' deposits at
amortized cost
Related parties' deposits
at amortized cost
Acceptances payable
Borrowings from
banks and Änancial
institutions
CertiÄcates of deposit
Other liabilities
Provisions
Total Liabilities
Currencies to be delivered
Currencies to be received
Discount/Premium
Net on-balance sheet
Änancial position

-

6,453,686

-

-

-

6,453,686

2,996,466,992

7,636,513,459

583,181,605

55,295,243

808,308,438

12,079,765,737

150,664,963
-

1,605,774,014
47,517,552

1,913,924
17,936,852

107,135

443,645,904
8,864,652

2,201,998,805
74,426,191

91,720,187
58,528,426
27,082,846
3,349,897,662

404,988,783
453,448,506
101,627,755
4,105,616
10,761,999,742

515,210
5,083,867
281,717
711,528,578

210,887
939
55,614,971

36,736,499
10,190,873
1,406,951,580

497,224,180
453,448,506
202,187,434
4 1,661,991
16,285,992,533

-

(374,507,530)
606,253,792
(1,309,794)
230,436,468

(129,950,877)
119,167,117
( 10,783,760)

(6,539,241)
28,117,901
21,578,660

(521,624,761)
289,204,696
(75)
(232,420,140)

(1,032,622,409 )
1,042,743,506
(1,309,869)
8,811,228

913,812,367

91,887,629

13,212,351

(1,584,515 )

472,071,735

1,489,399,567

ASSETS
Cash and central banks
Deposits with banks and
Änancial institutions
Financial assets at fair
value through proÄt or
loss
Loans to banks
Loans and advances to
customers
Loans and advances to
related parties
Available -for-sale and
Held-to-maturity
investment securities
Customers' acceptance
liability
Investments in associates
and other investments
Assets acquired insatisfaction
of loans
Goodwill
Property and equipment
Other assets
Total Assets

LBP
LBP'000

USD
LBP'000

December 31, 2010
EURO
GBP
LBP'000
LBP'000

Other
LBP'000

Total
LBP'000

458,819,441

1,508,182,188

58,516,111

784,183

133,653,566

2,159,955,489

6,195,677

948,251,904

288,095,540

59,081,821

381,648,996

1,683,273,938

12,567,990

36,537,324
80,168,993

105,920,578

4,925,903

418,608
10,247

36,955,932
203,593,711

158,756,364

3,160,158,288

274,511,227

6,448,620

747,218,668

4,347,093,167

145,201,071

711,166,043

1,932,954

-

103,385,422

961,685,490

3,601,244,994

2,520,797,878

5,169,782

4,756,163

389,679,833

6,521,648,650

89,457,745

26,170,348

69,537

21,776,397

137,474,027

45,128,823

51,468,095

1,507

-

96,598,425

62,448,390
23,068,898
175,135,216
31,965,223
4,720,532,087

80,247,725
113,253,339
6,105,793
141,994,218
9,447,789,533

156,373
2,943,958
763,418,378

452,597,881

81,902,268

47,197,922

-

-

609,296,043
-

-

1,309
76,067,536

1,380,825
41,660,187
15,013,163
19,986,141
1,855,832,053

144,076,940
177,982,424
196,410,545
196,890,849
16,863,639,587

18,206,052

626,621,104

462,122

47,660,044

58,251,549

868,334,254

11,751,718,792

-

-

LIABILITIES
Deposits from banks and
Änancial institutions
73,914,901
Customers' deposits at fair
value through proÄt or loss
Customers' deposits at
amortized cost
3,037,509,329
Related parties' deposits at
fair value through proÄt
or loss
Related parties' deposits at
amortized cost
548,613,405
Acceptances payable
Borrowings from banks and
Änancial institutions
91,708,123
CertiÄcates of deposit
Other liabilities
67,427,678
Provisions
25,361,652
Total Liabilities
3,844,535,088
Currencies to be delivered
Currencies to be received
Discount / Premium
Net on -balance sheet
Änancial position

7,178,327,617
2,950,037
887,057,132
89,457,745

3,248,260
26,170,348

343,542,098
453,020,994
136,298,205
3,409,089
9,593,858,720

1,025,325
8,217,052
176,378
730,035,674

-

( 261,874,123)
692,262,537
( 344,017)
430,044,397

( 77,764,725)
47,225,404
( 30,539,321)

875,996,999

283,975,210

2,843,383

2

2,950,037

33,846,195
21,776,397

1,472,912,685
137,474,027

( 2,773,345)
940
55,696,376

11,882,690
8,889,387
963,397,097

436,275,546
453,020,994
221,052,280
37,837,446
15,187,522,955

(26,953,449)
7,008,934
(19,944,515)

( 645,633,978)
254,216,474
( 391,417,504)

(1,012,226,275)
1,000,713,349
( 344,017 )
(11,856,943)

501,017,452

1,664,259,689

147,693
69,537

426,645
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3- Exposure to Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises when there is a mismatch between positions, which are subject to interest rate adjustment within a
specified period. The Group’s lending, funding and investment activities give rise to interest rate risk. The immediate impact
of variation in interest rate is on the Group’s net interest income, while a long term impact is on the Group’s net worth since
the economic value of the Group’s assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet exposures are affected.
The Group manages this risk by matching or hedging the repricing profile of assets and liabilities through risk management
strategies.
The Board has established interest rate gap limits for stipulated periods.
The effective interest rate (effective yield) of a monetary financial instrument is the rate that, when used in a present value
calculation, results in the carrying amount of the instrument. The rate is a historical rate for a fixed rate instrument carried at
amortized cost and a current market rate for a floating rate instrument or an instrument carried at fair value.
Below is a summary of the Group’s interest rate gap position on assets and liabilities reflected at carrying amounts at year
end segregated between floating and fixed interest rate earning or bearing and between Lebanese Pound and foreign
currencies base accounts:
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610,037,389

Total Assets

(2,731,986,815)

2,956,226,648

511,816,127

98,221,262

Total Liabilities

Interest rate gap position

25,011,443
2,782,908,650
148,306,555
-

Deposits and borrowings from banks
422,805
Customers' accounts at amortized cost
11,257,692
Related parties' accounts at amortized cost
929,49 3
Other borrowings
Other liabilities
58,528,426
Provisions
27,082,846

LIABILITIES

-

224,239,833

33,419,904

23,216,999
81,431,167
23,068,898
198,924,584
17,233,457

( 84,971,209)
-

12,305,072

-

21,541,147
169,278,782

338,828,421

Up to 3
months
LBP’000

Cash and central banks
Deposits with banks and
Änancial institutions
Loans to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances to related parties
Fair Value through other comprehensive
income and amortized cost
investment securities
Investments in associates and
other investments
Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans
Goodwill
Property and equipment
Other assets

ASSETS

Non-interest
bearing
LBP’000

Interest rate gap position in LBP:

(114,758,678)

123,643,887

122,214,972
1,428,915
-

8,885,209

-

-

8,885,209
-

-

3 months to
1 year
LBP’000

2,710,263

19,390

19,390
-

2,729,653

-

-

2,729,653
-

-

14,991,413

-

-

14,991,413

-

-

1,513,271
13,478,142
-

-

Floating Interest Rate
1 to 3
3 to 5
years
years
LBP’000
LBP’000

62,741,456

-

-

62,741,456

-

-

9,445,676
53,295,780
-

-

5 to 10
years
LBP’000

112,212,602

-

-

112,212,602

-

-

112,212,602
-

-

Over 10
years
LBP’000

( 2,654,089,759)

3,079,889,925

25,011,443
2,905,143,012
149,735,470
-

425,800,166

-

33,419,90 7

10,958,947
212,142,533
169,278,782

-

Total
LBP’000

367,946,568

80,066,288

80,066,288
-

448,012,856

-

440,827,388

1,669,796
21
5,515,672
-

-

Over 3 months
less than 1 year
LBP’000

December 31, 2011

852,245,479

-

-

852,245,479

-

827,355,097

24,890,382
-

-

1 to 3
years
LBP’000

61,220,424

91,720,187

91,720,187
-

152,940,611

22,224,655

122,898,860

7,817,096
-

-

1,704,844,433

-

-

1,704,844,433

-

1,243,231,278

6,344,425
-

455,268,730

Fixed Interest Rate
3 to 5
5 to 10
years
years
LBP’000
LBP’000

69,829,095

-

-

69,829,095

-

-

69,829,095
-

-

Over 10
years
LBP’000

3,056,085,999

171,786,475

80,066,288
91,720,187
-

3,227,872,474

22,224,655

2,634,312,623

1,669,796
21
114,396,670
-

455,268,730

Total
LBP’000

913,812,367

3,349,897,662

25,434,248
2,996,466,992
150,664,963
91,720,187
58,528,426
27,082,846

4,263,710,029

23,216,999
81,431,167
23,068,898
198,924,584
39,458,112

2,680,037,599

1,669,796
10,958,947
241,567,994
169,278,782

794,097,151

Grand
Total
LBP’000

765,399,740

Total Assets

42,990
-

66,503,390
25,361,652

106,236,871

659,162,869

Total Liabilities

Interest rate gap position

( 3,326,007,050)

3,533,854,717

543,074,855

142,967

71,733,732
2,919,003,140

2,181,169
12,047,693

Deposits and borrowings from banks
Customers' accounts at amortized cost
Related parties' accounts at amortized
cost
Borrowings from banks and
Änancial institutions
Other liabilities
Provisions

LIABILITIES

13,013,637

207,847,667

27,275,513

11,984,413

( 28,472,404)
-

45,128,823
62,448,390
23,068,898
175,135,216
17,286,963

-

6,195,677
16,161,769
145,201,071

458,819,441

Up to 3
months
LBP’000

Cash and central banks
Deposits with banks and Änancial
Institutions
Loans to banks
Loans and advances to customer
Loans and advances to related parties
Available -for-sale and Held-to-maturity
investment securities
Investments in associates and other
I nvestments
Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans
Goodwill
Property and equipment
Other assets

ASSETS

Non-interest
bearing
LBP’000

Interest rate gap position in LBP:

(110,515,280)

110,814,061

-

5,395,583

105,418,478

298,781

-

-

298,781
-

-

3 months to
1 year
LBP’000

(145,520)

861,625

-

-

861,625

716,105

-

-

716,105
-

-

6,188,093

-

-

-

-

6,188,093

-

-

6,188,093
-

-

Floating Interest Rate
1 to 3
3 to 5
years
years
LBP’000
LBP’000

( 50,841,137)

91,708,123

91,708,123
-

-

-

40,866,986

-

-

12,567,990
28,298,996
-

-

5 to 10
years
LBP’000

74,284,420

( 3,407,036,474)

3,737,238,526

91,708,123
42,990
-

-

548,470,438

-

71,733,732
3,025,283,243

330,202,052

13,013,637

27,275,513

6,195,677
12,567,990
125,948,164
145,201,071

-

Total
LBP’000

721,243,520

249,466

127,520
-

-

121,946

721,492,986

-

716,561,470

4,931,516
-

-

Over 3 months
less than 1 year
LBP’000

December 31, 2010

-

-

74,284,420

-

-

74,284,420
-

-

Over 10
years
LBP’000

603,299,955

387,025

330,578
-

-

56,447

603,686,980

-

576,954,550

26,732,430
-

-

1 to 3
years
LBP’000

934,260,515

319,010

319,010
-

-

-

934,579,525

-

924,117,568

10,461,957
-

-

1,348,930,719

104,190

104,190
-

-

-

1,349,034,909

1,664,623

1,344,351,480

3,018,806
-

-

Fixed Interest Rate
3 to 5
5 to 10
years
years
LBP’000
LBP’000

16,135,895

-

-

-

-

16,135,895

-

-

16,135,895
-

-

Over 10
years
LBP’000

3,623,870,604

1,059,691

881,298
-

-

178,393

3,624,930,295

1,664,623

3,561,985,068

61,280,604
-

-

Total
LBP’000

875,996,999

3,844,535,088

91,708,123
67,427,678
25,361,652

548,613,405

73,914,901
3,037,509,329

4,720,532,087

45,128,823
62,448,390
23,068,898
175,135,216
31,965,223

3,601,244,994

6,195,677
12,567,990
158,756,364
145,201,071

458,819,441

Grand
Total
LBP’000
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-

-

587,169,452

Total Liabilities

( 2,353,425,930)

8,120,960,400

1,827,537,086
52,889,657
3,051,171
-

3,567,032
2,979,799
143,465,923
14,579,145

1,040,684,198

6,228,581,928

419,209,623

Interest rate gap position

-

8,900,558

5,767,534,470

3,298,629

69,301

1,627,853,650

321,685,213
154,873,538
15,697,792
139,779,397

72,816

67,718,759
52,889,657

504,920,797
2,979,799

82,408,897

68,963,321
9,439,406

73,05 4
46,099,507
3,075,335,065
788,392,854

15,056,453
13,450,030
( 27,054,302)
576

85,309,149

664,027,173

135,203
9,439,406
40,068,082
-

614,384,482

-

-

749,336,322

-

85,783,854
184,987,921
-

-

400,161,820

499,005,759

1,237,946,999

118,461,037

3 months to
1 year
LBP’000

285,594,423

Up to 3
months
LBP’000

Deposits and borrowings from banks
Liabilities designated at fair value
through proÄt or loss
Customers' accounts at
amortized cost
Related parties' accounts at
amortized cost
Liability under acceptances
Other borrowings
CertiÄcates of deposit
Other liabilities
Provisions

LIABILITIES

Total Assets

Cash and central banks
Deposits with banks and Änancial
Institutions
Financial assets at fair value through
proÄt or loss
Loans to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances to related parties
Fair Value through other comprehensive
income and amortized cost
investment securities
Customers' acceptance liability
Investments in associates and other
investments
Assets acquired in satisfaction
of loans
Goodwill
Property and equipment
Other assets

ASSETS

Non-interest
bearing
LBP’000

Interest rate gap position in F/CY:

176,428,272

294,347,024

122,995,132
-

171,351,892

-

-

470,775,296

-

-

-

37,796,799
176,422,272
-

-

256,556,225

983,082,874

219,261,411

122,675,147
-

96,586,264

-

-

1,202,344,285

-

-

-

63,492,190
545,958,672
50,538,621

-

542,354,802

Floating Interest Rate
1 to 3
3 to 5
years
years
LBP’000
LBP’000

-

55,118,845

108,589,612

107,649,819
-

939,793

-

-

163,708,457

2,486,041

6,699,714

6,699,714
-

-

-

-

9,185,755

-

-

-

9,185,755
-

-

-

Over 10
years
LBP’000

-

163,708,457
-

-

-

5 to 10
years
LBP’000

(1,051,000,749)

9,413,885,334

1,827,672,289
62,329,063
403,139,065
-

7,111,844,359

-

8,900,558

8,362,884,585

72,816

-

136,682,080
62,329,063

101,362,04 3
131,883,361
4,155,598,142
838,931,475

1,237,946,999

1,698,078,606

Total
LBP’000

(1,194,815,640)

2,243,437,054

201,265,846
9,117,329
2,364,928
453,448,506
193,085
-

1,424,270,591

-

152,776,769

1,048,621,414

66,033

-

374,309,276
9,117,329

9,209,318
1,071,682
478,956,442
63,396

112,900,409

62,927,529

Over 3 months
less than 1 year
LBP’000

December 31, 2011

211,818,960

688,447,974

18,828,675
-

127,974,172

-

541,645,127

900,266,933

-

-

497,352,985
-

101,994,945
11,234,529
205,426,094
28,953

84,229,427

-

1 to 3
years
LBP’000

817,849,090

-

-

-

-

-

817,849,090

1,344,621

-

607,742,925
-

128,321,415
80,397,708
42,421

-

-

518,175,934

-

-

-

-

-

518,175,934

-

-

435,068,897
-

8,699,042
74,407,995
-

-

-

Fixed Interest Rate
3 to 5
5 to 10
years
years
LBP’000
LBP’000

232,875,408

3,155,057

-

-

3,155,057

-

236,030,465

-

-

182,410,648
-

50,885,222
2,734,595

-

-

Over 10
years
LBP’000

585,903,751

2,935,040,085

220,094,521
9,117,329
2,364,928
453,448,506
193,085
-

1,552,244,763

3,155,057

694,421,896

3,520,943,836

1,410,654

-

2,096,884,731
9,117,329

248,224,720
12,306,211
890,073,461
2,869,365

197,129,836

62,927,529

Total
LBP’000

575,587,20 0

12,936,094,871

2,051,333,842
74,426,191
405,503,99 3
453,448,506
143,659,008
14,579,145

9,083,298,745

6,453,686

703,391,755

13,511,682,071

321,685,213
154,873,538
15,69 7,792
141,262,867

82,408,897

2,738,487,608
74,426,191

364,643,216
157,639,602
5,018,617,301
841,801,416

1,553,537,872

2,046,600,558

Grand
Total
LBP’000

565,720,628

2,148,823
4,923,602,406

3,051,540
6,905,534,811

165,296,466
11,651,175
673,559,189

744,672,783

Interest rate gap position

(1,981,932,405)

181,850,079

9,596,198
383,870,549

516,662
11,259,355

-

-

562,362,597
106,212,402

362,498,334

462,122
6,153,399,621

-

12,591,786
476,739,125

-

39,700,064
11,259,355

89,607,676
106,212,402

80,046,529

31,239,447
332,699,938
-

93,571
53,934,368
2,415,494,324
738,933,455

4,190,666
3,089,971

-

-

150,821,824

3 months to
1 year
LBP’000

1,488,376,683

28,801,104

Up to 3
months
LBP’000

Deposits and borrowings from banks
Liabilities designated at fair value
through proÄt or loss
Customers' accounts at amortized cost
Related parties' accounts at fair value
through proÄt or loss
Related parties' accounts
at amortized cost
Liability under acceptances
Borrowings from banks
and Änancial institutions
CertiÄcates of deposit
Other liabilities
Provisions
Total Liabilities

LIABILITIES

Cash and central banks
256,375,790
Deposits with banks and Änancial
institutions
81,504,814
Financial assets at fair value through
proÄt or loss
884,949
Loans to banks
Loans and advances to customers
(48,849,656)
Loans and advances to related parties
12,528,236
Available -for-sale and Held-to-maturity
investment securities
643,880,800
Customers' acceptance liability
3,089,971
Investments in associates and other
investments
51,469,602
Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans
81,628,550
Goodwill
154,913,526
Property and equipment
21,275,329
Other assets
159,530,061
Total Assets
1,418,231,972

ASSETS

Non-interest
bearing
LBP’000

Interest rate gap position in F/CY:

860,481,520

43,794,164
49,458,124

131,437,413
477,762,426
432,238,335

-

-

5,663,960

-

909,939,644

-

380,693,565
62,330,454

-

466,915,625

24,621,202
138,909

-

321,564,902

-

910,000,761

6,478,013
138,909

28,197,498
165,910,834
-

-

709,275,507

Floating Interest Rate
1 to 3
3 to 5
years
years
LBP’000
LBP’000

56,895,413

99,978,695
104,203,765

-

-

4,225,070

-

161,099,178

5,577,750
-

155,521,428
-

-

-

5 to 10
years
LBP’000

( 26,143,664)

52,065,995
52,065,995

-

-

-

-

25,922,331

-

25,922,331
-

-

-

Over 10
years
LBP’000

(476,610,722)

339,924,005
7,972,895,670

587,500,461
117,610,666

-

462,122
6,847,351,887

80,046,529

2,148,823
7,496,284,948

141,363,503
117,610,666

93,571
113,371,313
3,476,242,420
801,263,909

1,488,376,683

1,355,814,060

Total
LBP’000

( 734,023,988)

185,079
824,619
1,374,000,924

98,365,265
16,773,390

-

34,606,136
1,175,814,512

47,431,923

11,306
639,976,936

52,778,613
16,773,390

35,977,412
77,654,408
366,298,964
771

76,913,392

13,568,680

Over 3 months
less than 1 year
LBP’000

December 31, 2010

(750,191,980)

4,643,418
453,020,994
1,331,438,990

234,242,888
-

-

214,303,939

425,227,751

213,488
581,247,010

377,980,446
-

203,053,076
-

-

-

1 to 3
years
LBP’000

854,332,089

-

-

-

-

-

854,332,089

653,717,936
-

94,953,263
-

30,283,372

75,377,518

629,282,907

-

-

-

-

-

3,021,948
629,282,907

563,116,223
-

63,144,736
-

-

-

Fixed Interest Rate
3 to 5
5 to 10
years
years
LBP’000
LBP’000

520,801,601

2,950,037

-

2,950,037

-

-

523,751,638

487,566,135
-

33,494,000
2,691,503

-

-

Over 10
years
LBP’000

520,200,629

4,643,418
453,020,994
185,079
824,619
2,708,389,951

332,608,153
16,773,390

2,950,037

34,606,136
1,390,118,451

472,659,674

3,246,742
3,228,590,580

2,135,159,353
16,773,390

35,977,412
77,654,408
760,944,039
2,692,274

107,196,764

88,946,198

Total
LBP’000

788,262,690

344,567,423
453,020,994
165,481,545
12,475,794
11,354,844,810

924,299,280
137,474,027

2,950,037

47,660,044
8,714,209,463

552,706,203

51,469,602
81,628,550
154,913,526
21,275,329
164,925,626
12,143,107,500

2,920,403,656
137,474,027

36,955,932
191,025,721
4,188,336,803
816,484,419

1,677,078,261

1,701,136,048

Grand
Total
LBP’000

The effect of a 50 basis point change in interest rates upwards on the earnings of the Group for the subsequent fiscal year
for the statement of financial position structure and exposure would be a decrease of LBP29.7billion for the year 2011,
a downwards movement will have an inverse effect.
The effect of a change in interest rate by 50 basis points on fair values of financial assets and liabilities stated at fair value as
at December 31, 2011 would be in the range of LBP4.47billion and LBP69.19million, respectively summarized as follows:

Change in
Fair Value
LBP’000
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Customers’ deposits at fair value through profit or loss

4,469,346
69,192
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48. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
AND LIABILITIES
The summary of the Group’s classification of each class of financial assets and liabilities covered by IFRS 9 (effective
January 1, 2011) and IAS 39 (prior to January 1, 2011), and their fair values are as follows:

At fair
value through
proðt or loss
LBP'000

At fair
through other
comprehensive
income
LBP'000

December 31, 2011
Measured at
amortized
cost
LBP'000

Total
carrying
value
LBP'000

Total
fair value
LBP'000

ASSETS
Cash and central banks

-

-

2,840,697,709

2,840,697,709

2,864,678,718

Deposits with banks and Änancial institutions

-

-

1,555,207,668

1,555,207,668

1,557,446,911

364,643,216

-

-

364,643,216

364,643,216

Loans to banks

-

-

168,598,549

168,598,549

168,598,312

Loans and advances to customers

-

-

5,260,185,295

5,260,185,295

5,252,358,924

Loans and advances to related parties

-

-

1,011,080,198

1,011,080,198

1,011,080,198

other comprehensive income

-

550,786,815

-

550,786,815

550,786,815

Financial assets at amortized cost

-

-

4,867,738,392

4,867,738,392

5,124,822,103

Customers’ acceptance liability

-

-

74,426,191

74,426,191

74,426,191

Financial assets at fair value through
proÄt or loss

Financial assets at fair value through

Other assets

100,373,830

111,296,793

111,296,794

15,878,307,832

16,804,660,826

17,080,138,182

-

728,826,003

728,826,003

730,544,208

6,453,686

-

-

6,453,686

6,453,686

Customers' deposits at amortized cost

-

-

12,079,765,737

12,079,765,737

12,111,054,945

Related parties' accounts at amortized cost

-

-

2,201,998,805

2,201,998,805

2,202,063,010

Acceptances payable

-

-

74,426,191

74,426,191

74,426,191

Total

10,922,963

-

375,566,179

550,786,815

-

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Deposits from banks and Änancial institutions
Customers' deposits designated at fair
value through proÄt or loss

Borrowings from banks and
Änancial institutions

-

-

497,224,180

497,224,180

497,224,180

CertiÄcates of deposit

-

-

453,448,506

453,448,506

453,448,506

Other liabilities

2,059,758

-

87,424,186

89,483,944

89,483,944

Total

8,513,444

-

5,253,113,608

16,131,627,052

16,164,698,670
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47,660,044
2,950,037
13,517,648

-

Total

64,127,729

-

35,652,375
1,796,666
37,449,041

1,303,557
1,303,557

-

-

-

Deposits from banks and Änancial institutions
Customers' deposits at fair value through
proÄt or loss
Customers' deposits at amortized cost
Related parties' deposits at fair value through
proÄt or loss
Related parties' deposits at amortized cost
Acceptances payable
Borrowings from banks and Änancial institutions
CertiÄcates of deposit
Other liabilities

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Cash and central banks
Deposits with banks and Änancial institutions
Financial assets designated at fair value through
proÄt or loss
Loans to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances to related parties
Available for sale investment securities
Held-to-maturity investment securities
Customers’ acceptance liability
Other assets
Total

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Trading
assets
LBP’000

At fair value
through proðt
or loss
LBP’000

-

-

-

-

5,786,379,128
5,786,379,128

-

Availablefor-sale
LBP’000

-

-

-

-

735,269,522
735,269,522

-

Held-tomaturity
LBP’000

-

Loans and
receivables
LBP’000

-

-

-

-

203,593,711
4,347,093,167
961,685,490
126,707,271
5,639,079,639

December 31, 2010

14,878,023,148

1,472,912,685
137,474,027
436,275,546
453,020,994
-

11,751,718,792

626,621,104

137,474,027
3,980,703,454

2,159,955,489
1,683,273,938

Other at
amortized cost
LBP’000

14,942,150,877

2,950,037
1,472,912,685
137,474,027
436,275,546
453,020,994
13,517,648

47,660,044
11,751,718,792

626,621,104

36,955,932
203,593,711
4,347,093,167
961,685,490
5,786,379,128
735,269,522
137,474,027
128,503,937
16,180,184,341

2,159,955,489
1,683,273,938

Total carrying
value
LBP’000

14,979,402,959

2,950,037
1,473,065,670
137,474,027
436,275,546
462,201,669
13,517,648

47,660,044
11,775,591,067

630,667,251

36,955,932
203,593,711
4,327,143,827
961,685,490
5,786,379,128
825,400,330
137,474,027
128,503,937
16,256,477,636

2,159,955,489
1,689,385,765

Total fair
value
LBP’000

a)

Deposits with Central Bank and financial institutions:

The fair value of current deposits (including non-interest earning compulsory deposits with Central Banks), and overnight
deposits is their carrying amount. The estimated fair value of fixed interest earning deposits with maturities or interest reset
dates beyond one year from the balance sheet date is based on the discounted cash flows using prevailing money-market
interest rates for debts with similar credit risk and remaining maturity.
b)

Loans and advances to customers and to banks:

The estimated fair value of loans and advances to customers is based on the discounted amount of expected future cash
flows determined at current market rates.
c)

Securities:

The fair value of Lebanese Government bonds and certificates of deposits was calculated using a valuation model which
takes into account observable market data using a discounted cash flow model based on current interest yield curve
appropriate for the remaining term to maturity and credit spreads.
d)

Deposits and borrowings from banks and customers’ deposits:

The fair value of deposits with current maturity or no stated maturity is their carrying amount. The estimated fair value on
other deposits is based on the discounted cash flows using interest rates for new deposits with similar remaining maturity.
e)

Other borrowings and certificates of deposit:

The estimated fair value of other borrowings and certificates of deposits is the discounted cash flow based on a current yield
curve appropriate for the remaining period to maturity.
f)

Fair value hierarchy:

The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments at fair value by level of the fair value hierarchy:

Level 1
(Quoted Price on
Active Market)
LBP’000

December 31, 2011
Level 2
(Valuation
Technique)
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
Debt Securities issued by banks
Debt Securities issued by companies
Credit linked notes issued by banks
Other foreign government bonds
Quoted equity securities
Unquoted equity securities

Financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income
Quoted equity securities
Unquoted equity securities
Convertible preferred shares issued by a Lebanese bank
Non-cumulative preferred shares
issued by a Lebanese bank

191,226,375
79,678,573
57,471,930
16,405,079
799,454
345,581,411

14,256,999
14,256,999

191,226,375
79,678,573
57,471,930
16,405,079
799,454
14,256,999
359,838,410

496,500,656
-

20,725,215
3,855,657

496,500,656
20,725,215
3,855,657

496,500,656
842,082,067

29,705,287
54,286,159
68,543,158

29,705,287
550,786,815
910,625,225

-

6,298,290
6,298,290

6,298,290
6,298,290

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Customers’ deposit at fair value through profit or loss

Level 1
(Quoted Price on
Active Market)
LBP’000

December 31, 2010
Level 2
(Valuation
Technique)
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
Lebanese Government bonds
Turkish Government bonds
Quoted equity securities

Available-for-sale investment securities:
Quoted equity securities
Unquoted equity securities
Cumulative Preferred shares issued by
a Lebanese bank
Convertible preferred shares issued by
a Lebanese bank
Non-cumulative preferred shares issued
by a Lebanese bank
Lebanese government bonds
Certificates of deposit issued by the
Central Bank of Lebanon
Certificates of deposit issued by Banks
Corporate debt securities
Other foreign government bonds

35,349,368
418,608
884,949
36,652,925

-

35,349,368
418,608
884,949
36,652,925

619,758,964
-

36,106,478

619,758,964
36,106,478

-

6,030,000

6,030,000

-

3,780,056

3,780,056

553,294,860

33,291,178
1,301,466,729

33,291,178
1,854,761,589

279,102,492
232,995,819
1,685,152,135
1,721,805,060

2,626,283,645
15,075,000
4,022,033,086
4,022,033,086

2,626,283,645
15,075,000
279,102,492
232,995,819
5,707,185,221
5,743,838,146

-

47,575,176

47,575,176

-

2,794,641
50,369,817

2,794,641
50,369,817

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Customers’ deposit at fair value
through profit or loss
Related parties’ deposits at fair value
through profit or loss

49. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2011 were approved by the Board of Directors in its meeting
held on March 22, 2012.
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Facts
Length:
45 km
Basin:
484 km²
Average flow:
6.58 m³/s
Average Annual Volume:
206.57 mm³

NAHR ABOU ALI
Nahr Abou Ali is a river originating mainly from the Qadisha Grotto in the Cedar
mountains at an altitude of 1,650 m. In its upper part and prior to reaching Tripoli,
north Lebanon, where it flows into the Mediterranean Sea, Abou Ali river is known
as the Qadisha river. It provides Tripoli with its potable water needs mainly through
the Rachaine spring, one of Abou Ali’s main tributaries.
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MAIN BRANCH
Clemenceau Branch
BankMed Center, 482 Clemenceau Street,
Tel & Fax: 01-373937
Branch Manager: Mr. Sobhi Hammoud

REGION I
Regional Manager: Mr. Najib Abou Merhi
Beirut Souks Branch
Beirut Souks, Weygand Street, Ibn Iraq square, Jewelry Souk
Tel. & Fax: 01-992062/3/4
Branch Manager: Mrs. Nahed Malki
Fosh Branch
Fosh Street, Beirut Central District
Tel. & Fax: 01-976444, 03-922296
Branch Manager: Mrs. Nahed Malki
Hamra Branch
Al Nahar Bldg, Banque Du Liban Str.
Tel & Fax: 01-344677, 01-353146/7/8, 03-760007
Branch Manager: Ms. Mona Diab
Justinian Branch
Justinian Center, Justinian Str., Sanayeh
Tel: 01-354866, 03-094718, Fax: 01-354474
Branch Manager: Mr. Maher Ladki
Koraytem Branch
Reda Mroue Bldg., Mme Curie Str.
Tel & Fax: 01-780780, 01-803160/1/2, 03-760064
Branch Manager: Mrs. Nada Kambriss
Makdessi Branch
Diab Bldg., Makdessi Str., Ras Beirut
Tel & Fax.: 01-346934, 01-344395, 01-348167, 03-288357
Branch Manager: Mrs. Ghada Shoujah
Movenpick Branch
Movenpick Hotel, Rawche
Tel & Fax: 01-799880/1
Officer in Charge: Ms. Zeinab Itani
Phoenicia Branch
Phoenix Tower, Ain El Mreisseh
Tel & Fax: 01-369069/70, 03-762728
Branch Manager: Mr. Kamal Tannir
Raouche Branch
Salah Shamma Bldg., Shouran Str.
Tel & Fax: 01-862696, 01-808610/1, 03-760002
Acting Branch Manager: Mrs. Zeina Itani

REGION II
Regional Manager: Mr. Raed Jalloul
Airport Branch
MEA premises
Tel & Fax: 01-629360/1/2/3, 03-760026
Acting Branch Manager: Mr. Mohamad Khalil
Aley Branch
Main Road, Anwar David Labib Shehayeb Bldg,
Tel. & Fax: 05-558111, 05-555805
Branch Manager: Mr. Anis Younis
Bakaata Branch
Jdeidet El-Shouf, Bakaata District, Fatayri Bldg
Tel & Fax: 05-501888, 05-501861/2/3
Branch Manager: Mr. Wajdi AbdulSamad
Barbir Branch
Chehab Bldg., Intersection of Jamal AbdulNaser Mosque, Corniche Mazraa
Tel & Fax: 01-653120/1, 01-645115/6 ,03-094805
Branch Manager: Mrs. Maha Jaafar
Bliss Branch
Ras Beirut – Bliss Street
Tel & Fax: 01-364716, 01-364719, 01-364721, 01-377334
Acting Branch Manager: Mr. Samer Sabeh
Chiah Branch
Hadi Nasrallah Blvd, Ismail Bldg. Chiah
Tel. & Fax: 01-551999, 01-552999, 01-554999, 03-794945
Branch Manager: Mr. Samer Haidar
Jnah Branch
Jnah, Nkoula Sorsok Street , Karly Bldg.
Tel & Fax: 01-853444/5/6, 03-760020
Branch Manger: Mr. Souheil Droubi
Khalde Branch
Salem Center, Main Road
Tel & Fax: 05-800703/4/5, 03-760004
Branch Manager: Mrs. Nada Abou Fakher
Mazraa Branch
Etoile 2000 Center, Corniche El Mazraa
Tel & Fax: 01-818166/7/8, 03-760017
Branch Manager: Mrs. Reem Zahabi
Msaitbe Branch
Al Hana Bldg., Mar Elias Str.
Tel & Fax: 01-819202/3, 01-314655, 03-760011
Branch Manager: Mrs. Dania Idriss
“Rafic Hariri International Airport” Branch
“Rafic Hariri International Airport” – Beirut
Tel & Fax: 01-628828,
01-628928, 71-171151
Tarik Jdeede Branch
Malaab Baladi Square
Tel & Fax: 01-303444, 01-304861/3, 03-035251
Branch Manager: Mr. Jamal Sakakini
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Verdun Branch
Al Shuaa Bldg., Rashid Karame Ave.
Tel & Fax: 01- 866925/6/7, 03-760063
Branch Manager: Mrs. Nada Jisr
Zarif Branch
Kaaki Center, Al - Jazaer Street, Zarif Area, Beirut
Tel & Fax: 01-361802 /7/9/12
Branch Manager: Mr. Mohamad Tabsh

REGION III
Regional Manager: Mr. Antoine Zeidan
Ashrafieh Branch
Hadife Bldg., Charles Malek Ave.
Tel & Fax: 01-200135/6/7/8/9/40, 03-760001
Branch Manager: Mr. Georges Hallak
Broumana Branch
Rizk Plaza
Tel & Fax: 04-860995/6/7/8/9, 03-760023
Branch Manager: Mrs. Liliane Abou Khalil
Burj Hammoud Branch
Gold & Jewelry Trade Center
Tel & Fax: 01-244000, 01-242608/9, 03-760065
Branch Manager: Mr. Assad Khouri
Dora Branch
Al Massaref Bldg, Dora Highway
Tel & Fax: 01-257958/60/61, 03-095098
Branch Manager: Mr. Kalim Ghazi
Furn El Chebbak
Atallah Freij Bldg, Damascus Road
Tel & Fax: 01-291618/9/21, 01-292076, 03-760009
Branch Manager: Mr. Joseph Edde
Hazmieh Branch
Tufenkjian Center, Brazilia Str.
Tel & Fax: 05-450186/7; 05- 450182, 03-652402
Branch Manager: Mr. Robert Prince
Mkalles Branch
Al Shams Bldg., Main Road
Tel & Fax: 01-684051/2, 03-760008
Branch Manager: Mr. Ghassan Akl
Mansourieh Branch
Latifa Center, New Highway, Mansourieh Main Road
Tel & Fax: 04-534174/5
Branch Manager: Mrs. Rola Haddad
Sodeco Branch
Sodeco Square
Tel & Fax: 01-611444, 01-397762, 01-397801, 01-397855, 03-760027
Branch Manager: Mrs. Rana Mehio

REGION IV
Jdeideh Branch
Zainoun & Saad Bldg, Nahr El Maout
Tel & Fax: 01-892055/9, 03-760006
Branch Manager: Mr. Elias Saab
Kaslik Branch
Dibs Center, Kaslik
Tel & Fax: 09-639472/4, 09-640599, 03-241898
Acting Branch Manager: Mrs. Therese Servidio
Zalka Branch
Breezvale Center, Main Road
Tel & Fax: 01-884570/1/2, 03-760021
Branch Manager: Mr. Edgard AbdulSater
Zouk Mkayel Branch
Abi Chaker Bldg, Zouk Main Road
Tel & Fax: 09-211116, 09-211124, 03-760003
Branch Manager: Mr. Challita Salemeh
Zouk Mosbeh Branch
Zouk Mosbeh - Al Masayef Main Road El Centro Bldg. - Ground Floor.
Tel & Fax: 09-219632, 09-218631/2/ 4
Branch Manager: Mr. Elias Bou Saba

REGION V
Amioun Branch
Shammas Bldg., Cedars Str.
Tel & Fax: 06-950988, 06- 950957, 03-099122
Branch Manager: Mrs. Rabab Fadel
Al Mina Branch
Al Bawaba Street, Al – Shiraa Square, Jabado Bldg, Tripoli
Tel & Fax: 06-226700/1/2/3/4/5
Branch Manager: Mr. Mohamad Saleh
Chekka Branch
Mikhael Karam Bldg., Main Road
Tel & Fax: 06-545121, 06-545081, 03-760010
Officer in Charge: Mrs. Micheline Antari
Halba Branch
Main Road, Abdallah Bldg, Halba
Tel & Fax: 06-694870/1/2/3/4/5/6/7
Branch Manager: Mr. Samer Haddara
Jbeil Branch
Cordahi & Matta Center, Jbeil
Tel & Fax: 09-540195, 03-760014
Branch Manager: Mr. Antoine Eid
Minieh Branch
International Highway, Zreika Bldg, Minieh
Tel & Fax: 06-464904, 06-464350
Branch Manager: Mr. Bashar Kaja
Tripoli Branch
Al Hana Bldg, Jemmayzat Str.
Tel & Fax: 06-440443/7, 03-760013
Branch Manager: Mr. Mostapha Merehbi
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Tripoli - Maarad Branch
Sara Center , Al-Maarad Street,
Tel & Fax: 06-629435, 06-629169, 03-094875
Branch Manager: Mr. Samer Raad

REGION VI
Regional Manager: Mr. Mazen Sammak
Nabatieh Branch
Main Road, Al Bayad quarter, Daher Center
Tel. & Fax: 07-767936/7/8/9
Branch Manager: Mr. Walid Saad
Saida Branch
Riad Chehab Bldg., Riad Solh Str.
Tel & Fax: 07-721788, 07-723381, 07-735119/21, 03-760012
Branch Manager: Mrs. Zahera Shamseddine
Saida Eastern Boulevard Branch
Al Misbah Bldg., Jizzine Street, Saida
Tel. & Fax: 07-725212 , 07-724892, 07-728744, 03- 094868
Branch Manager: Mrs. Sabah Teriaki
Shehim Branch
Toufic Owaidat Bldg., Shreifeh District, Shehim
Tel. & Fax: 07-241005/6/7, 03-094873
Branch Manager: Mr. Imad AbdulRehim
Sineek Branch
Boulevard Maarouf Saad, BankMed Bldg,
Tel & Fax: 07-728451/2/7,
Branch Manager: Mrs. Sahar Bizri
Tyr Branch
Saab & Fardoun Bldg, Central Bank Street
Tel & Fax: 07-351251 – 351151, 03-332243
Branch Manager: Mr. Jihad Bazzi
Wastani Branch
Al Wastani roundabout, Dr. Nazih Bizri Blvd., BankMed Bldg,
Tel. & Fax: 07-750361/2/4, 07-723635, 70-867789
Acting Branch Manager: Mr. AbdulHamid Awwad

REGION VII
Regional Manager: Mr. Ahmad Hammoud
Chtaura Branch
Al Jinan Bldg, Main Road
Tel & Fax: 08-542491, 03-760019
Acting Branch Manager: Mr. Mohamad Jarrah
Zahle Branch
Rashid Salim Khoury Bldg, Hoshe Zaraina Blvd
Tel & Fax: 08-802487, 08-805777, 03-760015
Branch Manager: Mrs. Samia Ghorra
Jib Jinnine Branch
Al Hana Bldg, West Bekaa
Tel & Fax: 08-661503/4/5/6, 03-760025
Branch Manager: Mr. Mohamad Smeily

CYPRUS
Limassol (IBU)
9 Constantinou Paparigopoulou Str, Frema House, CY-3106 Limassol, Cyprus.
P.O.Box 54232, CY- 3722 Limassol, Cyprus.
Tel. +357-25817152 / 3-25817157 / 8-25817178 / 9 Fax. +357-25372711
Branch Manager: Georges Abi Chamoun

LIST OF CORRESPONDENTS
COUNTRY

CORRESPONDENT BANK

AUSTRALIA
AUSTRIA
BAHRAIN
BELGIUM

Arab Bank Australia *
Unicredit Bank Austria
Arab Banking Corporation
Fortis Bank *
ING Bank *
Bank of Montreal *
JPMorgan Chase Bank*
Bank of China
Standard Chartered Bank *
Bank of Cyprus *
Marfin Popular Bank *
Danske Bank *
Arab Bank
BNP Paribas *
Natixis *
Commerzbank *
Deutsche Bank *
Unicredit Bank
Banca Nazionale del Lavoro
Intesa SanPaolo *
UniCredit
The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ *
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation
Arab Bank *
The Housing Bank for Trade & Finance *
Gulf Bank *
National Bank of Kuwait
DnB NOR Bank *
BankMuscat
Qatar National Bank *
Banque Saudi Fransi *
Riyad Bank *
Saudi Hollandi Bank *
The National Commercial Bank *
The Saudi Investment Bank *
The Standard Bank of South Africa *
Banco de Sabadell *
CaixaBank
People’s Bank *
Standard Chartered Bank*
Nordea Bank
Svenska Handelsbanken*
BankMed (Suisse) *
Credit Suisse *
UBS *
Turkland Bank *
MashreqBank *
Standard Bank
HSBC Bank *
Wells Fargo Bank*
Bank of New York Mellon*
Citibank *
HSBC Bank USA *
JPMorgan Chase Bank *
Standard Chartered Bank *
Wells Fargo Bank*

CANADA
CHINA
CYPRUS
DENMARK
EGYPT
FRANCE
GERMANY

ITALY

JAPAN
JORDAN
KUWAIT
NORWAY
OMAN
QATAR
SAUDI ARABIA

SOUTH AFRICA
SPAIN
SRI LANKA
SWEDEN
SWITZERLAND

TURKEY
UNITED ARAB EMIRATES
UNITED KINGDOM
UNITED STATES

* BankMed maintains NOSTRO account(s) with those Banks.
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